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CORPORATE PROFILE
i RBR

Bay Area Gold Group Limited (&&= & £ BB A F]) (formerly
known as Munsun Capital Group Limited (XEEAREEA
fR72\])) (the “Company”) was incorporated on 14 January
2004 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. On 12 December 2017,
the Company has been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability under the laws of Bermuda.

The shares (the ”Shares”) of the Company have been listed on
the main board (the “Main Board"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 12 October
2004 (Stock code: 1194).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in mining and processing of gold ores
and sale of gold products in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"), trading of metals and minerals in the PRC, and
provision of financial services business in Hong Kong and
the PRC, including asset management, securities brokerage,
financing and advisory services.

The Group is a non state-owned Chinese gold mining company
in the PRC with a particular focus on the central and western
regions of the PRC. The Group currently owns five operating
gold mines located in the central, western and northern regions
of the PRC, namely Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine in Henan
Province, Mojiang Mine and Hengyi Mine in Yunnan Province,
and Yongfeng Mine in Inner Mongolia, with total gold resources
of approximately 7.1 million ounces. The Group produced 65
Koz and 62 Koz of gold for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 respectively.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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JINXING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Jinxing Mine is currently our largest mine in terms of total
gold resources and 2018 production. Jinxing Mine is located
in Luanchuan County, Henan Province. It is approximately
6 km from the regional town of Baitu and approximately
110 km southwest of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is an
underground mine and consists of two areas, namely Jinxing
area and Xiepojing area. It has Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves
("JORC code”) and its equivalent gold resources of 74.9 tonnes
(2,406 Koz) with average grade of 4.6g/t.

Jinxing Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the
Xinhuaxia Taihang uplift zone. Jinxing Mine is a polymetallic
mine. The majority of the mineralisation is contained within
fresh rock due to the limited weathering profile in the region.
Two categories of mineralisation are identified, namely pyrite
bearing that contains silver, lead and copper in addition to the
gold mineralisation, and lead/gold bearing that is composed of
lead and gold mineralisation with minor silver. Mineralisation
occurs within quartz veins which are located within fracture
zones to form stock work style deposits. Ten vein groups have
been identified within the mining area.

LUANLING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan Province.
It is approximately 40 km from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
license with an area of 9 km?. Luanling Mine has JORC code
gold resources of 60.1 tonnes (1,933 Koz) with average grade
of 3.2g/t.

Luanling Mine consists of two mining areas with mineralisation
of different characteristics, namely the Northern mining area
and the Southern mining area. Aggregate mining area of
approximately 9km? is under the mining license.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
i RBR

Luanling Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the Xinhuaxia
Taihang uplift zone. There are mineralised zones are defined
in two mining areas. The major gold zones include nine veins.
The mineralised material is dominated by pyrite, secondarily
marcasite, with small amount of galena and altaite (lead
minerals). The major gangue minerals include quartz, albite,
sericite and chlorite. The gold minerals include electrum, with a
little calaverite and petzite.

MOJIANG GOLD MINE IN YUNNAN

Mojiang Mine is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province, approximately 300 km southwest of the provincial
capital-Kunming of Yunnan Province. Mojiang Mine is located
in the famous Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic
Fold System implying favourable geology attributes. It has JORC
code gold resources of 14.1 tonnes (458 Koz) with average
grade of 1.4g/t.

Mojiang Mine holds one mining license covering an area of
approximately 7.2 km?.

Apart from gold deposit, there is also rich deposit of nickel
metal in Mojiang Mine. The nickel ore bodies occur parallel to
the gold ore bodies and belong to a typical hydrothermal type
that are mainly sulfides.

HENGYI GOLD MINE IN YUNNAN

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province.
It is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. Hengyi
Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt and the
Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold System.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.3 tonnes (1,650 Koz)
with average grade of 2.7g/t.

Hengyi Mine consists of two mining areas, namely Bianfushan
mining area and Shangzhai mining area. Total area under the
mining licences is approximately 9.1 km?2. It also holds four
exploration licences in adjacent areas with aggregate area of
approximately 36.7 km2.
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YONGFENG GOLD MINE IN INNER MONGOLIA

The Yongfeng Mine is located in Honghuagou, Inner Mongolia.
It currently holds mining licenses covering a total mining
area of 1.9 km?2. The mine is an underground mine located in
Honghuagou mineralisation belt of Inner Mongolia that has
relatively high gold grade. It has gold resources of 16.1 tonnes
(519 Koz) with average grade of 9.5g/t.

Seven mineralized veins were identified in Yongfeng Mine. The
mineralised veins have similar characteristics with an average
width between 1 and 1.5 metres and occur as gold bearing
quartz veins.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETERES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
our shareholders.

During the year under review, gold market demonstrated
an obvious rebound. Gold prices saw robust growth of
approximately 18% in 2019 as helped by rising global debt,
geopolitical turmoil and the low interest rate world-wide.
Investors’ appetite for gold was apparent throughout the year
as seen by tremendous gold-backed Exchange Traded Funds
inflows and huge central banks buying. Equity market volatility
and the resulting investors’ fear restored gold’s safe-haven
appeal.

During 2019, the Group continued with its efforts on
exploration, organic expansion as well as cost control in a
safe and an environmentally friendly manner. The total gold
production of the Group increased by 5% in 2019 as compared
to that last year. With the stricter environmental regulations and
controls in China, we remain dedicated to the philosophy of
operating in a safe and environmentally friendly manner.

During the year under review, the Group has operated three
investment funds under its management in the PRC. The
Company had executed the sales and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to dispose a part of our financial
services business segment. As at the date of this Statement, the
said disposal has not completed. Yet, our strategy in 2020 is to
focus the Group's resources in gold mining business segment as
our principal business.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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From the perspective of the global market, geopolitical
uncertainties brought by the prolonged China-U.S. trade
frictions and on-going unrest in the Middle East will be
manifesting. The wide-spread of the deadly coronavirus via
China could significantly reduce China’s ability to purchase the
trade deal struck with the U.S. under the agreement signed
earlier. In the meantime, the outbreak of the coronavirus and its
possible negative impact on global supply chains will also sharply
impose risks on the global economic growth and development.
Further, it is expected that Fed policy stance of the interest rate
cut will continue in light of the blow to economic activity from
the coronavirus pandemic. As such, we would expect gold will
maintain its high relevance as a safe-haven assets throughout
2020.

The Group will continue to enhance the mining production
process and improve the technology to achieve the cost
efficiency. We recognize that strengthening of risk and liability
management as well as the improvement of the cost control are
essential to the Group's continued growth in a world of fast-
changing threats and opportunities.

2019 was a challenging year and | would like to use this
opportunity to give my heartfelt thanks to my fellow board
members for their guidance and wisdom, to my management
team for their dedication and diligence and to our stakeholders
for their continued support throughout the year.

Mr. Yi Shuhao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MEREE
KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT FTENBRE
FY 2019 FY 2018
Financial Data Summary —E-h —ZF—/)U Movement %
S EERE MBFEE HREE #1 %
Gold production output =oEE (THA)
(thousand ounces) 65 62 5%
Revenue (HK$' 000) W (F%7T) 1,040,044 813,901 28%
Gross profit (HK$' 000) EN (FETT) 171,343 226,132 -24%
Net loss (HK$' 000) FEE (FHT) (631,332) (466,335) 35%
Total assets (HK$' 000) WwEE(T4HT) 12,156,016 12,683,081 -4%
Total debts* (HK$’ 000) wEmE> (FA7T) 3,513,680 3,579,137 2%
Cash and bank balances* e LRI TR RR >
(HK$' 000) (F%7T) 174,759 183,490 -5%
Net debts* (HK$' 000) SFEIE* (FAT) 3,338,921 3,395,647 2%
Total equity (HK$’ 000) HrEms (T8 7,031,284 7,724,828 9%
*Notes: *PEE
—  Total debts are bank and other borrowings and convertible - BEBEARTREMERRITHRRE
bonds. # o

—  Cash and bank balances include cash and bank balances and — RENIBTEHGBEIEIR S RIBITEHI
pledged deposits. REHEPER -

—  Net debts are total debts less cash and bank balances and —  FEBEALEERIES LIBITEBIAN
pledged deposits. [REEHVER

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GOLD MARKET OUTLOOK

The annual gold demand in 2019 dropped slightly by 1% to
4,355.7 tonnes according to the research of the World Gold
Council as the sharp rise in gold-backed Exchange Traded Funds
("ETF") inflows were almost set off by the huge fall in bar and
coin demand in 2019. It saw a general growth in gold demand
in the first half of 2019 whilst a widespread year-to-year falls in
the second half of the year.

Tremendous inflows into ETF took place over the year as
driven by the low interest rates and geopolitical uncertainty.
Annual Inflows into ETF increased by 401.1 tonnes with heavy
concentration in the third quarter as the gold price surged.
The growth trend in ETF inflows declined to 26.8 tonnes in the
fourth quarter. Sharp rise in gold price and a slow down in the
economic growth in the second half of 2019 pushed down the
global consumer demand in bar and coin particularly in two
gold consuming giants, China and India. Central banks buying
continued over the year and recorded 650.3 tonnes in 2019
representing 1% lower than 2018. Central banks demand
slowed down by 38% in the second half year in contrast with
the first half year's 65% increase. Gold used in technology
sector slightly declined 2% to 326.6 tonnes in 2019. Driving by
5 G installations and development, technology demand showed
a sign of recovery in the fourth quarter.

The full year gold supply rose slightly by 2% to 4,776.1 tonnes.
The growth mainly concentrated in gold recycling with 11%
surge in response to gold price rally began in June 2019 whilst
mine production decreased 1% to 3,436.7 tonnes.With mine
production expected to be stable in 2020, the supply will remain
constrained.

The gold price jumped in the second half of 2019 as fuelled by
escalating geopolitical uncertainties including the rising tensions
in the Middle East linked to the U.S.-Iran confrontation, the
U.S.-China trade conflicts combined with the lower interest
rates. The gold price averaged US$1,481 per oz in the fourth
quarter. The gold price increased by about 18% in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Looking forward to 2020, it is expected that looming
geopolitical uncertainties in the Middle East and U.S.-China
trade tensions would continue combined with the low interest
rates. The global economic growth would become softer
following the wide-spread world-wide coronavirus starting in
January 2020. All these would draw investors, including central
banks, to add more gold as a safe-haven to diversify their risk in
the portfolio. We would forecast a mildly bull market in gold in
2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Financial Services Business

During the year under review, the Group has successfully
operated three investment funds under its management in the
PRC.

Trading of metals and minerals

The Group is involved in trading of metals and minerals in
PRC and the revenue of this segment was approximately
HK$289,723,000 (2018: HK$114,003,000).

Gold Mining Business

At the same time, the Group continued focusing in mine
development and reserve converting exploration during the
year. Total gold production was 2 tonnes (65 Koz) during the
year, a 5% increase as compared to that in 2018.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Henan Jinxing Gold Mine

Henan Jinxing Mine is located approximately 6 km from the
regional town of Baitu and approximately 110 km southwest
of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is the largest mine in terms
of gold resources of the Group. It is an underground mine and
consists of two areas, namely Jinxing area and Xiepojing area.
The Group acquired Jinxing Mine in 2010. Ten vein groups
have been identified within the mining area, with similar
orientation, size and shape. The variation of overall continuity of
the thickness and grade of the vein is also relatively consistent,
which suggested good potential for further resources expansion.
Jinxing Mine has received the environmental approval and
safety approval for its new tailings yard and has started the
construction work. It has JORC code and its equivalent gold
resources of 74.9 tonnes (2,406 Koz) with average grade of
4.6g/t. Gold production in 2019 was 0.5 tonnes (17 Koz), a
decrease of 26% compared to that of 2018.

During the year of 2019, Jinxing Mine has exploited Xingxingyin
No.1 Shaft, Houmusi No.2 Shaft and Matoumen. In addition, it
also launched the in-depth investigation and exploration for the
production of Kangshan Mine, including exploration works of
drilling, geological surveys, shallow drilling on ground surface,
induced polarization profiling and mechanical core drilling.

Henan Luanling Gold Mine

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan
Province, 40 km away from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
licence with an area of 9 km?. The Group acquired the mine
in 2010 and realised full scale production in 2012. It has JORC
code gold resources of 60.1 tonnes (1,933 Koz) with average
grade of 3.2g/t. Gold production in 2019 was 0.6 tonnes (20
Koz), an increase of 43% compared to that of 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
'_QEE Jﬁl ;T A & *ﬁ

During the year of 2019, Luanling Mine has completed the
underground mining, which includes drift, transverse mining
and exploration construction, and stope preparation and cutting
construction. In addition, it has conducted drilling construction,
including in-depth investigation and production exploration.

Yunnan Mojiang Gold Mine

Mojiang Mine, is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province, which is approximately 300 km southwest of the
provincial capital — Kunming of Yunnan Province. It lies on
the famous Mojiang-Jinping and Ailaoshan Fold Belt, implying
favourable geology attributions. It has JORC code gold resources
of 14.1 tonnes (458 Koz) with average grade of 1.4 g/t. Gold
production in 2019 was 0.8 tonnes (24 Koz), a
compared to that of 2018.

9% increase

During the year of 2019, Mojiang Mine has conducted
exploration works mainly for the exploration design. It has
completed the drilling and the addition of reserving gold. Due
to the complexity of geological conditions of the mining area,
more mined-out areas which increase the difficulty of geological
mining, the exploration shall not be completed in 2019.
However, the pit exploration and drivage have been completed
and resulted in certain mining volume and by-product mines.

Yunnan Hengyi Gold Mine

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province. It
is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. It holds two
mining licenses, namely Shangzhai and Bianfushan.

Hengyi Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt
and the Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold
System. The San Jiang Metamorphic System is situated on the
southwest margin of the Yangzi Platform and the northeast
margin of the Simao Block between the Honghe and Amojiang
Faults.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the Group’s acquisition of Hengyi Mine in 2012, the
Group has been working on ramping up its production capacity.
Heap leaching has been practised for several years at the mine.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.3 tonnes (1,650 Koz)
with an average grade of 2.7 g/t. Gold production in 2019 was
118 kg (4 Koz), a 76% increase compared to that of 2018.

Inner Mongolia Yongfeng Gold Mine

Yongfeng Mine is an underground mine which was acquired
by the Group in 2009. Yongfeng Mine consists of two mining
areas, namely Lianhuashan mining area and Honghuagou
mining area, which are further divided into seven sub-mining
areas. Yongfeng Mine is located in the middle segment of the
northern margin of the North China Plate, adjacent to the Inner
Mongolia Fold Belt in the North. Seven mineralised veins were
identified. The mineralised veins have similar characteristics with
an average width between 1 and 1.5 metre and occur as gold-
bearing quartz veins. It has resources of 16.1 tonnes (519 Koz)
with an average grade of 9.5 g/t. The output of Yongfeng Mine
in 2019 was 8 kg (0.3 Koz), a 60% decrease compared to that
of 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

GOLD RESOURCES/RESERVES

At the end of year 2019, the Group had total resources of
216.5 tonnes which is compliant with the JORC code and/or
its equivalent. Measured and indicated resources (inclusive of
proven and probable reserves) were 81.1 tonnes and inferred
resources were 135.4 tonnes. The measured and indicated
resources (inclusive of proven and probable reserves) and
inferred resources of each mine of the Group are detailed in the
table below. The gold grade ranged from 1.4 g to 9.5 g per ton
of resources.

BESERE RE

RZTE—NFFR - REBIRIORCIEE
K /S HEL B RBE 5216518 o $REA
TR RE (REFEARRKEE) B
81. 1M K HEET &R 2 135418 - REES
AERARAEZESERE (REEER
BEEHER) UREEEREFINTE

BEMUNTRERSHE1477E9.5% ©

Updated mineral resources table @ BHEEERKO
Au Metal (t) Au Metal (Koz)
S8 (§) S8 (T&7)
Measured + Measured +
Indicated?® Inferred Total Indicated?® Inferred Total
B+ 12 H@ bid- ) At FH+EFQ bid - aF
Jinxing Mine SEETR 354 395 74.9 1,136 1,270 2,406
Luanling Mine BEPE 16.1 44.0 60.1 518 1,415 1,933
Mojiang Mine BT4H 10.6 35 14.1 345 13 458
Hengyi Mine E%eH 14.0 373 51.3 451 1,199 1,650
Yongfeng Mine KESTHE 5.0 11.1 16.1 162 357 519
Total &t 81.1 1354 216.5 2,612 4,354 6,966

(1) All mines’ resources and reserves are JORC code compliant and/
or its equivalent.

(2)  Measured and indicated resources are inclusive of proven and
probable gold reserves.
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ANNUAL REVIEW - EXPLORATION AND

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group continued its exploration work in its mines, and in
total has completed trenching of approximately 31,314m and
diamond drilling of approximately 395m.

Jinxing Mine £ Bl &2

7)

2)

Exploration activities &3 &) % &)

i) Exploration area and size

HREARBEEDRE

i) Exploration project
HERIRE

i) No. of drillholes
ERRILER

i) Average size of drillholes

ERRATHAN

EEEBANWR DM

FEOE - HERREEZRE

AEBREBILFSERSHRIE &£
TR LIRS 4931,3143K - BIR TR

E#)3955K °

Jinxing (5km?)
2HEGFHAE)

Trenches (7,102m)
R (7,102K)

2 drilling spots of each of
10 mine mouths
£10fE50 - FERO
2{ETIEA

Trenching of 2.2*2m,;
Wig2.2% 2K

Development/construction activities f& ez /&~ iEiE B

i) Area

B

ii) Infrastructure construction
AT ER

Jinxing
o

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of mine mouths
No. 18,28,19,3 Xingshuya,Moshigou,
Houmusi, Qiaogou, Xiaobeigou
tunnels, etc.

1841 ~ 2831+ 1941 331 - IS -
ERE BEF B8 MLES
BT ERARNARI IR

Xiepojing (0.05km?)
MEHF(0.05FHRE)

Trenches (8,464m)
1% (8,464K)

2 drilling spots of each of
2 mine mouths
H2{ERA -
FENA2ETER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
ni82.2* 2K

Xiepojing
R

Development of the main tunnel and
engineering cut works of Xiepojing,
extension of slope mine

MEHEBRA - RITIRR
FHHER

BEEESEEARARA
—E-NAEER

I
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

Luanling Mine B £1&

1) Exploration activities &z £1#%)% )

i) Exploration area and size
HREARBEEDRE

i) Exploration project
HRIRE

i) No. of drillholes

ERRAHE

i) Average size of drillholes

ERRIL TN

South Area (2.7km?)
BE Q27 FARE)

Trenches (5,988m)
4R (5,988K)

3 drilling points of each of
8 mine mouths
H{ESA - BERAIETLER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
1382.2% 2K

2)  Development/construction activities % %/~ iZi % &)

i) Area

ii) Infrastructure construction
AMReER

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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South Area
BE

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of tunnel

No.301, 305, 306, 307, 308, 311 and

401
301471 + 305471 » 30631 * 30741
30841+ 311 KAV IMEBRRR
BT

North Area (6.3km?)
IR (63FFRE)

Trenches (9,760m)
4% (9,760K)

4 drilling spots of each of
7 mine mouths
H7{ERA - BERA4ETER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
1382.2% 2K

North Area
It&

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of Dongpo
No.100 and 13, Huichungou No.201,
200, 202 and 115

RIX10035 ~ 1351+ EHEA2013 -
20091 * 2025 R 115 £ BFHARED
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Mojiang Mine &I £

1)

2)

Exploration activities #B 2 &5 )% &)

ii)

Exploration area and size

HREIRBEEDRE

Exploration project
HRIRE

No. of drillholes
ERRILER

Average size of drillholes

ERAILFEA)

Average depth of drillholes

ERRATIRE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBANWR DM

Open Cut (0.4km?)
BRRE (04FFRE)

Diamond drilling (395m)
&R (395K)

5 drillholes
S{EEL

Diameter of 75mm

EHEE752K
79m
79K

Development/construction activities f& ez /& ~ i B

Area

B[S
BE

Infrastructure construction
AWRIEER

Open Cut
BARE

Construction of a three mining
stope to separate the stripping and
mining area, and 3 other heap
leaching plants

HE3MERSG - DRIHEE - REE -

HEHMERM3ME

Underground

T RE

No. 2 and No. 1 bulkhead wall for
mining junkyard, phase two mine
mouth mining and rehabilitation
project
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND MINING
PRODUCTION EXPENDITURES

During the year, the Group had capital expenditures of HK$184
million for exploration, development and mining production
and had entered into certain significant contracts with certain
independent contractors for provision of exploration and
infrastructure development of the Group. Details of the relevant
exploration and infrastructure development work are set in
above section headed “ANNUAL REVIEW — EXPLORATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT". Details of the
Group's capital commitments are set out in note 35(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group incurred direct and production costs
of HK$868 million which included raw materials of HK$394
million, amortisation and depreciation of HK$197 million,
wages and subcontractors’ fees of HK$196 million, resources
compensation fees and taxes of HK$32 million and other
miscellaneous mining and processing costs of HK$49 million.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL

On 6 June 2019, Munsun Securities Limited (“Munsun
Securities”) and Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited
("Munsun Asset”) (collectively referred to as the “Targets”),
subsidiaries of the Company entered into a shares purchase
agreement with an independent third party subscriber
(“Subscriber”) in relation to the subscription by the Subscriber
and allotment and issue by Munsun Securities and Munsun
Asset of up to 290,440,000 and 40,000,000 new shares,
respectively (representing up to 80% of total number of issued
shares as enlarged by the subscription) at the total consideration
of HK$80 million in cash.

Since the conditions precedent for Phase Il Completion have
not been satisfied on or before the day falling 6 months after
the date of Subscription Agreements, i.e. 6 December 2019,
the Subscription Agreements have ceased and determined and
neither party shall have any obligations and liabilities towards
each other save for any antecedent claims.

Details of the above are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 6 June 2019, 17 July 2019, 5 September
2019 and 6 December 2019. Up to the date of this report, the
said transaction has lapsed.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 23 January 2020, the Company and another Independent
Third Parties (“Purchaser”) entered into a share purchase
agreement pursuant to which the Company has agreed to sell
and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase 100% of the issued
shares of the Targets at the consideration equivalent to the NAV
plus the Premium in cash, subject to a maximum amount of
HK$23.1 million.

After completion of the share purchase agreement, the
Company will cease to have any interest in the Targets which
will cease to be subsidiaries of the Company and their financial
results and position will not be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company.

Details of the above disposal are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 23 January 2020 and 14 February
2020. As at the date of this Report, the said disposal has not
completed.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant major
merger, acquisition or disposal by the Group during the
reporting period and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Results

During the year, the Group recorded loss from operations
of HK$291 million as compared with profit from operations
of HK$80 million last year. The turnaround to the loss from
operations is mainly due to a one-off loss on goodwill
impairment of approximately HK$274 million (2018: HK$nil),
the decrease in bank interest income, increase in administrative
expenses and the decrease in gross profit mentioned in
following paragraph in this section. Accordingly, the Group’s
loss after tax increased to HK$631 million during the year as
compared to HK$466 million in the last year.

During the year, the Group’s revenue increased by 28%
to HK$1,040 million (2018: HK$814 million). The increase
in revenue is mainly arisen from the increase in gold price,
increase in trading of metals and minerals and the increase in
the Group’s gold production during the year. The gross profit
margin of the Group decreased to 16% during the year (2018:
28%) which is attributable to the increase of revenue in trading
of metals and minerals which has a lower gross profit margin
than other operating segments, and the increase in the Group’s
production costs per unit. In addition, increased mining depth
and complicated geologic structure in the mining site currently
under production pushed production cost higher.

The Group's total comprehensive expenses decreased by 3% to
HK$705 million during the year as compared to HK$728 million
in the last year. The decreased in total comprehensive expenses
is mainly attributable to the decrease in Group's recognition
of exchange loss (arisen from depreciation of exchange rate
of RMB against HK$) on translation of financial statements of
PRC subsidiaries and associate to HK$92 million during the
year (2018: HK$291 million) and HK$18 million (2018: HK$29
million) fair value gain on investments in equity instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the
decreased of total comprehensive expenses is partly offset by a
one-off loss on goodwill impairment of approximately HK$274
million (2018: HK$nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the segment information of the Group’s revenue and
results from its gold mining business, trading of metals and
minerals and financial services business are set out in note 5 in
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the loss per share of the Company was
HK10.78 cents (2018: HK20.40 cents).

Other Income and Other Net Gain

The Group's other income decreased by 83% to HK$3 million
during the year as compared to HK$18 million last year. The
decrease in other income is mainly due to the decrease in bank
interest income to HK$1 million (2018: HK$16 million).

During the year, the Group’s other net gain was approximate to
that of the last year of HK$2 million.

Selling and Distribution Costs

During the year, the Group's selling and distribution costs were
HK$11 million (2018: HK$12 million), which were approximate
with last year.

EEEBANWR DM

AEBTBEFARER  2BREEES
KemREEBH U EREED BER
BN R A MBS HRAR MRS ©

RERN - KAREFREIEA10.7881
(ZZ—/)\%F : 20.40/81l) -

H AU A K E A U a2 5 58

AEBERFRNEMBAREFN 18T
BB TI83% E3FEAET - it
AR TR E B2 AR IRITRIBRAT
BEIVEBEL(ZE—\F 16888
L) °

MER - AEEZ SR FREERF
2 BBBITARE -

SHE R 7 AR

RER - AEEOHERSHERAR

BEAT(ZT—/\F: 1288871T)
BEFEE

bl
]
il
Ik
A A
&
= @t

g ol

7
5

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Administrative Expenses

During the year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
HK$183 million (2018: HK$154 million), representing a increase
by 19% as compared with last year.

Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s finance costs were HK$366 million
(2018: HK$538 million), representing a decrease by 32% as
compared to last year. The decrease in finance costs is mainly due
to the decrease in total interest expenses on financial liabilities
to HK$356 million (2018: 526 million). In addition, the increase
in non-cash fair value gain on derivative financial instruments
relating to the convertible bonds from HK$38 million in the
last year to HK$67 million during the year. However, this is
partly offset by the one-off loss on the 2021 Convertible Bonds
Restructure of HK$79 million recorded by the Group during
the year (2018: one-off loss on the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure HK$55 million).

Deferred Tax

As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax liabilities amounted to
HK$559 million (2018: HK$580 million), which represented mainly
the estimated tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
acquisitions of gold mines by the Group in previous years and
was calculated at PRC income tax rate of 25% on the increase
in fair value of mining rights. The deferred tax liability balance is
subsequently reversed and credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as a result of tax effect of the amortisation of the
mining rights. Such liabilities are accounted for in accordance
with the accounting principle and therefore no cash payment
is required. Details are set out in note 27(a) in the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and bank balances
(including pledged deposits) and net current liabilities were
HK$175 million (2018: HK$183 million) and HK$2,527 million
(2018: HK$2,702 million) respectively. The decrease in the
Group's net current liabilities is mainly attributable to the
decrease in bank and other borrowings under current liabilities
of HK$168 million at 31 December 2019 which was arisen from
a classification of bank and other borrowings under current
liabilities at 31 December 2018 to non-current liabilities at 31
December 2019. The Group's net assets decreased to HK$7,031
million (2018: HK$7,725 million).

The Group has met its needs of working capital and capital
expenditure mainly through cash generated from operations,
bank and other borrowings and equity financing. As at 31
December 2019, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
were repayable within one to four years and its fixed rate
borrowings over total borrowings was 91%. There is no
significant seasonality of the borrowings demand of the Group.
Further details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company'’s directors are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to finance its future working capital and financial
requirements as further detailed in note 2 in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s cash and bank balances and bank and other
borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

At 31 December 2019, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 5,935,722,991 shares, each of
HK$0.001 (the “Shares”). During the year, the Company has
completed the capital reorganisation and refreshment of general
mandate, and the 2019 convertible bonds restructure as well as
the increase in authorized share capital. Further details are set
out in the section headed “Share Capital” in the report of the
directors in this annual report and note 28(b) in the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher returns to
the owners of the Company that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital
management during the year.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s gearing ratio increased to
32% (2018: 31%). The Group monitors capital using a gearing
ratio, which is calculated as the net debts divided by total equity
plus net debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings and convertible bonds, less cash and bank balances
and pledged deposits. The Group's total equity comprises total
share capital and reserves of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets of the Group are set out in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s principal assets and liabilities are located in the PRC
and are denominated in RMB which is the functional currency
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group did not enter
into any forward foreign exchange contracts to manage its
foreign currency risk during the year as the directors considered
that the Group's exposure to exchange rate risk could be
managed. Details of the foreign exchange risks of the Group
during the year are set out in note 34(e) to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS RISK

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from the market price
fluctuations on gold products. To protect the Group from the
impact of price fluctuations in gold products, the management
closely monitors gold product price exposure and will consider
to use derivative contracts should the need arises. The Group
did not enter into any forward equity securities contracts to
manage its equity securities price risk. The Group mitigates its
price risk by performing detailed analysis of investments and
dedicated professionals are assigned to oversee and monitor the
performance of investments. Details are set out in note 34(d) in
the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2019, the Group had investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
of HK$294 million, representing 2% of the Group’s total assets,
which include mainly investment in an unlisted company in the
PRC of HK$283 million and investment in a private equity fund
in the PRC of HK$11 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
investments at 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed approximately
710 (2018: 830) employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. All
employees are remunerated according to their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. Both on-the-job
and professional training are provided. The Group provides
retirement benefits in the form of Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance to its employees in Hong Kong. The Group
provides defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the
PRC to its employees in the PRC.

PRODUCTION SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

We operate in a responsible manner to ensure the health
and safety of employees of our Group. We are committed to
meeting applicable legal requirements and where possible seek
to implement leading industry standards in our operations.
We have established a dedicated safety and environment
enhancement team that is responsible for the occupational
health and safety of our mines and operations.

We are subject to various PRC laws and regulations with respect
to the prevention and treatment of occupational diseases, the
prevention of worksite accidents and the handling of industrial
injuries. Production safety permits have been obtained for our
mines.

We have adopted a comprehensive set of internal occupational
health and safety policies for our mines. We conduct staff
training, review internal safety procedures, carry out regular
on-site safety inspections and continuously monitor the
implementation of safety policies. Protective equipment and
clothing are regularly provided to our mine personnel, and we
reqgularly check proper usage of such equipment. In addition,
each of our mines has been equipped with a real-time visual
monitoring system to monitor mine operation and safety.
We have also set up an inspection and detection system in
the explosive warehouses in each of our mines to provide
comprehensive protection to the usage and security of daily
explosives.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We require our third-party contractors to possess requisite
production safety licences and relevant qualifications for the
work they contract from us and to undertake appropriate safety
measures.

We have been in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations regarding occupational health and safety in all
material respects. We have not had any material accident
involving death or personal injury at any of the mines operated
by us.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an Environmental,
Social and Governance ("ESG") Report within three months
after the publication of this annual report in compliance with
the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP WITH GOVERNMENT AND
AWARDS

The Group has been maintaining good relationships with the
local government where the mines are located.

In July 2012, the Group signed the cooperation framework
agreement on mineral resources exploration and development
with the local government of Yunnan Province. According to
the agreement, with the local government'’s strong support and
assistance on exploration development and consolidation of
gold resources, the Group will have the priority rights to access
to the gold mining assets in the region. Moreover, the local
government will provide support on infrastructure, including
power, water and logistics.

In 2011, the Group also signed the similar framework
agreement with local government of Henan Province. According
to the agreement, the local government will provide full support
in terms of the Group's consolidation of precious metal resource
sector in the region. The Group is also subject to the subsidy
policy tailored for foreign investment as well as the favourable
policy for land acquisition and other approvals.
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In November 2019, Luanling Mine was awarded the third place
of "Jinding Cup” Quiz Game of Implementing Safety Production
Ordinance of Luanchuan County in Henan Province issued by
Safety Production Committee of Luanchuan County.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
PROSPECT

The Fed has lowered interest rates three times in 2019. In light
of the blow to economic activity from the coronavirus pandemic,
the Fed policy of low interest rate is likely to continue. The
prolonged conflict in the Middle East, on-going trade tensions
between the U.S and China will present high risks to the
geopolitical uncertainties. Worries over the further spreading of
the new deadly coronavirus globally and fears about its potential
adverse impact on the world economy will drive up gold’s safe-
haven demand further. As it stands, we forecast a prosperous
gold market in 2020.

The Company had entered into the sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose a part
of our financial services business segment. As at the date of
this Report, the said disposal has not completed. Yet, our
strategy is to focus the Group's resources in gold mining
business segment as our principal business in 2020. As such,
the Group's objective is to maintain its stable development in
respect of mine exploration and reserve increase by means of
strict implementation of existing mines exploration planning.
More effort will be put on optimizing the construction of
the major exploration projects and on the cost control in an
environmentally friendly manner. Being one of the largest
privately owned, China-based gold mining companies, the
Group commits business strategy as to:(i) continue to expand
production capacity at our existing mines, (ii) speed up
construction work of the capacity expansion and improve the
exploration efficiency, and (iii) continue to conduct further
exploration projects in order to increase resources and upgrade
reserves. As always, the Group will remain vigilant on costs and
adopt a prudent approach in its growth strategies.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s
business depends on the support from its key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators
and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationships with each of its
key stakeholders.

The details of the Group’s major customers, the credit terms
granted to them and credit risk exposure are set out in the
section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in the “Report
of the Directors” and notes 19 and 34(a) in the consolidated
financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance and procedures to ensure integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to promote the
ongoing development of the best long term interest of the
Company and enhance value for all the shareholders.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2019 except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reason for such deviations as explained below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all directors
(“Directors”) of any non-compliance with the Model Code
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019, and they
have all confirmed their full compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company's business is vested
in the Board. The major responsibilities of the Board include
formulation of strategic plans, adoption of corporate strategies,
assessment of investment projects, monitoring and controlling
the Group's operating and financial performance, assessment
and management of risk to which the Group is exposed. The
management of the Group are responsible for the execution of
the Board’s decisions and day-to-day operation of the Group.

COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board during the year and up to date
of this report consists of nine directors, with five Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yi Shuhao (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. Chen Sheng (Vice Chairman), Mr. Zhang Lirui
(Vice Chairman), Mr. Huang Zhiwei and Mr. Wang Baozhi, one
Non-Executive Director, namely, Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng. Three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Chi
Yan, Professor Xiao Rong Ge and Professor Zhang Tianyu.

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

Under provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yi Shuhao, is currently the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers
that vesting both of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Yi is beneficial to the business prospects and
management of the Group as Mr. Yi has in-depth experience
in business management and development and can lead the
Group to have continuous growth in the future. The Company
had considered the governance issue of balance of power and
authority on the board and believed that the structure of the
Company (including strong independent elements in the board
and delegation of authorities to management) was sufficient to
address this potential issue.
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The Company has appointed a sufficient number of
Independent Non-Executive Directors with suitable professional
qualifications, such as expertise in accounting and financial
management, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. They actively bring their valuable experience to
the Board for promoting the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has received from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

As permitted under the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws"”), the Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance for which Members of the Board and officers
of the Company do not have to bear any excess.

The term of office of the Directors (including Independent Non-
Executive Directors) is 3 years. In accordance with the Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one third of
the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not 3 or
a multiple of 3, the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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Attendance records of the Directors at Board Meeting, Executive
Committee Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting and General

Meetings held in 2019 are as below:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yi Shuhao

Mr. Chen Sheng

Mr. Zhang Lirui

Mr. Wang Baozhi

Mr. Yu Yong

NED:
Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng (appointed on 2 July 2019)

INEDs:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (appointed on 1 March 2019)
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (resigned on 1 March 2019)

Professor. Zhang Tianyu
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The minutes of Board meetings are prepared by the company
secretary of the Company. The draft minutes are circulated to all
members of the Board for their comments and the final version
of the minutes is sent to all members of the Board for their
records within a reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes
are also open for inspection by all members of the Board at the
Company's registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged in-house
trainings for Directors in the form of seminar and provision of
training materials. A summary of training received by Directors
during 2019 according to the records provided by the Directors
is as follows:

Name of Directors BEEnR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yi Shuhao ZEE L
Mr. Chen Sheng BRES ST
Mr. Wang Baozhi FTRESE
Mr. Zhang Lirui SR T4
Mr. Yu Yong REEE
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng FFERS R A
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFHTESE
Ms. Wong Chi Yan B5EEZ+
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EEJE 63
Professor Zhang Tianyu oK REIR

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) under the Board. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely,
Ms. Wong Chi Yan, Professor Zhang Tianyu and Professor Xiao
Rong Ge. Ms. Wong Chi Yan is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has formulated its term of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee’s duties are mainly to review the
Company’s financial reports, make recommendations on the
appointment, removal and remuneration of independent
auditors and approve audit and audit related services, and
supervise the Company's internal financial reporting procedures
and management policies.

At least two meetings of the Audit Committee will be convened
annually to review the accounting policies, risk management,
internal control and the relevant financial and accounting issues,
so as to ensure fairness and accuracy of the Company'’s financial
statements and other relevant information. The minutes of the
Audit Committee meetings are prepared by the secretary of the
meeting. The draft minutes are circulated to the Committee
Members for comments and the final version of the minutes
is sent to the Committee Members for their records within a
reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes are also open
for inspection by the Committee Members at the Company’s
registered office.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, three Audit
Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “Composition” of this
report, The work performed by the Audit Committee included to
review and recommend for the Board's approval the interim and
final financial results and reports, report on internal control and
the report of the Audit Committee, as well as the resignation
and the appointment of auditors and their fees arrangement.
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Subsequent to the change of Company name on 30 September
2019, an updated terms of reference of Audit Committee had
been made available on the website of the Stock Exchange and
of the Company.

Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”). The Remuneration Committee
currently consists of two Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Professor Zhang Tianyu and Ms. Wong Chi Yan, and one
Executive Director, Mr. Yi Shuhao. Professor Zhang Tianyu is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Company has
formulated written terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing and evaluating remuneration packages of the
Directors. Its duties include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors. It also takes into account whether the emoluments
offered are appropriate to the duties and performance of the
respective individuals concerned and whether such emoluments
are competitive and sufficiently attractive to retain such
individuals.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no Remuneration
Committee meeting was held. The Remuneration Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2019.
In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the work of
Remuneration Committee included to review the remuneration
policies and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages regarding renewal of service contracts of
an Independent Non-Executive Director and appointment of the
three new directors as well as annual review on remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management of the
Company.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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Competitive remuneration packages are structured to be
commensurate with individual responsibilities, qualification,
experience and performance.

Subsequent to the change of Company name on 30 September
2019, an updated terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee had been made available on the website of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company.

The remuneration of a Director is determined with reference
to his duties and responsibilities with the Company and the
prevailing market situation. Details of the emoluments of
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. The emoluments paid to senior management during
the year ended 31 December 2019 were within the following
bands:
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) under the Board. Members of the
Nomination Committee currently consists of two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, Ms. Wong Chi Yan and Professor
Zhang Tianyu, and one Executive Director, Mr. Yi Shuhao who is
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for the
following:

®  reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations on proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

e regularly review the time required from a director to
perform his responsibilities; and

e  to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress on achieving the objectives.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure that
the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates with the
objective criteria with due regard of the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The Nomination Committee also
dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2019. In 2019
and up to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee’s
work included to make recommendation to the Board on
appointments of a Non-Executive Director, an Independent Non-
Executive Director and an Executive Director of the Company,
rotation of directors for 2019 and 2020 AGM, access the
independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors, and also
reviewed the structure, composition and diversity of the Board.

The Company has formulated the nomination policy and revised
terms of reference of Nomination Committee as from 1 January
2019 and has changed its name on 30 September 2019. The
updated terms of reference of Nomination Committee had been
made available on the website of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Board should have a balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes
to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, the Company has formal, considered and transparent
procedure for selection, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession
(if considered necessary), including periodical review of such
plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board
upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the
Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive director, his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from
time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he or she has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive
director with such qualifications or expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 March 2017
and comprises all Executive Directors of the Company. Mr.
Yi Shuhao is the Chairman of the Executive Committee. The
Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities in the ordinary course
of business of the Group as are vested in the Board, save for
those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will meet as
and when necessary to discuss the operating affairs of the
Group and may also deal with matters by way of circulation.

The Executive Committee is mainly responsible for undertaking
and supervising the day-to-day management and is empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business
activities and administration of the Group and to
make such amendments thereto from time to time as
the Executive Committee may think fit and to make
exceptions to the policies as the circumstances arise while
implementing such polices; and

(i)  to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted by the
Group on business activities.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Group has established a corporate governance committee
(the "Corporate Governance Committee”). The Corporate
Governance Committee currently consists of two Executive
Directors, Mr. Yi Shuhao and Mr. Wang Baozhi. Mr. Yi Shuhao
is the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for the
following:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

* reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements;

e developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

®  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no Corporate
Governance Committee meeting was held while Corporate
Governance Committee dealt with matters by way of circulation.
In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Corporate
Governance Committee’s work included to review the policies
and practices of the Company in compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company, CCTH
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Company’s financial statements is set out in the Auditor’s
Report on pages 71 to 79.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors (including any entity under common control, ownership
or management with the external auditors or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party having knowledge of
all relevant information would reasonably conclude as part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally) during the year is as
follows:

BT
B LIRS

Audit services
Non-audit services

RISKS MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities to maintain a sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets. The Group has established guidelines
and procedures for the approval and control of expenditure.
Operating expenditures and capital expenditures are subject
to the overall budget control and approval process prior to the
commitment.
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The Company has established an internal audit function. The
Board has, through the Audit Committee of the Company,
conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal controls and risk management system
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The review covered
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. There
were no significant control failings, weaknesses or significant
areas of concern identified during the year which might affect
shareholders.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information with
due care. Staff is required to comply with and maintain the strict
confidentiality of the information. Only personnel at appropriate
level can get reach of price sensitive and inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. Leung Lai Seung, is responsible for
facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among
Board members, with shareholders and the management.
Ms. Leung'’s biography is set out in the “Biographical Details
of the Directors and the Senior Management” section on
page 53. During the year, Ms. Leung took not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and
knowledge.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting and special general
meetings provide the principal channels of communication with
its shareholders which provide opportunities for shareholders to
share views with the Board.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.
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All Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Director of the Company could attend annual general meeting
of the Company held on 27 June 2019 and the special general
meetings of the Company held on 27 February 2019, 27 August
2019 and 27 September 2019 to enable the Board to develop a
balanced understand of the views of the Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening special general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Under the Company's Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company by sending a written
notice to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong, shall convene a special
general meeting to address specific issues specified in such
requisition of the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice. The same requirement and procedure
also apply to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’
meetings for adoption.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company’s
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong at Units 5&6, 17/F,
Convention Plaza Office Tower, 1 Harbour Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong (website: www.bayareagold.com.cn).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a consolidated
version of Memorandum of Continuance and Bye-Laws had
been available on the website of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company subsequent to the change of company name on 30
September 2019.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGAREEEEE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Yi Shuhao (5 M%), aged 33, was appointed as an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
Executive Committee and a member of Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company on 5 September 2018. Mr. Yi
was subsequently appointed as an authorized representative,
a member of Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 October 2018.
Mr. Yi was also re-designated from a member of Corporate
Governance Committee to the Chairman of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Yi was appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 13 December
2018. He has received a bachelor’s degree in laws from Henan
Institute of Science and Technology. He also holds the Legal
Professional Qualification Certificate and Lawyer License of the
People’s Republic of China.

He has nine years of legal consulting and commercial
experience. Mr. Yi previously served as a lawyer at Beijing
Yingke (Shenzhen) Law Firm. He also previously worked as a
lawyer in Guangdong Guanghe (Zhuhai) Law Firm and served as
a product director at Digital China Macao Commercial Offshore
Limited. Mr. Yi is a nephew of the substantial shareholders of
the Company, Mr. Liu Shiwei and shareholder Ms. Guan Yuyan
(the ultimate beneficial owner of Grace Silver Limited). Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Yi has no relationship with any Directors,
members of the senior management or substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or controlling shareholders (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.
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Mr. Chen Sheng (FRB$), aged 47, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company on 6 September 2017. Mr. Chen has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
24 January 2018. Mr. Chen subsequently resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and was redesignated as Vice
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 13 December 2018.
Mr. Chen graduated from China European International Business
School with a master’s degree in business administration (EMBA).

He has over 20 years’ experience in government and state-
owned corporate governance and extensive economic financial
and investment experience. Mr. Chen served as a researcher in
the research centre of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of Shanghai
Municipal Government. He worked as the deputy general
secretary in the Asia Research Centre of Shanghai Jiaotong
University, the deputy general manager in the Asia Pacific
International Commodity Exchange Centre of China Railway
and the president of Shanghai Rongfa Enterprise Development
Limited.

Mr. Zhang Lirui (3RFI$}#), aged 47, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 10 July 2015. Mr. Zhang
is currently a member of Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang was subsequently redesignated as vice chairman
of the Board of the Company on 13 December 2018. He
graduated from Shenzhen University and Huazhong University
of Science & Technology and holds a bachelor’s degree in
international finance and postgraduate in economics.

Mr. Zhang has more than 27 years of experiences in the business
sectors of market capital and securities. During the years from
1992 to 2008, Mr. Zhang worked successively in the market
capital, credit and organization departments and sub-branches
of the Shenzhen Branch of the Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited. He was a director of Munsun Assets
Management Ltd from August 2012 to December 2013 and
a director of Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited from
October 2012 to May 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

Mr. Wang Baozhi (£fR7%), aged 52, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of each of the Executive
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company on 21 August 2017. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in agriculture education from Yuxi Agriculture College
and a master’s degree in Economics from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics (formerly Jiangxi Finance and Economics
College). He is currently a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

He has over 23 years of experience in finance. Mr. Wang has
been the managing director of south china business headquarter
of Zhongrong International Trust Company Limited (“Zhongrong
International”) since April 2009. Before joining Zhongrong
International, he has previously worked as the project manager
of Shenzhen Baifuda Finance Company Limited, the financial
controller of Shenzhen Chengnong Siliao Company Limited,
the financial controller of Shenzhen Hongji (Group) Logistic
Company Limited, the chief financial officer of Shenzhen
Nanyou (Holdings) Limited and an auditor of Shenzhen Minfu
audit firm.

Mr. Huang Zhiwei (E%1&), aged 44, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company on 20 January 2020. Mr. Huang graduated
from the Renmin University of China with a bachelor’s degree in
human resources management, and obtained a master’s degree
in business administration (BiIMBA) from Peking University and
a master’s degree in business administration (EMBA) from
Tsinghua University.

Mr. Huang is currently a Joint Chief Executive of Henggin Life
Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Henggin Life”). Prior to joining Henggin
Life, he had worked in China Life Insurance Company Limited
("China life"”) and served in various positions, including
serving as a cadre in the cadre office of the human resources
department, secretary to the committee of the office league,
member of the party committee and deputy general manager
of Huzhou branch in Zhejiang Province, and the deputy head
of the legal team of reorganization under the share conversion
and listing office of China Life, and served as the heads of

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

FRELE 525 R-F—tF/\A
“t-RERERARFRNITES - #
TEEEREXERZBEEERE - T%
ERBAREEMERESEEHE KR
HEM RIS EAZ (AT AT K
B ) IS KBESEE L2 - WIRATE
dftEtinegs -

RAERBE_ T =FHBEER TXE
B-ZENFOAERTREEERE
RAR(THRER]) EEEFEENE
FRKIE - RIMARRBEERA - RER
R BEEREQRBEEALRE RN
RYIK R E R ) R B R TS 4R EE
RRIEE (RE) MR A REETH R
& NRYEREEAR R BETTE
MK YRRYRFEEDEHAEE
e

ERBRE 45 RZZE=TF—A
THEZTARATRITESE MWTT
B8  c mEEAERFEARKER
SANBEREBREL B4 - WHNEREK
BESSHREEAEIHEEBELT2M
(BIMBA)RRBEASBESIRERAR
THEEERELTZ26(EMBA) °

e R

BEALERBEZASRRERAR ([
EANR]) BEMELER - MAEZAS
Al - RERTBEASRRBNHER DA
(THhEAST]) BEANEREBEEZE
REE MEBEZRET I HIMND
NEEZERE  BERLE  FEASK
R EMHATEREREARS - IR
FEASTSHERE - ANBERB(BER
AR EBEENEEAEA - ME
FERASFITOAREEA - EELE



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

market development department, human resources department
(organization office of the party committee) and business
management department of China Life, he was also the head
of the Shenzhen branch of China Life. Mr. Huang subsequently
served as a Deputy Chief Executive in Shenzhen Bolin Holding
Limited. He has over 21 years of extensive experiences in
insurance business operations, human resources management,
market development and investment management.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng (FF#8), aged 49, was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 2 July 2019. Mr.
Hsu is an Attorney at Law in Taiwan, also a holder of Legal
Practice Qualification in the People’s Republic of China and a
Registered Foreign Lawyer in Hong Kong. Mr. Hsu graduated
from Soochow University with a Bachelor of Laws in 1995. He
obtained a degree of Master of Laws from the National Chung
Cheng University in 1999 and received a degree of Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) from Tsinghua
University in 2010. Mr. Hsu is also now studying Juris Doctor of
Laws at Tsinghua University.

He has been a senior consultant at Beijing Zhong Yin Law Firm
since 2009 and a partner at Zhong Yin Law Firm (Taiwan) since
2014. Mr. Hsu is now a general counsel at Perfect (China) Co.,
Ltd.. He is also currently an alternate director to Tan Sri Dato’
Koo Yuen Kim (a substantial shareholder of the Company)
at Greentech Technology International Limited (Stock Code:
00195), a company listed on the main board of Stock Exchange
in Hong Kong. Mr. Hsu has wide and extensive areas of practice
in his legal profession including securities, finance, banking,
insurance, funds, restructuring, merger and acquisition,
corporate legal risk management and sino-foreign arbitration.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (2% 2), aged 38, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 1 March 2019.
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Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
in Accounting awarded by Hong Kong Baptist University and
a Master of Laws in International Corporate and Financial Law
awarded by The University of Wolverhampton, the United
Kingdom. She is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
Ms. Wong has extensive experiences in auditing, accounting
and financing as well as merger and acquisition.

Ms. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Success Dragon International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1182), Huiyin Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
1178) and Asia Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707),
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Wong is also the company secretary and authorised
representative of each of Flyke International Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1998) and China Properties Investment Holdings Limited
(stock code:736), companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong was an executive director and authorised
representative of Elegance Optical International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 907) from February 2017 to October 2018,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She
was also an executive director of CHerish Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2113) from October 2017 to June 2018, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was an
independent non-executive director of Ding He Mining Holdings
Limited (stock code: 705) from January 2018 to July 2018, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She
was an executive director and authorised representative of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
May 2015 to October 2017. She was also an independent non-
executive director of Tech Pro Technology Development Limited
(stock code: 3823) from March 2017 to February 2019, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms.
Wong was the company secretary of Goldway Education Group
Limited (stock code: 8160) from October 2018 to May 2019, a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange.
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Professor Xiao Rong Ge (H %), aged 70, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 21 January 2010.
Professor Xiao obtained his PhD in Professional Geology from
the China University of Geosciences (Beijing). He is currently
a professor of Professional Geology and mentor to doctoral
students at the China University of Geosciences (Beijing).

Professor Xiao has long been conducting research work in the
fields of geology, mineral exploration and economic evaluation.
He participated in the fieldwork of geological inspection
of metal minerals by an integrated exploration team of the
geological exploration company of the Ministry of Metallurgical
Industry of China, mainly at the regions of Langshan mountain
Bayan Obo, Manzhouli and Daxinganling of Inner Mongolia,
PRC. He also took part in the geological research work of the
Three-River Area of Yunnan and the system research of meso-
cenozoic geological minerals and sylvite and copper minerals
in Yunnan. As a post-doctoral researcher at the Institute of
Geochemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences, he engaged in
geological geochemistry research, focusing research on the
formation of meso-cenozoic sandstone-type copper minerals.
He is currently engaged in the research studies on various
types of minerals involving non-ferrous metals, precious
metals, ferrous metals, non-metals and energy minerals, and
has in-depth studies on the rules for the formation of metal
ore deposits and mine exploration and has accomplished a
series of research achievements. Academic publications in the
recent decade include: Geochemistry of rock mineral deposits
(Geological Publishing House), Boron ore deposits in Liaodong
(Geological Publishing House), Gold mine formation rules
and mineralization forecast in the deep parts of Xiaoginling
(Geological Publishing House), Phosphate ore deposits in China
(Geological Publishing House), Molybdenum ore formation
theory (Geological Publishing House) and Crystalline graphite
ore deposits in northern China (Science Press). Professor Xiao

EENEREEERE

HEBHR 705 R=F—FF—A
T HEZRER/ARBEUIIRITE
ERBZLZEBEZRE HURKATHE
WEAR (ER)BRAEEXE LM -
BRIRAPEMEARE (IR BREHEE
IR - B AEZAD

HERERHAUSBEAS BEHESELZ
BRHESENRE  BETFRES IR
MELWEHERRGAEEABRE
TEBEETIIMUERE TIE - TERS
TEETEARAGRIL -GESE
mMB R KB EE - TE2RER
TR ERTE T HEMPHLE
O T 2 e 5 B R A B S R b B 7T
TR o RETBER B[R E
BTFCATIRIB 18 - 1EH MR IR B 267
7 BEWRHERY = REKE G
REXMEBRESNEREEECEE &
B RELE LB EREE
o HEeBBAKERERKEDEER
ABFE  BRG T RIIBIFARR » L+ 4
URBRBMEES - EABREIK
2 (WE R ; ERWMER (E HiR
/), MRERBSENRRFEKIRTR
A GbE B ARAE) ; o BIBEER (HE AR
M) ;SRR R (M E AR ) FEILHR
frE A RER (B2 HRE) - BEEE
BRAEEREBANBESER - BLE
IREBR B R AR ATFTIE R - BRI E
B - o B 2B i R R 2R AT 5T
=HA - HAEBELEREEREA NZ]R
BEILERIAR - WS R iR E 5 R
PoEF =F 818  BLEREBREK
R-FHR-ANM_FR-IA - HYRE

B
]
il
Ik
A A
i)
= @t

g ol

i =
5

)



a2

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

had engaged in the projects of the National Science Foundation
of China, basic technical research projects of the Department of
Technology, Ministry of Land and Resources, national geological
inspection projects, open laboratory projects on geochemistry of
the Chinese Academy of Sciences and related provincial projects
of the Department of Land and Resources and various mining
enterprises projects, and was awarded a Third Class Award of
Technological Progress by the Ministry of Geology and Mineral
Resources, a First Class Award and a Second Class Award
of Technological Achievement by the Ministry of Land and
Resources. Professor Xiao had engaged in consultant services
for mining investment, valuation for financing, mining rights
valuation and technical inspection, and had conducted valuation
of mining resources for various mining enterprises.

Professor Zhang Tianyu (5RH ), aged 45, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 21 August 2017.
Professor Zhang was re-designated as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 31 August 2017.
Professor Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from Nankai University, a master’'s degree in Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a Doctor of
Philosophy in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology.

He has over 13 years of experience in accounting. Professor
Zhang is a professor in School of Accountancy and the director
of the Center for Institutions and Governance in The Chinese
University of Hong Kong (“Chinese University”). His research
focuses on political institutions and governance in China
emerging market. He is now sitting on the editorial board
of The Accounting Review and Contemporary Accounting
Research. Before joining the Chinese University, he worked for
City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Professor Zhang also
served as an independent director of Netac Technology Co Ltd
from February 2011 to February 2017. The aforesaid company is
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Ms. Leung Lai Seung (REE#F), age 56, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 23 January 2017. Ms.
Leung was subsequently appointed as the Service Agent of the
Company on 24 October 2018.

Ms. Leung is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom and
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She
holds a Professional Diploma in Company Secretaryship and
Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and an Executive Diploma in
Corporate Governance and Pragmatic Business Ethics from the
University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Leung is currently also the company secretary of Success
Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182). She
previously served as the company secretary respectively of Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited (stock code: 56) between July 2010
to March 2011, and of Ceneric (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
542) between April 2011 to December 2016, all of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She possesses
over 20 years of experience in handling company secretarial
practice and corporate governance matter for listed companies.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Directors hereby submitting the annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

A special resolution regarding the change of company name
was duly passed by the Shareholders at the special general
meeting. The name of the Company was changed from Munsun
Capital Group Limited to Bay Area Gold Group Limited with
effect from 30 September 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set forth in note 31(a)
to the consolidated financial statements. The discussion and
analysis as required by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance are set out on pages 9 to 29. This discussion forms
part of the report of the directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income on
pages 80 and 81.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In alignment with the recent amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and the related listing rules, the Company
has formulated the dividend policy as from 1 January 2019.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the relevant
dividend pay-out ratio, the board of directors of the Company
shall take into considerations, inter alia, the Group’s earnings
performance,financial position, expected working capital
requirements, investment requirements, future expansion plan
and general economic condition as well as other external factors
that may have an impact on the business of the Company.
The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions and
requirements under the Bermuda law, the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. There can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 289.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of change in equity on pages 84 and 85 and note 28
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

FIXED ASSETS

Particulars of the movements in fixed assets of the Group during
the financial year are set forth in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2019 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year, the Company has completed the Convertible
Bonds Restructure. Also, some bondholders have converted
their bonds into 98,801,411 new ordinary shares of the
Company. Particulars of convertible bonds of the Company as
at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 5,935,722,991 at par value of
HK$0.001 each. In June 2019, the Company has proposed
share placing up to 1,167,380,000 new shares. As certain
conditions have not been fulfilled before the long stop date, the
share placing has not proceeded accordingly. During the year,
the Company has completed the capital reorganisation and
refreshment of general mandate, the 2019 convertible bonds
restructure, as well as the increase in authorized share capital.
Details of the above transactions are set out in the following
sections headed “Capital Reorganisation and Refreshment of
General Mandate” and ” Increase in Authorised Share Capital”
and note 28(b) in the consolidated financial statements. Some
convertible bonds of the Company were exercised during the
year.
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Capital Reorganisation and Refreshment of
General Mandate

On 18 January 2019, the Board proposed to implement the
capital reorganisation by reduction of the issued share capital of
the Company through a cancellation of the paid-up capital of
the Company to the extent of HK$0.099 on each of the issued
existing shares of the Company such that the nominal value of
each issued existing share of the Company will be reduced from
HK$0.1 to HK$0.001 (the “2019 Capital Reorganisation”). The
Board also proposed to refresh the existing general mandate
for the directors to allot, issue and deal with new shares up to
20% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
at the date of passing of such resolution at the special general
meeting.

The aforesaid proposals were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at a special general meeting of the Company held
on 27 February 2019. Details were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 18 January 2019, 27 February 2019
and 28 February 2019 as well as the circular of the Company
dated 4 February 2019. The Capital Reorganisation has become
effective on 28 February 2019.
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Increase in Authorised Share Capital

In order to allow the Company greater flexibility to
accommodate future expansion and growth of the Group, the
Company proposed to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company from HK$10,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each to HK$50,000,000 divided
into 50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each by the
creation of an additional 40,000,000,000 unissued ordinary
shares (the “Increase in Authorised Share Capital”), all of which
will rank pari passu with all existing Shares in all respects.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement and
circular respectively on 10 July 2019 and 9 August 2019. The
Convertible Bonds Restructure and the Increase in Authorised
Share Capital have been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the Company’s special general meeting on 27
August 2019 and the Increase in Authorised Share Capital was
effective on 27 August 2019.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

There was no non-exempted connected transaction entered into
by the Company during the year. The related party transactions
as disclosed in notes 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements are fully exempted connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yi Shuhao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Sheng (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Lirui (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Yu Yong (resigned as Executive Director and
Deputy Chief Executive Officer on 20 January 2020)
Mr. Wang Baozhi
Mr. Huang Zhiwei
(appointed on 20 January 2020)

Non-Executive Director:

Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng
(appointed on 2 July 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung
(resigned on 1 March 2019)
Professor Zhang Tianyu
Ms. Wong Chi Yan
(appointed on 1 March 2019)
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The service contract of Mr. Wang Baozhi as an Executive
Director was signed on 21 August 2017 for a term of three
years. The service contract for Mr. Chen Sheng as an Executive
Director was signed on 6 September 2017 for a term of three
years. The service contract of Mr. Zhang Lirui as an Executive
Director was signed on 10 July 2018 for a term of three years.
The service contract of Mr. Yi Shuhao as an Executive Director
was signed on 5 September 2018 for a term of three years. The
service contract of Mr. Huang Zhiwei as an Executive Director
was signed on 20 January 2020 for a term of three years.

The service contract of Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng as a Non-Executive
Director was signed on 2 July 2019 for a term of three years.

The service contract of Professor Zhang Tianyu as an
Independent Non-executive Director was signed on 21 August
2017 for a term of three years. The service contract of Professor
Xiao Rong Ge as an Independent Non-executive Director
was renewed for a term of three years commencing from 21
January 2019.The service contract of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an
Independent Non-Executive Director was signed on 1 March
2019 for a term of three years.

There is no specific clause in all the service contracts providing
for the amount of compensation in case of early termination.
Each Director was subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s annual general meetings in
accordance with the Bye-laws. Pursuant to Bye-law 84(1), Mr. Yi
Shuhao, Mr. Chen Sheng and Professor Zhang Tianyu shall retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to Bye-law 83 (2),
Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng and Mr. Huang Zhiwei shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and shall
be eligible for re-election.

Other than as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year, no consideration was provided to or receivable
by third party for making available the service of director or in
any other capacity while director.

The Company has received from each of its Independent
Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of its Independent Non-Executive
Directors independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST
IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors and chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange are as follows:
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Number of shares (including underlying shares)

Ro#E (BEARRG)

Personal Family
Name of Directors Interests Interests
EEnE BAER RikER
Mr. Zhang Lirui — 246,314,828
R EE (Note a)
(His¥a)
Note:

(@ Ms. Wei Hua holds 246,314,828 shares. Mr. Zhang Lirui is
Ms. Wei's spouse. Accordingly, Mr. Zhang is also taken to be
interested in 246,314,828 shares via his spouse.

Corporate
Interests

DA

Number of
underlying
shares held

under equity Approximate

derivatives % of Issued
R ARAT&E Share Capital
TE#HEZ Total {HEBTHRAK
HERDE BFf ZBHNEIH
- 246,314,828 4.15%

BfaE -

(@) B35 246,314,828 M 3R
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company nor their
associates, had any interest in long position or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company currently has one share option scheme: the 2014
Share Option Scheme.

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30 May 2014. The
2014 Share Option Scheme provides that the Board may specify
the eligible participants to whom the options shall be granted.
The eligible participants include directors, employees, suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisers of the Company
and its subsidiaries and any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. The Board shall
determine the exercise price of option in accordance with the
terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme, which cannot in any
event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules. The
maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% (i.e. 435,127,903
shares) of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
the date when the 2014 Share Option Scheme is approved and
adopted. The 2014 Share Option Scheme was effective on 4
June 2014 and will remain valid and effective for a period of 10
years from that date.
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The existing scheme mandate limit in respect of the granting of
options to subscribe for shares under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme was refreshed and renewed at the an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 September 2016.
The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% (ie. 1,385,769,378 shares)
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 19
September 2016 being the date of approval of the refreshment
of the existing scheme mandate limit. On 12 October 2016,
1,385,769,378 options have keen granted under the 2014
Share option Scheme.

During the year, no options have been granted under the
2014 Share Option Scheme. Since the exercise period of the
outstanding share options granted under 2014 share option
scheme had expired on 11 October 2019, the relevant share
options therefore lapsed automatically on the same date.
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Details of the share options granted and remained outstanding BE_T—MFERESTS - R_F—
as at 31 December 2019 under the 2014 Share Option Scheme NF+-—A=+—BEBRHmMERITHE
are as follows: BB FHIBIT

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding
at 31
December
2019
Outstanding (Note 1)
at 1 January “E-hE
2019 Lapsed  Exercised T=8
Exercise —ZE—Hh#%  duringthe  during the =t-H
Date of grant Price —RA—H year year i RATBE
Rt A TEE i RATE ERER ERfTRE (Hta£1)
HKS$
B
(*NoteT)
(*Hiiz 1)
Mr. Zhang Lirui 12 October 2016 4.799 7,148,400 (7,148,400) - -
bt “E-RETATZR
Other senior management
staff and Employees 12 October 2016 4799 7,407,399 (7,407,399) - -
HitmREEAEREER ZE-RFTATZH
Total A5 14,555,799 (14,555,799) = =

*Note1: The above share options are of an exercise price of HK$4.799 i1 EBEREZITEEAEERL.799

per share with the exercise period from 12 October 2016 to BT (TEHBE T —RFT AT
11 October 2019. Since the exercise period of the outstanding ZRAEZT-NAFETHAT—H-H
Share options had expired on 11 October 2019, the relevant R 2 B ARIT{E B IR 2 771 B
share options therefore lapsed automatically on the same ERZZE-NE+A+—BER -
date. BRANBRECHRFEBBEIRK -
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The share options granted are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The information on measurement of
the fair value of share options is set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the financial year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that every Director or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may sustain or incur in by reason of the execution of the duties
of his/he office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the
Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the
Directors.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, as far as known to the Directors, the

following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had 5% or more interests or short position

in the shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives

of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO

which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

Name of Shareholders

RREE
1. Liu Shiwei
g7
2. Guan Yuyan
B R
3. Grace Silver Limited

B AR AR

Beijing Easyhome
Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd.*

REAZRIREER

SEARAT]
Wang Linpeng
SEFRAR

Koo Yuen Kim

)k

Capacity
514

Beneficial and spouse interest
(Note (a))
BN BER

)k

(KizE(@))

Corporate and spouse interest
(Note (b))
EE R B (b))

Beneficial interest (Note (c))

Banta (FIE(0)

Corporate interest (Note (d))
EERER (H3E(d))

Corporate and spouse interest
(Note (e))
EE R B (FEEe)

Beneficial and corporate interest
(Note (f))
B lorEER ()

The English name is for identification purpose only

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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EFERR
RoB—AF+=A=+—H0 HEF
B - AR RIRIE S R DI
336 EFRMBRMAMTE - BARAE
FRAHORIN - THALRAR DR
5 FIRAHT 4 T EABBIBY) F 5%
R ERESSAR - TR SN AR E
5 R GPIEXVIE2 R3P B2AE
R EEE

RRARRB2HFR

Number of Shares/

underlying  Approximate %
Shares held of shareholding
PR/ BAER
HERGOHE Batt
1,670,515,980 28.14%
1,670,515,980 28.14%
1,305,038,799 21.99%
643,061,087 10.83%
643,061,087 10.83%
611,345,727 10.30%

* AXRBEHRSNZA



Notes:

(a)

Mr. Liu Shiwei holds 365,477,181 Shares by virtue of his personal
interest. Ms. Guan Yuyan, being Mr. Liu's spouse, has interest
of 1,305,038,799 Shares in the Company via her wholly-owned
controlled corporation namely Grace Silver Limited. Accordingly,
Mr. Liu is also taken to be interested in 1,305,038,799 Shares via
his spouse.

Ms. Guan Yuyan has deemed interest in 1,305,038,799 Shares
via her wholly-owned controlled corporation namely Grace Silver
Limited. Mr. Liu Shiwei being the spouse of Ms. Guan has interest
of 365,477,181 Shares in the Company. Accordingly, Ms. Guan is
also taken to be interested in 365,477,181 Shares via her spouse.

Grace Silver Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms.
Guan Yuyan.

China Home Hong Kong Limited is wholly-owned by Beijing
Easyhome Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Easyhome”). China Home Hong Kong Limited is directly holding
643,061,087 Shares and Beijing Easyhome Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd. is deemed to hold 643,061,087 Share through its
controlled interests in China Home Hong Kong Limited.

Beijing Easyhome is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Linpeng and his
spouse. Accordingly, Mr. Wang and his spouse are deemed to
have interest in 643,061,087 shares via Beijing Easyhome.

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim holds 595,258,945 Shares by virtue of his
personal interest and 16,086,782 Shares through his wholly-
owned controlled corporation namely Golden Eagle (Asia)
Investment Limited.

Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2019, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)

who had any interest or short position in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any
noncompliance with the Model Code during the financial year
ended 31 December 2019, and they have all confirmed their full
compliance with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30
to 45 for details.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had any
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was continued.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 39%

—  five largest suppliers totally 76%

Sales

- the largest customer 21%

- five largest customers totally 70%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above. During the year and up to the date
of this report, the Group maintained good relationship with its
major customers and suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 35 to
the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the Group's events after the reporting period are set
out in note 38 to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by CCTH CPA Limited
("CCTH"), who were appointed to fill the casual vacancy
left following the resignation of the former auditors, Messrs.
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited. CCTH, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of CCTH as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Yi Shuhao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

CCTH CPA LIMITED
PIER &S HERAE]

(.

To the shareholders of Bay Area Gold Group Limited
(formerly known as Munsun Capital Group Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bay
Area Gold Group Limited (formerly known as Munsun Capital
Group Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 288, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates the losses incurred of approximately
HK$631,332,000 and HK$466,335,000 for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively, and the extent
of net current liabilities of approximately HK$2,527,020,000
as at 31 December 2019. These conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In light
of all the measures and arrangements detailed in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group will be able to finance its future working
capital and financial requirements. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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(a)

Impairment assessment on mining rights and mining
structures relating to the gold mining operations

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of the
Group's mining rights and mining structures relating to
the gold mining operations amounted to approximately
HK$5,811 million and HK$4,051 million respectively,
details of which are disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

With reference to the financial performance and
unfavourable market condition noted for the gold mining
operations, management of the Group considered that
indication of impairment of certain mining rights and
mining structures of the Group existed as at 31 December
2019. Accordingly, the management assessed the
impairment of the mining rights and mining structures by
comparing the recoverable amount of cash-generating unit
of the gold mining operation with their carrying amounts
at the end of the reporting period. The recoverable
amount was determined with reference to the value in
use of the cash-generating unit, a suitable discount rate,
growth rates and expected changes in selling prices and
direct costs in order to calculate the present value.

Based on the impairment assessments, the management
concluded that no impairment loss is required to be made
against the Group’s mining rights and mining structures
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

We identified the impairment assessment of mining
rights and mining structures relating to the gold mining
operation as a key audit matter due to the significant
judgements and estimations are required by the
management in assessing the impairment of mining
rights and mining structures and the significance of their
carrying amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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&

(b)

VRBETHRES

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the impairment
assessment on mining rights and mining structures relating
to the gold mining operations included:

J Understanding the key controls relating to the
impairment assessment process used by the
management including the value in use calculation;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the input data of
the cash flow forecast by comparing the historical
financial forecast against the actual performance of
the cash-generating unit;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions
made by the management in determining the value
in use of the mining rights and mining structures
relating to the gold mining operations, including
suitable discount rate, growth rates and expected
changes in selling prices and direct costs; and

o Evaluating management assessment on the potential
impact on the value in use calculations by the
reasonably possible changes on growth rates and
discount rate.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of goodwill of the Group
is HK$7,225,000 at 31 December 2019 and impairment
loss on goodwill amounted to HK$273,893,000 was
recognised in the Group’s profit or loss in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2019.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

(b)

BENEZNRIZERESL TR

ZEBNEEHEEBNRE
%&%E&Tﬁ EYREFTENEFE
1

o  THREEEMERMBERG
BF (BREEREENE) W
FERE A -

° §$Efﬁﬂimu§i§\ ﬁ'J%ﬁu)\%(TJfE’J
BBY - FIEARLLERE L
FERAERESEABMERE
I

s HEEEERETEHEEH
REFBH IR M IRBBEY
E’Jﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬂ/ﬂﬁj‘“( B

EMREIRE  BRERULE
F&E&WZKTEH}%“@J) GOk
B R

. FEEEEABERERER
E AR ED L BEES
B EER BT -

B R E R

BANARE TSR M FE 13 AT IR ER -
RZZE-NF+=ZA=+—H &
SEMEMNIRABEA7,225,000%
JC v M&%4273,893,0007 TH)
HMEBREBER ESEHEEZE_-F
—NWE+ZA=+—HILFEMNIE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Determining the amount of impairment for goodwill
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount,
which is the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
is determined based on the cash flow projections for
the cash generating units and requires the estimation
of key assumptions, including expected growth rate in
revenue and timing of future expenditures and selection
of discount rates in order to calculate the present value.
Impairment of goodwill is calculated by comparing the
recoverable amount of cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated and the carrying value of the
cash-generating units at the end of the reporting period.

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to the amount of goodwill
and judgements and estimations in the preparation of
cash flows projections and the adoption of various key
assumptions.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill included:

o Understanding the management’s process relating
to the preparation of the cash flow projections and
impairment assessment;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the cash flow
projections by comparing the historical financial
projections, where appropriate, against actual
performance;

e Analysing the reasonableness of the assumptions
made by the management in determining the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated, including expected growth rate
in revenue and timing of future expenditures and
selection of discount rates; and

o Performing sensitivity analysis on the assumptions
made by the management in determining the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated, including expected growth rate
in revenue and timing of future expenditures and
selection of discount rates.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unqualified opinion to those consolidated financial
statements on 29 March 2019.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2020

Lee Chi Hang

Practising certificate number: P01957

Unit 5-6, 7/F, Greenfield Tower,
Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= = 32
melEEK
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-NFT+=-A= HIEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA/ L5 7R )

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net gain

Impairment loss on goodwill
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs
Share of profit of an associate

Loss before tax
Income tax credit/(expenses)

Loss for the year attributable to

owners of the Company

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes

B aE
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2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,040,044 813,901
(868,701) (587,769)
171,343 226,132
3,291 18,157
1,943 2,225
(273,893) -
(10,537) (12,255)
(183,162) (154,091)
(291,015) 80,168
(366,355) (538,212)
1,944 2,039
(655,426) (456,005)
24,094 (10,330)
(631,332) (466,335)
HK cents HK cents
JEML JBN
(10.78) (20.40)
(10.78) (20.40)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REHMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
expense for the year

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences

on translation of foreign operations

Item that will not be reclassified

to profit or loss:

Fair value gain on investments in
equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"), net of tax

Total comprehensive expense
for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

bs! 2S
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NEFTZA=ZT—HIEEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA&TTHI7R )

2019 2018
—B—hE —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
FEBE (631,332) (466,335)
FEHMEZE
(553
REGEEF 7 HHE
B HE -
MEBINEBEEZ
PE 5 ZE R (91,648) (290,990)
BTEETIEE
HBmoEA -
FREMEERE
BAFENR
(MEBEMEERE
BAFENER] 2
RATEEZEZ
NEERZ - BREE 18,267 29,408
(73,381) (261,582)
AAREEANEEFEE
2HEMAXHAE
(704,713) (727,917)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B BARR &R
As at 31 December 2019
A_E-NF+-_A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA/&7T517R)

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Fixed assets

Right-of-use assets

Deposits paid for gold mining
rights and exploration rights

Investments in equity instruments
at FVTOCI

Investment in an associate
Trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits
and prepayments
Pledged deposits
Deposits paid for fixed assets
Other deposits

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Pledged deposits

Client trust bank balances

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Convertible bonds

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

FRBEE

mAE

ETEE
FREEE

L TEERTEAE &
REERTfRS
FEBEMEEREIR
NEENER 2 A
TAKE
REERR 2 RE
FEUERT « BER K
H b s
%e R FA
EIIRFR
RETEEEMTZS
Hibize

FRBEERE

RBEE

8
YRR - B K
HoAth FEURRIR
e MIANFKIA
R EEEZN
BEPEtiRITARR
e MRTTHEH

RBEERE

RBRE
FER AR

H At fE 5008
BRAE
RITREAMER
TEERMTA
AHRRIE
HERE
TR

RBEEAE

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes

B aE

13
14
14

15

16
17

19
21

18

19
21
22
22

23
23
24
25
25
26

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
5,860,716 6,279,604
5,032,015 5,056,737
39,731 -
142,088 144,666
293,964 280,166
12,241 10,501
111,880 109,532
44,752 45,564
87,853 87,787
1,006 10,536
11,626,246 12,025,093
137,688 197,023
259,720 320,092
61,534 56,955
2,355 2,947
68,473 80,971
529,770 657,988
945,586 751,596
38,698 29,237
2,063,686 2,231,387
— 216

— 329,946

4,166 -
4,654 17,840
3,056,790 3,360,222
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Net current liabilities

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RBEEFE

Total assets less current liabilities BREERRBERE

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Convertible bonds

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

FRBEE
RITREAMER
TEERMITA
AR E SR
HERE
EERIARE

FRBRERE
EERE
RA R f#
LN

1

RRBFER AL
RSB

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 288 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Yi Shuhao
SHERE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

FERTTEAREL

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

mE M BAR R &
As at 31 Dece[nberzow

Z-NF+-A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&7T517R)

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mo FETT FET
(2,527,020) (2,702,234)

9,099,226 9,322,859

24 1,177,603 1,017,804
25 55,802 -
25 272,391 -
26 3,570 -
27(a) 558,576 580,227
2,067,942 1,598,031

7,031,284 7,724,828

28(b) 5,936 583,692
7,025,348 7,141,136

7,031,284 7,724,828
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Mr. Zhang Lirui
RAH KL

Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-T-NE+-A-+—ALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA/ L5 7R )

0
reserves
st Accum
Share Share  Contributed ~ Statutory  2EH& Capital ~ Exchange [ated Total
capital ~ premium surplus reserves BAVE reserve reserve losses equity

B&  KhEE EdEn HERE HE L Enif EXiE ZitER ERAE

HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000

7A7 747 741 -2 7A7 FAT 741 -2 747
(note 28 (note 28 (note 28 (note 28 (note 28 (note 28 (note 28
(o) (0 () (G100 (0w () (i) (q) i) (c) i)
(HizEa8(t) (Bishas (K8 (K8 (Hias (K8 (K28
(o) (o) (i) ()i (a)i) (a)i)

At 1 January 2019 H-%-1E-A-A 583,692 128,663 1219339 15121 29,408 30348 (283,862) (194031) 7724828
Changes n equiy for 2019; ik
Loss for he year ERER = = = = - - - (63133) (631,332
Other comprehensive expense EREHZERY

forthe year - - - - 18,267 - (91,648) - (73381)
Total compreensive expense ERRERLAE

forthe year - - - - 18,267 - (01,648) (631,332) (104.713)
Captta reorganisaton (note 28] ErEg (i) (577,855) = 577,855 = = = = = =
Shaes ssued upon conversion EATARER

of convertble bonds B 9 11070 = = = = = = 11,169
Lapse ofshare options ERELR = = - - - (30,348) - 3038 -
Appropriation ofsafey producton fund R 2£EES = = = 5,044 = = = (5,084) =
Utlisaton of safety production fnd BB 2 £E RS - = = (13%) = = = 135 =
Appropriaton ofstatutory reserves — BffiEEEE = = = 448 = = = (4482) =
At 31 December 2019 “E3-AETZAZ1-R 5936 139733 1,857,194 159,442 47,675 - (3755100 (1403,186) 7,031,284

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated F89FF 2888 L M BAL A MR
financial statements. RZ—BD o

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BET-NF+ZA=+—HLEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A7 TL317R)

Aol
TESErVes
iyt Accumu-
Share Share Contributed Statutory 2ENE Capital Bichange lated Total
capitl premium surplus Teserves BATE Teserve Tesere losses equty

ke REE  EEER  ARBE  GRRE  ArBE 0 ERBE 0 ZoER EReE

500 HS0w 000 S0 S0 S0 00 S0 S0

Fér FAr 7 FAT Fér . Fér Fér Fér
(note 28 note 28 (note 28 (note 28 note 28 note 28 (note 28
(o) ) am ) o) (o) i
(F280) (8 (28 (k28 (F228 (28 (28
(olo) o) (o) (o) (o) (i)

At1 January 2018 WE-NE-5-A 1,731,240 - 5,611,589 147,057 - 95,511 118 (388645 7209880
Changes in equity for 2018; “3-\E2RERY:
Loss for he year rEEEE - - - - - - S e (dee33)
Other comprehensive expense ERER2ERY

forthe year - - - - 29408 - (290990) - (261582)
Total comprehensiie EmRARR AR

expense for the year - - - - 29408 - (200990 (466335)  (27917)
Captel reorgeniseton rote 28 (b))~ E7RZ4E (T 2800 (1,667750) - 1661750 - - - - - _
lsue of news shares by share placng. ~ BERHEEEHRA

(note 28 o) (k28 i) 1385 144508 - - - - - - 156,403
Transaction osts forssue of ew —— EARAEER

shares under by sare plcing R ARA

(note 28 i) (28 i) = (3,126) = - = = = - (3,126
lsue of new shres under BEERETRA

Rights sue (note 28 b)) (5228 (o)) 500,307 600,369 = = = = = - 1100676
Transacton costfor issue of new REMRETRAE

shares Under Rightslsue REHA

(note 28 ol (28 () = (13,088) = = . i - ¥ (13,088)
Lapse of share options EREXN = - - = - (65,163) = 65,163 i
Anpropraton ofsafty EfizaEEs

production fund = > - 5,551 - - 5 (5,557) -
Utlisation ofsafety BRZAEEES

production fund = - - 2523 = - & 253 =
Appropriaton of ANERRRGRE

statutory Surpus esene = = = 1,186 5 - & (1,186) -
At31 December 2018 H-Z-NF

F=A=1-H 583,692 728663 7219339 151,271 29408 30388 (283862) (94031) 7724828

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated F89FF288H LM BALE M
financial statements. RZ—ED o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN o~ — 1
mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Hz-% A=+—BILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA/ L5 7R )

LA

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation and amortisation
of fixed assets

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

Finance costs

Interest income

Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment loss on trade and
other receivables

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Gain on termination of lease

Share of profit of an associate

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade, loans

and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Decrease in client trust
bank balances
Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables

Cash generated from operations

Tax paid
— PRC income tax paid

Net cash flows from
operating activities

KeEE
RIRATE R
HE
B AESR
BEEETER
B
EREEENE

MBRA
MEHA
BAFERARS
ZEMEE
ZBBMA
AERE
FEMRR M ALt R MR
REEE
HEETEECER
RIFEE R
AMEBE R R A
ZEERE
TR/ (Em)
FEUCRTR -

BN H YRR -

BE RANTR
W/ (E1n)
RPERRITAERAD

FER RN R AR
FoEEm,/ ORd)

ReRBELZRE

ENFHER
— ENPEREH

RRRELED 2
RERFHE

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-)\%F

Notes HKS$’000 HK$"000
Bt FET FET
(655,426) (456,005)

7(0), 13 96,843 86,914
7(0), 14 89,967 110,763
14 9,043 -
7(a) 366,355 538,212
6 (1,343) (15,669)

- (986)

13 273,893 -
7(0) 10,423 -
6 126 572
(509) -

(1,944) (2,039)

56,333 (29,652)

40,583 (36,898)

592 1,085

108,705 (13,446)

393,641 182,851

- (4,607)

393,641 178,244
F89FF288H Z B AL A MR

RLZ—EBD °



Investing activities
Payment for purchase
of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal
of fixed assets
Payment for purchase
of intangible assets
Decrease in other
non-current deposits
(Increase)/decrease in deposits
paid for fixed assets
Dividend received from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Interest received
Increase in restricted deposits

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2';?_— A L= =

o2 g =1 IE@/)ILE%E
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-Z-NFTZA=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA&TTHI7R )

2019 2018
“E-NF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Lk FET FET
REEH
BEETEENR
14 (194,181) (127,025)
HEE T EEMEHE
- 902
BABRFEENRK
13 = (16,377)
HiFEmEh e R
9,430 2,712
RETEELNz&RE
(gm)/ o (1,645) 868
BAFERA
BaceREE
2 B S = 986
RGN 1,343 20,382
XA EEEREM (4,846) (32,972)
REZHMAZ
ReRFE (189,899) (150,524)

FEBIEFE 288 A Z M B AR A W5
RLZ—BED ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN o~ — 1
mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE_T-NE+A=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA/ L5 7R )

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of new shares
by share placement

Transaction costs for issue of
new shares by share placing

Proceeds from issue of new shares
under Rights Issue

Transaction costs for issue of new
shares under Rights Issue

Payment for the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure

Payment for the 2021 Convertible
Bonds Restructure

Net proceeds from new bank and
other borrowings

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Repayment of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss
(Increase)/decrease in pledged
deposits
Finance costs paid
Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash flows used in
from financing activities

Net decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at 1 January

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December

MEEE
DA B & TR D
Z FRS50R
AR B & BATRIRD
KX SRR
RBHACETHAD
iS58
REHEBREITHRINE
T \FABRBES
BREMK
—E-—FUBRES
EEENEN
HERITRAMERZ
FISsIREER
EEFITREMER
ERBBERRATE
Nz emals
BEAFR (B0 W

BB
EBREERE

MEEBFAZ
RERFE

RERBEEEY

R—B—-BRERER
REZEN

EXSHoTE

Rt=A=+-B2
RERATEEYN

The notes on pages 89 to 288 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

RZ—HBD ©

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-)\%F

Notes HKS$’000 HK$"000

Bt FET FET
39(h)

28(b)i) - 158,403

28(b)i) - (3,126)

28(b)iv) - 339,999

28(b)(iv) - (13,088)

25(ii) - (83,421)

25(iv) (2,077) -

39(b) 438,851 2,234,903

39(b) (447,243) (1,756,388)

39(b) - (962,295)

(5,645) 491,441

39(h) (195,076) (520,408)

39(b) (8,526) -

(219,716) (113,980)

(15,974) (86,260)

47,999 142,039

(738) (7,780)

22 31,287 47,999

£ 89E 5288 Y M B AL A B3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Bay Area Gold Group Limited (formerly known as
Munsun Capital Group Limited) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its registered
office and principal place of business are disclosed in the
corporate information section of the annual report. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in mining and processing of gold
ores and sale of gold products in The People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), trading of metals and minerals in the
PRC, and provision of financial services business in Hong
Kong and the PRC, including asset management, securities
brokerage, financing and advisory services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting year of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
provides information on any significant changes in
accounting policies resulting from the initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting years
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

—REH

BREcEBEARAR(AIHERE
AEBERRR) ([ARA]) /—
BN SHESEMAZIL N ARE
FE2BRAR - HaEfMEmEM
iR F BERMHBNAFRARE
H—EPRE - ARFREMBA
Al (M AEHE]) TBZRFEA
REME ([HE]) ESmwFR -
MIMEEEMBEE  RTPERES
TBMBE  ARERBRBER
SRECBRGES  BREES
2 BHERL - BENERRE o

REMBHRR 2 mBUEE

REVBRRERRMEERZE
BUBREED ([FEYBRELE
A1) (ZARSEEmE B G5
~g([FEEEFMAS]) Bz
PrEERER 2 (B EWEREE
) - (FAGHER) ([BFEER

R ]) kB REE ARG R
MiER - MEPHRERTETEEL
(REUEBD EVERWERK - 74
MBRRAFTEEEHER B
BRAR ([B2FT)) Ex EmARA
(T ERAD) FERHERE

BEEMABRERMEZEE RN
BT FEAERAEREERAR
A A ER AR 2 FR] MRIERT 2 &
BUBREER - SR MBERKRM
H3EFIER R ED RS B
KPR Z NEEIRITRIAE
S EERBIERMEBZEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have considered the
future liquidity of the Group. The Group incurred a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$466,335,000 and HK$631,332,000 for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 respectively, and
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$2,527,020,000 as at 31 December 2019. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast a significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Nevertheless, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to finance its future working capital and financial
requirements given that:

(i)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group has been granted new bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$11 million. The
directors of the Company are also confident that the
Group will be able to obtain the renewal of bank
and other borrowings due in the foreseeable future
taking into account of the proven records of renewal
of the bank and other borrowings in past years
together with the good and continuous relationship
between relevant banks/borrowers with the Group.

(i) As detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, the 2021 Convertible Bonds Restructure
was approved by the bondholders and by the
shareholders of the Company on 1 August 2019
and 27 August 2019 respectively. The maturity
of the 2021 Convertible Bonds extends to 30
September 2021. The directors of the Company are
considering various alternatives, including but not
limited to the restructuring of certain current due
loans to long term loans and other capital raising
activities, to support its working capital needs, in
which certain creditors have signed memorandum of
understanding with the Group for the restructuring
of respective current due loans.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

REVBHRR 2 EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

A substantial shareholder of the Company, Mr. Liu
Shiwei, has agreed to provide continuing financial
support as necessary to enable the Group to meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.

Based on a cash flow forecast prepared by the
Group's management for the twelve months after
the end of the reporting period on the basis that
bank and other borrowings due within the next
twelve months will be further extended beyond this
period, the Group will be able to generate adequate
cash flows from its continuing operations and to
obtain sufficient fundings to meet the debts of the
Group as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.

Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the

opinion that it is appropriate to prepare of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December

2019 on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial

statements have not reflected any effects of adjustments

if the Group was unable to continue to operate as a going

concern.

REMBHRRmBUEE

(a5
(%)

(iiy ARAREFBREMLTEICLER
AERNERERRSREFRE
IR - BAKEEENE
RARAKEIBHZBE -

(iv) ERAREEEEREZBE
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Al WERARR+ —EARE
M2 RIT R EMEERE—
EREUIFE 2SN REBK
AREFBEEHEERELR
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T WENAKER A RARE
B2 BT ©

At - RABEEZRREFELE
EERRBE_T-NF+ A=
THLEFEZEAMBHRRIE
B8 - MARBEREZFELEE
RERRLE  FAVBHRRALER
RAZFEMRHEZTE -

bl
]
il
Ik
A A
&
= @t

g ol

7
5

91



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) = Int 23

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial position and
financial performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in

the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) - Int 4
“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the
Group has not reassessed contracts which already existed
prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease
in accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16
in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening accumulated
losses and comparative information has not been restated.

3.

ERF T REIETE BT
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B (AR BRERBZE®) -2
BEARBEELHREEEEE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

94

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis,
to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;

i.  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-
of-use assets at the date of initial application;

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with a similar remaining terms for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.
Specifically, discount rate for certain leases of
properties in the PRC/properties in Hong Kong was
determined on a portfolio basis; and

iv.  used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group's leases with extension and
termination options.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 5.375%.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S TTFI7R + Br B A FTHEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. FEAHIIRKBITEEBHME

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEED ((FENHEREE
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued) ] 1) (@)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued) EEMEREERE 165518
g1
As a lessee (continued) TERATANA (B)
At 1 January
2019
R=Z—h%F
—RA—H
HK$’000
FAET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as RZZE—N\F
at 31 December 2018 +=—A=+—8”
REE 2 THE AR 33,371
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental ¥ 1B R R AL 18 R =R
borrowing rate FrRERNEEAE 28,905
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases o HERER - EHHEE (3,898)
Lease liabilities relating to operating RER BB BREZER
leases recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 F16RIFERZ
BRAKEEER
HEaE 25,007
Analysed as AT
Current e 4,715
Non-current IERB 20,292
25,007
EEESEEARADA
—TE-NLEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B I AR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA L3R + B SHFTIEIN)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January

FE FARTE] RAUSR] B B #%
WmERED (EBMBREE
]1) &)
BBMBRELAE 16551
'l

(EBFHA (1)
R-Z-NF—A—AWERRE

2019 comprises the following: ERAEBRENT :
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
HK$ 000
TET
Right-of-use assets relating to RE R ERE B SRS R
operating leases recognised upon F165Ra D ERKETHE
initial application of HKFRS 16 BEMEEELSE 25,007
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments B EEBENHEERE 33,504
58,511
By class: LR
Leasehold land HEE+H 33,504
Office properties ENJES 25,007
58,511

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not
affected by the changes have not been included.

Note
(i3
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Prepaid lease payments TENHAERIR (@)
Lease liabilities - current HEAE - NE

Lease liabilities - non-current HEEE - ERD

Note:

(@  Upfront payments for leasehold land in the PRC were
classified under fixed assets as at 31 December 2018.
Upon initial application of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019,
these upfront payments with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$33,504,000 were reclassified to right-of-
use assets.

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under the indirect method for the year ended 31
December 2019, movements in working capital have been
computed based on the opening balances as at 1 January
2019 recorded in the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position as disclosed above.

FERFIREBETE B
HEL (BB EREE

Al ) &)

BBV HREEDE 1655

=8l¢))

HEBRTA ()

UH-T—NGE—A—BREAUE

HRERRNSEETUTHARE -

KT E N EMTHIER R BIEE

WO

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at Impacts of ~ HKFRS 16 at
31 December adopting 1 January
2018 HKFRS 16 2019
RZB-1#F

N-E— N\ -A-A
+-A=+-B RELHE ESUMBEE
GH2H2E  #Ee8 BASGHT

HE F16HFE 2 EfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

TET TET TET
- 58,511 58,511
33,504 (33,504) -
- 4,715 4,715
- 20,292 20,292

B&E

@ MRZE—NF+ZA=1+—H &
FEMBEE T ENRSEREE
BE - RN-_E—HhF—H—BY
RERBEBMERELERE 165
1% - BRMEI{E%Y33,504,00078 70K
NREMDEREAREE -

REBE—T-NF+-_A=t—H
I FEREBERZENZZREETED
MREREMS  £EECEHT)
RIE EXEBENAEESE PR
ARFAHER_T—NF—A—H
SR E -

BEEESEEARARA
—E-NAEER

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME o

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.
98 BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA LFIR * B BB FTHEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3.

ER#H T REIETE BB
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EEMmEERERZFTR
RIZFT BB EREER (8)

Bk DA R] RS ERT B AT RS
RGN R T NFROEERT
IS mEBSIESR - EMEEERT -
IR BBV BHRE LT EE RS
BRI ERT BN _F_FF
—A—HRazERBzZFEHRE
R e

BR TSP #a] RARIER] BB B 7
WEELIN  ARREEEY 1
A AR A H A 3R] R A8
AIABMBREENEITIEHEE
IEBRRBREATE -

JIEE
El
hi
Ik
AW
)
= at

# ool

# B
5

99



100

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements” and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures” deal with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method, are recognised
in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the
remeasurement of investments retained in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value
are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgments. In particular, the
amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to omitting
or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

J include the use of the phrase "primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding what
information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application
of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on
rights and a new liability definition that is likely to
be broader than the definition it replaces, but does
not change the distinction between a liability and an
equity instrument;

° discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or expenses
that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined financial
statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the
New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred
to the previous versions of the framework. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application permitted.
Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely on
the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events
or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS
17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquire (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at
fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Gooawill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (“CGU") (or groups of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or groups of
CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or groups of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

(i) Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the
mines, in accordance with the production plans of
the mines concerned, by using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proven and probable reserves of
the gold mines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

(i)

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights and assets are stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Exploration rights and assets
include the cost of acquiring exploration rights and
exploration and evaluation costs, which include
the costs of topographical and geological surveys,
exploratory drilling, sampling and trenching and
activities in relation to commercial and technical
feasibility studies.

Exploration and evaluation costs also include
expenditure incurred to secure further mineralisation
in existing ore bodies as well as in new areas of
interest. Expenditure incurred prior to accruing legal
rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an
exploration property is capable of commercial
production, exploration and evaluation costs
capitalised are transferred to either mining structures
or mining rights and are depreciated/ amortised by
the unit of production method based on the proved
and probable mineral reserves. Costs incurred for
exploration which can be directly attributable to the
development of mining structures are transferred to
mining structures when the exploration reaches the
stage of commercial production. All other costs will
be transferred to mining rights. Exploration rights
and assets are written off to profit or loss if the
exploration property is abandoned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

(i)~ Trading right
The trading right at the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Limited is recognised as intangible assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. It
has indefinite useful life and is tested annually for
impairment. The trading right is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets, other than construction in progress, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of the fixed assets are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fixed assets (continued)

Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any
lump sum upfront payments) are allocated between
the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception
of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as interests in
leasehold land held for own use under operating leases
and included in fixed assets in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

The cost of self-constructed items of fixed assets includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the cost of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located,
and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
and borrowings costs.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of fixed assets are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on
the date of retirement or disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets, other than mining structures, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

- Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
- Motor vehicles 4 - 8 years
- Office equipment, fixtures 3 -5 years

and fittings

Depreciation of mining structures is provided to write off
the cost of the mining structures. The mining structures
are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the
mines, in accordance with the production plans of the
mines concerned, by using the unit of production method
based on the actual production volume over the estimated
total proven and probable reserves of the gold mines.

Where parts of an item of fixed assets have different useful
lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fixed assets (continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, mining
structures and plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production or for its own use purposes.
Construction in progress is stated at cost less any identified
impairment loss. Cost comprises construction expenditure
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
fund during the period of construction and other direct
costs attributable to such projects, if the amount of
capital expenditures and the time involved to complete
the construction are significant. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of fixed assets
when completed and ready for its intended use.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress until it is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

FESTEE (&)

HE (@)

AREBEETN (RIEH I BRI
BB ERE 16551%) (48)

EHREE
EREEEZRANEEE

HEBBENYLESRRE

o IR BB 2 B ST RO AR
MERR - B A PTG RO AR
HEHBTHE

o AKBEANEANTEEK
ZANE4

o  AEEIFRENBREBEE
BIRERE EMME A 1E R
BEREZHE GRS MRIEPT
5 TE B0 AR BB P EE A RO B ET A
o BERFRATIREES
EmMEL -

& AEEERRAREEMRET
ERRERBRETHE  UHHEE
BREZEMNEHMABELRE -

HRASE RS ERTEEEE G
RERGHBEEEEEMERZE
REEE BRBANEERS
HRABAFE - BRI EREE
ERZAHERSH REEHNME
RZBRENBRENE -

AEBERERREEERERRR
REFEMBERRAKRFZS

¥
m
il
Ik
A
i)
= at

g ol

7
5

11



118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

J the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

()

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

- land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of a
building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, is accounted for as being held under
a finance lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time
that the lease was first entered into by the
Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged as
expenses in the reporting period in which they are
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on fixed assets, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its fixed assets, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of fixed assets, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on fixed assets, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All reqular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group'’s ordinary course of business are presented as other
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& 7517~

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T317R -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For financial
instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other income
line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRE L E L S

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABTTSIR + B S EFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade, loans and other receivables, deposits,
pledged deposits, client trust bank balances and cash
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& 7517~

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory or economic environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Detfinition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit and loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component
Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where
the number of shares that would be issued on
conversion and the value of consideration that would
be received at that time do not vary, are accounted
for as compound financial instruments which contain
both a liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition, the liability component of
the convertible bonds is measured as the present
value of the future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable
at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities
that do not have a conversion option. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as
the liabilities component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a convertible financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

()

(i)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component
(continued)

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible bond
equity reserve until either the convertible bond is
converted or redeemed.

If the bond is converted, the convertible bond equity
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the share issued. If the bond is
redeemed, the relevant convertible bond equity
reserve is released directly to accumulated losses.

Other convertible bonds
Convertible bonds which do not contain an equity
component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition, the derivative component of
the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the liability and derivative components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The
portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of
the liability. The portion relating to the derivative
component is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

(ii)

Other convertible bonds (continued)

The derivative component is subsequently
remeasured. The liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. The interest expense
recognised in profit or loss on the liability component
is calculated using the effective interest method.

If the bond is converted, the carrying amounts of the
derivative and liability components are transferred
to share capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the bond is redeemed,
any difference between the amount paid and the
carrying amounts of both components is recognised
in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised

at fair value on the date of grant and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The gain or loss on remeasurement to the fair
value of derivative financial instruments is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T317R -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investment in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes
in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BHRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABTTSIR + B S EFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investment in associate (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABITSIR + B 5B FTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any writedown of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the writedown or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any writedown of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in share option reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year under review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the share option reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to accumulated losses).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in a subsidiary and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 "Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for land
rehabilitation are based on estimates of required
expenditure at the mines in accordance with the PRC
rules and regulations. The Group estimates its liabilities for
final rehabilitation and mine closure based upon detailed
calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work. Spending
estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale of gold products and other by-products, trading of
metals and minerals

Revenue from the sale of gold products and other
by-products, and trading of metals and minerals is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
gold products, metals and minerals.

Services rendered

Revenue for services rendered mainly includes the
revenue arising from the provision of management and
performance services, securities brokerage and commission
and financing and advisory services, which are recognised
over time when services are rendered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Translation of foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABITSIR + B 5B FTIEIN)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESFHBER (8)

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred, except to the extent that
they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group'’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA/&7TI7R -

R ABFTIESM)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& 7517~

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information and are reported
to the Company’s directors, i.e., the chief operating
decision-maker, for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Revenue

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated bA;

Revenue represents (i) sales value of gold products and
other by-products to customers (net of value added
tax, returns and discounts) under the Gold Mining
Operation (as defined below); (i) sales value of metals
and minerals sold to customers (net of value added tax,
returns and discounts) under the Trading of Metals and
Minerals (as defined below); and (iii) management and
performance fees, securities commission and brokerage
fee and interest income recognised under the Financial

Services Operation (as defined below).

the year is analysed as follows:

Revenue from contracts with
customers arising from
Gold Mining Operation

Sale of

— Gold products

— Other by-products

Revenue from contracts with
customers arising from Trading
of Metals and Minerals

—Sale of metals and minerals

Revenue from contracts with
customers arising from
Financial Services Operation

— Income from management

services and brokerage
services rendered

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Sale of gold products, other
by-products, metals and minerals
transferred at point in time

Services transferred over time

The revenue for
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B I AR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

Performance obligation
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sales of gold products and other by-products
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods.

Sales of metals and minerals
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods.

Management services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon services
are rendered.

Brokerage services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon services
are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

s K2 EER (@)

(b) Segment Information (b) DEBE

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has three reportable operating segments
as follows:

(i) mining and processing of gold ores and sales of
gold products and other by-products (the “Gold
Mining Operation”);

(i) purchase and sales of metals and minerals (the
“Trading of Metals and Minerals”); and

(iii)  provision of financial services including asset
management, securities brokerage, financing
and advisory services (the “Financial Services
Operation”).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss
before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit or loss
before tax except that interest income and finance
costs are excluded from such measurement.

All assets are allocated to reporting operating
segments.

Segment liabilities exclude bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and their related
derivative financial instruments and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

More than 90% of the Group’s revenue was derived
from activities in the PRC and its principal assets
were located in the PRC during the reporting period.
Accordingly, no analysis by geographical information
is provided.

AREEBNME @ ARERE
HEm MARTS - AABEEME
7 - WHEBLAT =B HE L

B

() =@HEKX NMIEkES
B o Mo B Al Bl B dn 2 85
& ([2BERARERD)

(i) BENHESENMEE
(lEBMEEES])
K

(i) REEBRHBER - &
RRHEEEEE  &BF
R - BE MEARS
([ BIRFBEB])

EEBEIAREZLEED
EEORTEEBETEIRD L
FEHEE KRR - D ERARR
IRAI RS D BN B S R TT
Al - % BN A S B
R AR MBS © KB
B 250 B8 M| X S 18 B AN SR (B 6
BREL B M Sk B BT & — 3K
B B A B2 B 5 PR AR N Ut

e

PIEEENDEERRERLE

EB

DEFBBENBERIT REME
B AHRRES R EAREITE
ERMTEAREMRDERF]
BfE ARRFREUERETR
AEE -

RBEMA - AEEBEB
0% 2 WHEEBREFEZ
A MEXTBEEMRT
o Fitt - W H IR E R
DA

bl
]
il
Ik
A A
&
= @t

g ol

=
1>

g



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LR E AL
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaRkoHER #)
(continued)
(b) Segment Information (continued) (b) DEBEE (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue RNEBILZAIIRE 9 289 8K
and results by reportable segments: ARZEEN DT -
For the year ended 31 December 2019 For the year ended 31 December 2018
BEZZ-NET2ACT-ALER BE_R-N\ETZA=T-DLER
Gold  Tradingof  Financial Inter- Gold  Tradingof  Financial Inter-
Mining ~ Metalsand ~ Services  segment Mining ~ Metals and Senices  seqment
Operation ~ Minerals ~ Operation elimination Operation Mingrals - Operation —— elimination

R 4ER g8 258 Consolidated i 28R 28 288 Comsolidated
RREE  REER  REER fis B FRER BEER B L 2
HKSO00  HKS'O00  HKSTO00  HKSTO0  HKSODD  KKSODD  HKSOO0 MKSOO0 AKSODD HKSTOMD

fér T fE T fER TET TR TET fET TEn

Segment revenue ARUA

- Bxtemal s3les - e ] 8 8,048 — 0008 B 114003 19,067 - 8B
- Interseqment sales -~ AFEEE 335 = = (3359) = - - - - -
W6 8B 8,048 (33%) 10008 68081 114003 19,067 - BB
Seqment (oss)/profit A (EE)/&A 5672 1882 (297,969) (00418 7637 B (10060 66,538
Reconcliaton: B
Interest income FlEMA 138 15,669
Finance cost ij o (366,355) (538212)
Loss hefore tax hHAER (655426) (456,003)

Other segment EhaHEn

information
Caplta expenditure -us 185420 = = - 150 13I8 = 60 - 13I8
Depreciaion and fEREE

amortisation 195,454 - 399 - 195,853 196,675 - 1,002 - 197,677
Impaiment loss on BEREER

goodwl - - 273893 - 3893 ¥ E 5 = =
Shre of profit of AMi-figE

an assodiate Dl = = 1,944 = 1,944 = = 2039 - 2,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

(b) Segment Information (continued) Y
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and REBZAIREDHE D E
liabilities by reportable segments: ERBENSMHINT
At 31 December 2019 At 31 December 2018
RZB-NEtZA=1-H RZE-N\ETZR=T-H
Gold  Tradingof  Financial Gold  Trading of Financial
Mining ~ metals and Services Mining  metals and Services
Operation minerals  Operation Total  Operation minerals  Operation Total
SIRAR ER/R &/ SBRR 2BR &
% BEER  BEEE &5t 5% BEER  BBER 3t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FEn FEr FEn FEr TET AT AT AT
Segmentassetsand A HEEREESH
total assets 11672411 - 483,605 12,156,016 11,940,509 - 742572 12,683,081
Segment liabilities ~ AHEE 1,460,001 = 95249 1555250 1328626 - 50274 1378900
Recondiliation: R
Coporateandother ~ AFAREMANEERE
unallocated liabilties 3,569,482 3,579,353
Total labilities BfEadt 5,124,732 4,958,253

Revenues from customers contributing 10% or more
of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

KEBRIAEEAWZE10%
U EZREZUWESINT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A — Note()) RER - F) 217,798 196,626
Customer B — Note(ii) BFEZ — Mz i) 161,780 124,310
Customer C — Note(iii) BPER — MFE) 129,115  NA(R@EMA)*
Customer D — Note(iv) BET — aEv) 109,798  N/A(RiEMm) *
Customer E — Note(ii) K — B s 106,359 95,399
Customer F — Note(v) BEC — Kisv) N/A(RER) * 82,056
EEZLEBERAQA
—E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA/&7TI7R -

5.

R ABFTIESM)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment Information (continued)

The transactions with these respective customers did
not contribute 10% or more of total revenue of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 or
2018.

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Revenue from Gold Mining Operation and Trading of
Metals and Minerals for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: revenue from Gold Mining Operation).

Revenue from Gold Mining Operation for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: revenue from Gold
Mining Operation).

Revenue from Gold Mining Operation for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue from Trading of Metals and Minerals for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue from Gold Mining Operation for the year
end 31 December 2018.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

5.

WEHER

Wi

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

DEER (@)

BE_T-NFR_FT—
FH-—A=1— EEEE
HZEFEFPEMNETZIR
S BEARERY =
10% 3 A I »

BE_FT-NAF+-A=T1
—Eti&ﬁ@ﬁ%%%%
BheBRBEER S 2 WS
T—)\F : RELER
%%%Z% 5) e

BE_T-NAF+-A=1
—Etifkﬁiﬁﬁ%i
Bzl (ZF—\F K
B e mARER 2 W)

BE_Z-NF+-A=*
—HIFERESERRE
2 ek -

BE_ZT-NF+-_A=1
—HLFEREEEREE
B 52 Wk

BE—T/\F+=-A=1
—Etifﬁﬁﬁ%%%%
2 ek



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAIN 6. HtWARHEMIKGEFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FEIT
Other income Hipug A
Bank interest income RITRBULA 1,343 15,669
Dividend income fi&% B A — 986
Sundry income WA 1,948 1,502
3,291 18,157
Other net gain Hitnlh 255588
Exchange gain, net b 5 e F 58 1,560 2,797
Gain on termination of lease AU ES 509 -
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HERTFEEE
B8 (126) (572)
1,943 2,225
CEELEEAER A A
—E-AEER g



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

162
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA TTHIR » Br BB FTIESN)
7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIEE
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the BREIRIESIBE R (BT ) THI&
following items: 18
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEr
(a) Finance costs: (a) BAFERRA :
Interest on bank and HITR
other borrowings EMERZFE 323,408 450,032
Interest on convertible ARES TS
bonds (note 25) (Mt5E25) 32,468 26,988
355,876 477,020
Interest on financial liabilities FEiREmEATE
at fair value through profit or loss HIRR 2 2Rt
BEME — 49,111
Total interest expenses on financial TRAGEZHE
liabilities S 4858 355,876 526,131
Less: Interest capitalised into B NERTEA
construction in progress BZRMbZ F &
(note 14(a)iii)) (B =E 14(a)ii)) (2,193) (3,851)
353,683 522,280
Interest on lease liabilities HERGENE 1,502 .
Fair value gain on financial #ERBEREATE
liabilities at fair value through profit Rz 2®mAaE
or loss (note 20) N EW
(Mt5£20) — (1,187)
Fair value gain on derivative PTEEMIAATE
financial instruments (note 25) Wezs (f1EE25) (67,478) (37,638)
Loss on the 2018 Convertible Bonds - N\Frk
Restructure (note 25(i)) BAEHEBE
(BFEE25()) — 54,757
Loss on the 2021 Convertible Bonds T —FAHR
Restructure (note 25(iii)) BAHEHER
(Bt EE25(ii)) 78,648 =
366,355 538,212




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LB TTEIR @ B BEFTHESN)
p 9 9

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRIAIEE ()
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the BREIRIESIBE R (BT ) THI&
following items: (continued) 1B (&)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) {EEKA

remuneration) (BREEEHE)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IER
HAb @ 70,280 76,770
Contributions to retirement RREFFHEIER
benefit schemes 8,840 8,918
79,120 85,688
CEZSEEERAD S
—E-NEFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR + B BB FTIESN)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the

following items: (continued) B (&)
2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(c) Otheritems () EHEtwEE
Cost of inventories sold under the EEFREB 2B
Gold Mining Operation (note (i) HEFERA
(HHEEG) 584,220 473,997
Cost of inventories sold under the CBRBEES
Trading of Metals and Minerals BHEFE/RAN 284,481 113,772
Total cost of sales HERK A B 868,701 587,769
Amortisation of intangible B EESE
assets (note 13) (B¥5E13) 96,843 86,914
Auditor's remuneration SRR &
— audit service — BRI 2,780 3,360
- non-audit service — IEER TR 560 730
Depreciation and amortisation ElE B EE R
of fixed assets (note 14) (M3E14) 89,967 110,763
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE
(note 14) (P5E14) 9,043 —
Operating lease charges in BRENTREZ
respect of: RETHEER
— land and buildings — TR = 34,183
— machinery and equipment o R — 80
Impairment loss on trade and JRE USR5 % EL At FE R
other receivables PR EEE 10,423 =
Lease payments for short term leases R E 2 HENT 5,790 -
Note: Bt -
(i)  Cost of inventories sold under the Gold Mining Operation () LEAREBLEHEFERA

includes HK$212,919,000 (2018: HK$236,893,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation
expenses, which amounts are also included in the

7. BRFAIEE (&)
BRBAEEDING S GEA) ToE

B35212,919,0008 T (ZZE—N
£ 1 236,893,000/ 7T) © JhE
BEXA TEREHEASY © &%

respective total amounts disclosed separately above for EeHNEFALXHZEAX
B KRB SHESENR -

each of these types of expenses.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 8. FiiSHiESR (BAX)
(@) Tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) MEBTZRAIRAZHEL:
represents:

(b)

Current tax
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Over/(under)-provision in prior years

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred tax credit
(note 27(a))

Total income tax credit/(expense)

The income tax (credit)/expense can be reconciled (b)

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—\F
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
ARERFR A
— REDERERH — (13,327)
FEREBRE,(TR)
— PE RS 12,656 (408)
12,656 (13,735)
REFLIEIR
(FsE27(a)) 11,438 3,405
Frisfiife /(Fx) @5 24,094 (10,330)

PriSmi (), MX AR

to loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as follows:

Loss before tax BR7% A &S 1R

Notional tax on loss before tax, LR ABER B AR
calculated at the rates applicable ZEAMEGTE
to the tax jurisdiction concerned BRTRIBE 2 ENIE

Tax effect of non-deductible AR B e TRIBE 2
expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Profit attributable to an associate

(Over)/under-provision in prior years

FFERTIAZ RIAZE
L NG ]
EFERE (BB, TR

The share of tax attributable to associate amounting
to HK$648,000 (2018: HK$672,000) is included in
share of profit of an associate in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

BRERNERRN AR R R
LU

2019 2018
=—2-nE T )\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHT FHT
(655,426) (456,005)
(119,989) (94,585)
110,058 107,835
(1,021) (2,818)
(486) (510)
(12,656) 408
(24,094) 10,330

SIEBENBEERE A
648,000 (ZF— \4F :
672,000/ T) BT ALAE R
WRZDh— BB R REF
ﬁq °

B
]
il
Ik
A A
i)
= @t

g ol

i =
5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

8.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

(0)

(d)

(e)

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is
calculated on the assessable profit of the Group's
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC at 25% (2018:
25%).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 as the Group did not have any assessable profit
for both years subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI"), the Group is exempted from any income tax
in Bermuda, the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

8. FiEHESR (FEX) (@

(0)

(d)

(e)

PR EMBREEDREER
LN EEMAZHBA
Bl ERRE R 25% 1 &
(ZZ2—N\F :25%) °

HARAEEREEZE T —IF
kZZT—N\F+=ZHA=+—H
LEFE R BRI BEBRNE S
FFI 2 FEERTE A - il
MEBNEHIELEE -

REERE HSHENEE
BREES ([RBRZES])
ZRRRN RG] - REBEBEY
MEMBERE FHEMRBRE
BRSPS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEBERTHRARME
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments disclosed EERTHRBEMESBIE LTR
pursuant to the Listing Rules, Section 383(1) (a), (b), (c) B« BB D AEHIZE383(1)(a)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part (b)) QO RMOIERAR (HEEEF
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about HER) ROIFE 2R ¢

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-ZT-NF+-_A=+—8H1t
FE
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
and benefits scheme
Directors’ in kind contributions
fees & 2H RINGHE Total
EZHE  RENANE % - Hy
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
izE FE FiEx TEx T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Yi Shuhao HWETE (@ — 500 18 518
Mr. Chen Sheng BB LE (b) = 500 18 518
Mr. Zhang Lirui RIS LA (© = 500 18 518
Mr. Yu Yong RBEE (d) - 1,000 18 1,018
Mr. Wang Baozhi TRELE — 500 18 518
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng FEBTE () 19 = = 19
Independent BUFHITES
non-executive directors
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung PN e (i 40 — — 40
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EEEE 67 240 — — 240
Professor Zhang Tianyu RERAF 240 — = 240
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BEBNL ) 200 — — 200
Total @zt 839 3,000 2 3,929
EEEE &K HE D A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEBERTHERME &)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-_T—-)\F+ZH=+—HL
FE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Directors' inkind  contributions
fees & R RIREHE Total
B3He  REVIE #xR @t
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 FET FET AT FEx
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yi Shuhao HERE (a) — 161 6 167
Mr. Chen Sheng BREsLE (b) — 500 18 518
Mr. Zhang Lirui RIS (© — 500 18 518
Mr. Yu Yong RBEE (d) — 1,000 18 1,018
Mr. Wang Baozhi FhRELE — 500 18 518
Mr. Liu Liyang Elyt i (e) — 23 11 234
Ms. Zang Dongling HRRRT () — 340 12 352
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung HAHLE () 240 — — 240
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EESCE 6 240 o - 240
Professor Zhang Tianyu RARYK 240 = = 240
Total E2HY 720 3,224 101 4,045
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, 22— hhEFrk_Z2—N\&E+=
no emoluments were paid or payable to the Company’s A=+—HILtFE  AARLER
directors or chief executive or any of the five highest paid EERTHRBE N T XURE B R
individuals set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial KMF10ME 2 EM AN SRS
statements below as an inducement to join or upon AT EZ AR EMERBMEERMA
joining the Company or as compensation for loss of office. RABHINARR B 2 WSk E
There was no arrangement under which any directors or RBERE - KNMEFE R EE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments MEEHITHRAINEXF B RE
during both years. ERIE 2 &HE -

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

év-'?/—\,\ﬁ“ﬁ%% Fft 5
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABITSIR + B 5B FTIEIN)
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERITHARME ©)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(0

0

()

Mr. Yi Shuhao was appointed as the executive director and
the chairman of the Company on 5 September 2018 and
the chief executive officer on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Chen Sheng was appointed as the executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 6
September 2017 and 24 January 2018 respectively. He
resigned as the chief executive officer and redesigned as
vice-chairman of the Company on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Zhang Lirui re-designed as the vice-chairman of the
Company on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Yu Yong resigned as the executive director of the
Company on 20 January 2020.

Mr. Liu Liyang resigned as the chairman and the executive
director of the Company on 5 September 2018 and 24
October 2018 respectively.

Ms. Zang Dongling resigned as the executive director of
the Company on 5 September 2018.

Mr. Huang Zhiwei was appointed as the executive director
of the Company on 20 January 2020.

Mr. Hsu Jing-Sheng was appointed as the non-executive
director of the Company on 2 July 2019.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung resigned as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 March 2019.

Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1 March 2019.

BEE

(@ BHEXER-_Z—N\FHLAR
BEZEARATRTESERE
BUIR=—ZE—N\F+=-A+=H
BT ATTHAE -

(b) PBREEEAD BRI —+tFhA
NER-ZT— A¢ A—+pmA
EZTAERRRNITEERITR
W R _E—N\F+=_A+
ZHBEEARRITHREE R ER
FARENERF -

@ FHMFEER-_ZE-NF+_A
T=RERE/ERREERE -

d R-ZF_FTF-A-1+H RB
REBERRBRITES -

e BNBEESIR-_ZB-NFN
REBR-ZZ—N\F+A=-+HN
BBEARBLIERATES

H WRELELIR-_ZE-N\FhAR
BEHEARRBMTES -

(@ BXBEER-T-TE—A=
TEREEEAEATNRTES -

(h FFEBEER-_Z-NAFLAZ
HEZERRAFFFNTES -

iy MWMREEER_ZT-—NF=ZA—
BBHEARRBIBLIFNITES -

() BEEBLXLIR-E-NF=HA—
REZERARRBIIERNITE
=o

EEE25EB8ER-LA
—E-NEER

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA

TLAR - RBBFTIESN)

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees for the year included one
(2018: one) director, details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining four (2018: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive

of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind
Retirement scheme contributions

e R K
BEWHIz
RIRFTBIFER

The number of non-director and non-chief executive

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

11. DIVIDEND

T ILE 1,000,000 7T

1,000,001 BLE
1,500,000 7T
1,500,001/ 8T E
2,000,000/ 7T

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 December

2019 and 2018.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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10.

11.

TuERESMEREE
FAANEEHNEEERTE —RE
BE(ZZ—N\F: —REF) - HE
SEHBHEHN EXHFFI - A TEA
( T-N\F : W1F) WIHEARARE
ERTHBRENRENeEE AT

EBS BT -
2019 2018

—B_pE T N\E
HKS$’000 HK$'000

Fitr Fi#r

2,573 4,992

71 50

2,644 5,042

e TEHEAMTBES T
BITRAZNESHMESEESEE I
T

Number of employees

EEAH
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
4 1

3=}
ARAEETERRBE_FT N

FR-FB-NAFT_HA=T—HL
FRERNEAARE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

12. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$631,332,000 (2018:
approximately HK$466,335,000) and on the
weighted average number of approximately
5,854,905,000 (2018: approximately 2,286,114,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding
share options or conversion of outstanding
convertible bonds which had anti-dilutive effect and
would result in a reduction in loss per share during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
Therefore, the diluted loss per share is same as basic
loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

12. SREE

(a)

(b)

BREXEE

BREARABEBIOREARARD
AEBABRBEEBEEN A
631,332,000 L (=& — N
% #)/5466,335,000/57T)
ARREARNDETERAR 2N
W F ¥ E 4 A5,854,905,000
B(ZZE—NF A
2,286,114,000/%) 51 &

BREEEE
FFTEEREEEER - WERRE
BB M ARITE RIS AR EE
178 sk R e R B R ) AT AR
BEH (185 A R EE e
BYHEZT—NER_FT—
NEF+ZA=+—HILFEZ
BREERLD) - At - #E
E-NERZTE-N\FETZ
A=+—HL%FE  SkEE
ERAGRENBERAR -

i
50l
i
S
A
i)
= at

g ol

7
5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BEHRRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BILEE
Exploration
Mining rights and Trading
rights assets right Goodwill Total
FRE RBEREE p& BE fif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET
(note g) (hote a) (note b) (note ¢)
(Biita) (Wiita) (Bib) (Hic)
Cost KA
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-\E-A—-H 7,257,041 45,344 500 281,118 7,584,003
Additions e 54,875 — — — 54,875
Exchange adjustments R AR (183,985) (2,294) — — (186,279)
At 31 December 2018 R-E-\F+-A=+-H
and 1 January 2019 R=F-N$-A-H 7,127,931 43,050 500 281,118 7,452,599
Fxchange adjustments % (62,508) (767) — - (63.275)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
T-A=1+-8 7,065,423 42,283 500 281,118 7,389,324
Accumulated amortisation Bt EHRHE
and impairment
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-\F-F-A 1,128,187 - - - 1,128,187
Amortisation charge EREER (WE70)
for the year (note 7(c)) 86,914 . = = 86,914
Exchange adjustments 1 (42,106) = = — (42,106)
At 31 December 2018 R=F-/\E+-A=1-H
and 1 January 2019 R=F-n§-A-R 1,172,995 = = — 1,172,995
Amortisation charge for EngitR (HE70)
the year (note 7(c)) 96,843 — — — 96,843
Impairment for the year ENFE = = = 273,893 273,893
Exchange adjustments EREE (15,123) = = — (15,123)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=1-8 1,254,715 = = 273,893 1,528,608
Carrying amounts e
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
+-A=1+-H 5,810,708 42,283 500 7,225 5,860,716
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
T-A=1+-H 5,954,936 43,050 500 281,118 6,279,604
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& 7517~

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

@

(ii)

(iii)

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s mining rights
with the carrying amount of HK$5,592,814,000
(2018: HK$5,592,650,000) were pledged as
security for bank and other borrowings facilities
granted to the Group (note 30).

The directors of the Company conducted
assessments of the recoverable amounts of the
mining rights and exploration rights and assets
with reference to the valuations conducted
by an independent firm of professional
valuers with recognised qualifications and
experiences, using the income-based approach
methodology. Based on the assessments, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the
estimated recoverable amounts of the mining
rights and exploration rights and assets were
approximate or higher than their respective
carrying amounts and therefore, no impairment
loss on these mining rights and exploration
rights and assets was required to be made for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

The amortisation charges of mining rights are
included in cost of sales in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

eV BRRME

- BRABFTIESN)

- /\\\ﬁ/ﬁ?li&%\

RZE—NF+=ZA=
+—B AEEHK
M1E/45,592,814,000
BLT(ZTE—-NF :
5,592,650,000587T) 2
FEECRRERASE

EERZBITREME
FAEE (F13E30) ©

ARAEZEREEER
AEEREHRNEYE
EEEREBERRAE
WOAEE 2 HEYRE
BERBEREMEEZA
Ym e 5T RE o R
B - ARRESER
REBENRERERENE
EZEERE SR
EREEREZBZE
mE - Fit B#E2=F
—NWEFE+=-ZA=+—H
IEFE BB RERE M
RiEELEEFLRE
BRE(CZEZ—N\F:F)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA TTHIR » Br BB FTIESN)
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13. BILEE (&)
(b) It represents trading right on securities brokerage on (b) BEIBIEEEERFTIRMESFLL
the Stock Exchange. ARISHIZZ S -
(¢ Impairment test for goodwill (0 FERERH
Goodwill arose from the acquisition of the following EUE TSI E A R EAENE
subsidiaries: =
Subsidiaries Business operations Goodwill on acquisition
i) NG E 3 WEELENEE
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET TET
Shenzhen Munsun Asset Asset management and 7,225 7,225
Management Company Limited advisory service
(“Shenzhen Munsun”) BEEENEARE
(see note (i) below)
ARYHEREEEIRARAT]
(MRYI1ZER])
(R T XFEEG))
Hongkong Bay Securities Limited Securities and brokerage - 40,770
(formerly known as Munsun services
Securities Limited) (“Munsun 8 75 M A8 40 AR 7S
Securities”) (see note (ii) below)
BIEEFARAT
(AIBZERJZHARAA)
(3272 3))
(R T XPHEE(G))
Hongkong Bay Asset Management Asset management and - 233,123
Limited (formerly known as advisory service
Munsun Asset Management (Asia) & & 12 M ik A IR
Limited) (“Munsun Asset”)
(see note (ii) below)
BEEETEEARAR]
(AR EETTE (M)
BRAR) (TEEREE])
(BT Mt (i)
7,225 281,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

() (continued)

)

At 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount
of Shenzhen Munsun has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a period of
five years. There are a number of assumptions
and estimates involved in the preparation of
cash flow projections for the period covered
by the approved budget. Key assumptions
include the expected growth rate in revenues
and timing of future capital expenditures and
selection of discount rates. The growth rate
is based on management’s plan on launch of
products and expected growth in the CGU
of the Financial Services Operation. Growth
rates ranging from 22% to 63% (2018: 36%
to 87%) have been applied to the cash flow
projections. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 14% (2018: 14%). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company,
no impairment on the goodwill related to
Shenzhen Munsun was required as at 31
December 2019.

13. BREEE (&)
(0 (&)

(i)

RZZE—-—hhF+=ZA=
+—8  RINERHT
KEeeBEHRARERE
FEAIRBERERZD
hF TR E iR E A
BEFE  EHREEcH
EEEEAHEANR S
RETERR T RRKER
FZREE  FEBREE
REXTENERERR
RIRE ARG e
RENIR R ERE - R
RKENEREHNER
BIRT 1A K & Bh AR 7% 2
BHReELEBMNTE
HigE R - WensTE A
EEAEEEH22%
£63% (T — \F:
36% £87%) ° &R
EEAEAMELER X
B14% (28— )\F :
14%) o RRFIEER
BRI E-hFE+=
A=+—B8HEAED
RV BRBENEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/& TR -

B BB FES1)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

() (continued)

(i)

On 6 June 2019, Munsun Securities and
Munsun Asset entered into subscription
agreements with an independent third party
(the "Subscriber”) in relation to the subscription
by the Subscriber and allotment and issue by
Munsun Securities and Munsun Asset of up
to 290,440,000 and 40,000,000 new shares,
respectively (representing up to 80% of total
number of issued shares as enlarged by the
subscription) at the total consideration of
HK$80 million in cash.

On 21 June 2019, Munsun Asset and Munsun
Securities allotted 1,111,111 and 8,067,777
ordinary shares respectively to the Subscriber at
a total consideration of HK$10 million.

Since the conditions precedent as stipulated
in the subscription agreements for the
subscription of the remaining new shares in
each of Munsun Asset and Munsun Securities
by the Subscriber have not been satisfied, the
subscription of these remaining new shares
was not completed. As at 31 December 2019,
9.99% of the issued shares in each of Munsun
Asset and Munsun Securities were held by the
Subscriber.

Details of the subscription are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 6 June 2019,
17 July 2019, 21 August 2019, 5 September
2019 and 6 December 2019.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

() (continued)

(ii)

(continued)

For the purpose of preparation of the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2019, management
carried out an impairment assessment of the
goodwill attributable to the acquisition of
Munsun Asset and Munsun Securities based on
the expected loss on the issue of new shares
(hence the deemed disposal of subsidiaries
by the Company) as if the share subscriptions
under the subscription agreements had been
completed on 30 June 2019, by reference
to the business valuations of Munsun Asset
and Munsun Securities carried out by an
independent firm of professional valuers.
Based on the goodwill assessment, impairment
loss amounted to HK$233,123,000 and
HK$40,770,000 was fully recognized on the
goodwill attributable to Munsun Asset and
Munsun Securities which was charged to the
profit or loss of the Group in respect of the
six months ended 30 June 2019. The business
valuations are prepared based on the cash flow
forecasts of the relevant entities for the first
five years with the following key assumptions
adopted:

Discount rate BhIH &

Tax rate R

Expected growth rate per ~ FEHRFUZA
annum in revenue 185 R

13. BREEE (&)
(0 (&)

i

(ii)

RREAKRERE_T
—NEXRA=FTRHIER
i B8R e M B |EK -
EIREENEITHAR (B
RRAREFELERER
m) EAMEHIEE - 2
RBIEXMGEMTYH

EREENERIESN
BEME RREER

BERERFBHFEMLD
BUEITRERE - B
REHRZETHRMNRA
BER-_ZE—NF~A
ZtTHEK  EREE
FF{E - A%233,123,000
77T 40,770,000 7T
R EEEE BERE
BERNEREENRER
BHENEE  REAKE
HEe—_Z—-— g A=
T HIEREAREZEN
b o BEMEBENIRES
HEBEATHESRE
FBARE  EREHERAMN
TEER/RK

Munsun Asset Munsun Securities

EREE HERE S

13% 1%

16.5% 16.5%

2.34% for subsequent 2.34% for subsequent
periods periods

12 BHAR/2.34% & B HA /52.34%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

14. FIXED ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EIEEERFEREEE

178

(@)  Fixed assets (@ BETEE

Interests in

leasehold

[ands held

for own

Office use under

equipment, operating

Buildings furniture leases

heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures it

own use and Motor Bz Mining ~ Construcin  BESAR
BREBRR  equipment vehides  #E-GE  stuctwes  inprogress BREE Total
JEEN HERRE RE  REEEE  HEEEM BEIE  ihegh it
50 S0 S0 S0 S0 000 000 S0
Fén 7 FEi Fér Tér T T T

(hotes /) & a1
(Kl
Cost s
At 1 January 2018 RZE-JE-A-A 15443 61,014 31,083 11,082 4,625,561 1,082,768 3869 5,865,603
Eichange adstmens Eyge 81 3050 (1,39 Wy ooy (48 0% (6579
Additions g - 5512 6 1347 11,046 113919 - 131,890
Disposals it - (1322) (4,054) - - = - (5,378)
Inerest capitalied diail = = - = = 3851 = 3851
Transter from construction EREMHIR = = - = 208087 (208,087) - -
In progress
At 31 December 2018 A-E-N\Et-A=1-A 14,662 62,152 25,660 11931 4,610,679 931,570 36,735 5,699,389
Tansfer torightofseassels  ERZFRELE = = = = = = (36,735) (36,735)
At 1 January 2019 RF-N5-R-A 14,662 62,152 25,660 11931 4,610,679 931,510 - 5,662,654
Bichange adjusiments EiE (261) (1,108) (42) (190) (82.167) (16,728) = (100876)
Additions g - 5,482 153 384 3355 174,676 - 185,420
Disposal e - - (579) (134) - - - (113)
Inerest captalied skl = = = = = 219 = 2193
Transfer from constructon BRATRIR = = = = 160471 (160471) = =
In progress

At31 December 2019 RE-NETR=T-B 14401 66,526 26,182 191 459338 97,40 —  586M

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

14. FIXED ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(continued)

14. EIEEERGERAEEE ®)

(@)  Fixed assets (continued) BETEEE (§)
Interests in
leasehold
[ands held
for own
Office use under
equipment, operating
Buildings furiture leases
heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures it
ownuse and Motor HAE Miing ~ Construcion  HEHAEf
BEEAR  equipment vehides  WE HE  stucures  inprogress ERRE Total
JEEN HERRE RE  DEREE  REEEH REIE  1#eEE it
HKS 000 HS 000 HKS 000 S 000 S0 000 000 S 000
Fér AT 1 FAr 71 FAr &1 Fér
(hotes (a1} & i)
(el
Accumulated amortisation ~ ZtHERITE
and depreciation
At 1 January 2018 RZE-JE-A-A 8383 2599 20,885 8162 501,222 - 24% 567,0%
Echange adstmens Eyge ] (181 90 o ) - 50 B
Charge for the year R
(note 7(c) (H70) 1638 5501 2762 141 98,544 - 887 110,763
Elminated on disposals HER - (957) (2.945) = = = = (3902
At 31 December 2018 A-E-N\Et-A=1-A 9,555 29,062 19,755 9,203 571,846 - 331 642,652
Tansertorightofuseassets ~ ERZFRELE = = = = = = 331 (3231)
At 1 January 2019 RF-15-R-A 9,555 29,062 19,755 9,203 571,846 - - 639,421
Bichange adjusiments EiE (184) (564) (319) (154) (10917) = = (12,139
Charge forthe year iR
(note 7(c) (H0) 1,580 5157 1,505 129 80433 - - 89,967
Elminated on disposals HEs = = (478) (109) = - - (587)
At 31 December 2019 RE-NETZAZ1-A 10,951 33,655 20,463 10232 641,362 - - 716,663
Canying amounts i
At31 December 2019 R-EF-NET-A=1-A 3450 28N 519 1759 4050976 97,40 - 5E
At 31 December 2018 A-E-N\Et-f=1-A 5107 3,09 5905 218 4,038,833 937510 3504 5,0%,737

BEEESEEARARA
—E-NAEER

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

14. FIXED ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(continued)

(a)  Fixed assets (continued)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's fixed
assets with a total carrying amount of
HK$721,534,000 (2018: HK$761,837,000)
were pledged as security for bank and other
borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note
30).

The construction in progress at 31 December
2019 and 2018 primarily relates to the
additional production premises, mining
structures and facilities
subsidiaries in the PRC.

held by certain

During the year, interest on bank and other
borrowings capitalised in above construction
in progress was HK$2,193,000 (2018:
HK$3,851,000). The borrowing costs have
been capitalised at a rate of 9% (2018: 9%)
per annum on the specific borrowings used for
financing the construction in progress (note

7(a)).

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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14. EIEEERGERAEEE ®)

(a)

BElE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BE (&)

RZE—hhF+=ZA=
+—8 A&EEBEE@
B4 % 45721,534,000
BT (=B \F
761,837,000/ 7T) 2 &
TEECRAREFEAE
EERZBETREME
FIEE (F15E30) °

RZZE-NFRZF—
NEFE+-_A=+—8Z2
ERIRITZEREE
FHB AR ZFIGEE
ME - REBEY RE
MEER o

FA - REEETR
NEAREHIRTT R EH A
EMFE 2,193,000
BT (ZE—NF :
3,851,000/87L) - ExX
BRATI S AR N2
TEMNEBEEFIZFF
K9Q% (ZZF—\F :
9% ) EAML (FI3E7(@)) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

14. FIXED ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. B EEERTHAEEE (©®)

(continued)

(b)  Right-of-use assets (b) FREEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
e+ HEME #sr
HKS’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
FET FET FET

As at 1 January 2019 R=Z-NE-A—H
Carrying amounts RMEE 33,504 25,007 58,511
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+-H
Carrying amounts FHE 33,072 6,659 39,731
For the year ended BE-E-NE+=A

31 December 2019 =t-HIEE
Depreciation charge STAME 432 8,611 9,043
Expenses related to AR RS ER 5,790

short-term leases and F165 18R

other leases with lease ASes 1218 A

terms end within 12 months HEBRERERS

of the date of initial HERAMHAE

application of HKFRS 16 pd 53
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRILEE (8,526)
Additions to right-of-use assets REGRREEE 9,780
Termination of a lease agreement ~ B R (19,517)

CEELEEAERA T
—E-NEFEFR 181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

14. FIXED ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(continued)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various land and
properties for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 3 months to 16 years,
but may have extension and termination options as
described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial
buildings where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located and office buildings. The Group
is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests. The leasehold land components
of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

15. DEPOSITS PAID FOR GOLD MINING RIGHTS
AND EXPLORATION RIGHTS

During the prior years, the Group entered into agreements
with certain third parties for the proposed acquisition of
mining and exploration rights for gold mine in Henan
and Yunnan, the PRC for the aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$156,073,000 (2018: HK$158,904,000)
of which aggregate deposits for the acquisition of
approximately HK$142,088,000 (2018: HK$144,666,000)
had been paid. The transactions have not been completed
during the year and up the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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14. EIEEERGERAEEE ®)

15.

(b) (ERAEEE (&)

REBFEE  AEBERHEER
BEHEZE TR YE -
EAE3BAEI6F 2 ERE
HABRETAL + W AR T XAl
FER R AR IEHER] - FEIRFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

16. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments ZRHEM2E KRR
at FVTOCI DHEIRZ R
IERE

JEETRE - AT

Unlisted investments, at fair value

At 31 December 2019, the Group's investments in
equity instruments at FVTOCI included investment in an
unlisted company in the PRC with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$282,623,000 (2018: HK$268,619,000)
and investment in a private equity fund in the PRC with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$11,341,000
(2018: HK$11,547,000).

At 31 December 2019, the Group's investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$293,964,000 (2018: HK$280,166,000)
was pledged as security for the Group's bank and other
borrowings (note 30).

16. ZEHEMZEWBERAFE

FIReBRATAEKRE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bat 293,964 280,166

RZZE—hF+-A=+—H &
SENEREMEERIZRAF
BHEZRATAEKEFTAZR
—MFRBEEETARMNKE (BRME
1B49282,623,000/8 7L (=ZZE—N
% 1 268,619,000/870)) K EAE
—EILEREESHILE (FREE
#911,341,0008 L (ZE— N\F :
11,547,000/87T)) °

RZTE—-hE+-_A=+—HB K
EEREMmMEXNA293,964,0008 7T
(ZZ—)\# :280,166,000/87T)
MFEAEMEEREIZRAFETY R
ZBRATEREEEHRAKRERIR
TREMEFRHERR (FFE30)

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. RBFE QAR ZRE
2019 2018
—F-F —FT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cost of investment in an associate — RS N BRI E R AR 7,586 7,586
Share of post-acquisition profits and AMEEMBREBIRE Z
other comprehensive income, Wi s A R E AR S
net of dividend received 2HEWA 4,655 2,915
12,241 10,501
BEESEEERA A
—E-NEFEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)
17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 17. RIBE QR 2RE (®)
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, particulars of the RZE-NFEFRZZE-NF+A
associate are as follows: =+—H  BERARZEHNIIED
T
Proportion of ownership
interest
BERRERLA
Place of Group's
incorporation/ Fully paid-up effective Held by a
Name of associate operations registered capital interest  subsidiary  Principal activities
SR, N H—HE
YNGR LEhY B REMER ERER AARE  FEEER
% %
Shenzhen Baotengsheng Fund The PRC RMB10,000,000 245 245  Asset management
Management Company Limited * 1] AK 10,000,000 and advisory service
AIMREEESEEERAR BEERRGARYE
# The English name is for identification purpose only. # WY LBEMBRZE -
The following table illustrates the summarised financial T 2 BN B A N T BT RS & R R
information of the associate: o
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Non-current assets JERBEE 2,454 2,605
Current assets MENEE 48,331 41,209
Current liabilities nBBE (822) (952)
Net assets BEFE 49,963 42,862
Revenue Wz 11,195 11,549
Profit for the year FEH A 7,935 8,323
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mEika — o
Total comprehensive income PEWM SRR 7,935 8,323
Dividend received from the associate BUYEEE N F 2R — -
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEHmA LG 24.5% 24.5%
Group's share of net assets of the REE (R
associate and the carrying amount of RAEIZBEFER
the investment RERME 12,241 10,501

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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18.

19.

INVENTORIES

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T317R -

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Total

TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade and loans receivables

Other receivables

Total trade, loans and
other receivables
Deposits and prepayments

Non-current portion
Current portion

FHQEETA &f)f = A
H At fE W FRIE
FEW AR TR ~ Bk R EAD

& Hﬁlmlﬁ Bat
wre MFANFKR

FERNIRR D
BNSRER

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all of the trade, loans
and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within
one year, except for the non-current portion.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%—Jﬁﬁ%WH

BB BRI

18. &
EARBRRENZ TERRE -

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
12,661 9,475
113,514 168,895
11,513 18,653
137,688 197,023
19. EWRBRRX - ER R HAFEUX
Eﬁﬁ~£ﬁ§&ﬁfﬁ
2019 2018
—EB-NE T )\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
BsE FET FET
(a) to (¢) 155,835 226,700
@z
119,598 69,723
275,433 296,423
96,167 133,201
371,600 429,624
111,880 109,532
259,720 320,092
371,600 429,624
RZBE-—NFER=ZZF-NF+=A
:+ =), - Fﬁﬁﬁ“l&ﬁén B
Ha W EIE « ke RIERIES

TEHHF\ EW%L/U‘IQ@jZEEHUEEﬁ
X+ MEIEBNEAEB D BRAN

EEE25EB8ER-LA
—E-NEER

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(@) Trade and loans receivables

Trade receivables under ~ SIEFIELEE T

the Gold Mining 2 FEMBR TR
Operation

Trade and loans SRRFEB T2
receivables under FEUER R R B3R
the Financial

Services Operation

(b) Trade receivables under the Gold
Mining Operation

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables under
the Gold Mining Operation (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) based on invoice date at end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Less than two months Nl EpS
More than two months but A E A e
less than four months DR E A
More than four months but EBAA{E A e
less than six months DR EA
More than six months but Bi@NEAE
less than one year DR—F
More than one year iR —F

The Group generally requires the customers to make
payment on the date of delivery of products or
within 7 days after delivery of products. Credit term
within several months which is determined by per-
transaction basis with reference to the product is
granted to the customers with high credibility.
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19. BWARA - ERRHMER
IE - RERFANAKIR (@)

Notes
BsE

(b)

(a) BRI KRB
2019 2018
—2-hEF VAN
HKS$’000 HK$’000
FET BT
35,754 107,319
120,081 119,381
155,835 226,700
(b) EIRBILRER T IR
ETd

S

RWER - SBAREBT
FE U BR X (2 FBR RER )
BIBERZEERZERER SN
T

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

628 60,926

9,450 39,971
4,622 1,496
18,119 —
2,935 4,926
35,754 107,319

AEE—REREFREMR
MEIERIMNRELEAED
[k - BARRZEER - A
BREXZHER RTEAAER
EEERZEP -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

19. BWER - X &EMEW
FE - &%&ﬁﬁ RIE (1)

(b) EHEFAERZFER T EUER

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(b) Trade receivables under the Gold

Mining Operation (continued)
Impairment under HKFRS 9

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses (“ECL"). The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. In addition, one of the debtors
with the balances of approximately HK$ nil (2018:
HK$47 million) was guaranteed by an independent
third parties, with no recent history of material
defaults, the probability of default and the loss given
default were estimated to be minimal.

=+, e
(B

RIEE BT EERZE IR
ZR1E
AEBRERE A BERRE
EEEITRES AT 28
FEEBE - BEEDERES
HOEBBEES (ARihE - E
iﬁﬂﬂ EFBRIMGER - 15

BREMEEERRER 2R

BE| ) 2% EFF DR
ﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁ*jﬁ EHFTERB
BMEMELER B 2KHEE
TE&EAﬁiEHHTﬁ SZEE
ﬂ£$1¢ B AR R AR AR A
EMRRTBRZ BB EER o
j:'ﬂ\'ﬁi\qﬂ@% EEHALD
EET(ZE-N\F 4788
BIL) CIEWHRBLE=T
TEIEIR - BHARELIBKR
KHFTEE -

Nl
]
i
Ik
A
i)
& af

# ol

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(b) Trade receivables under the Gold

(@

Mining Operation (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
under the Gold Mining Operation that were neither
past due nor impaired relate to certain independent
customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. Receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to certain independent customers
that have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation

19. BWERR - ER KR HEMEW
IE - RERFANAKIR (@)

(b) EHREARZER T EUR

()

REIEIR - BEARBHIRAR
B2 SRFAERER T KRR
BRI BRI ETE
VEFPER - BEME EIRE
Z RN FIREE TRALE S
FEBRIFZBIEFHRA -
RBBEER  BEEMEEH
A S AR ERYE
HREFEEERIEEANE
B R BLFEHA BN
Bl o ANER B 8l % AR
B EMERR -

(0 TRRISER T RUER

Trade receivables from
securities brokerage business:
- Cash clients

Trade and loan receivables from
other financial services business
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MRER
2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
BHISULETS
FEUER X -
- HERP — 712
Htth & B AR 75 eI
BRRRER 120,081 118,669
120,081 119,381
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T317R -

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation (continued)

(i)

The settlement terms of trade receivables
from securities brokerage business are two
days after the trade date. No ageing analysis is
disclosed as the ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the nature of these
trade receivables. The credit terms on trade
and loan receivables from the other financial
services business under the Financial Services
Operation are ranging from one year to three
years. The ageing analysis of these trade and
loans receivables (net of allowance for doubtful
debts) from other financial services business
under the Financial Services Operation based
on the age of these receivables since the
effective dates of the relevant contracts at end
of the reporting period is as follows:

~
—
2

NS

Less than one year
More than one year

19. EUARRX

BEHMEN)
- BERREMER
M Hzﬁ&ﬁﬁ RIE (48)

(9] %Fsﬁﬁﬁi“‘%ﬁi?ﬁﬁﬂﬂzﬁﬁ

(i)

YN

e~
B (&

RE SRR A R 2 R AR
RZEFRP/RZHR
M E - Rt F R AR
RZMEE - RO A
TRHEIMEE - Bt
WERBRREDT - &
BRBES N2 HME
B AR 75 S 75 2 e W AR R
RERZEEHA—F
EZFAF - RBREH
R -REEBEENE

B HA R It & & B AR 7S
EBTZ2HEME R
EG TN RS
& EREZRNER(E
kR REREE) WERER D
Mran T
2019 2018
=F-AF ZTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,723 7,964
116,358 110,705
120,081 118,669
BEEESEEERLT
—E-NEER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/&E7LII7R » B

A

SBFESN)

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation (continued)

(i)

Impairment under HKFRS 9

The Group applies general approach to
measuring ECL for the trade and loan
receivables from other financial services
business as these business contained a
significant financing component. ECLs are
recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

19. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, trade and loans
receivables under the Financial Services Operation of
the Group that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to certain independent customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. Receivables
that were past due but not impaired included
cash clients from securities brokerage business of
HK$nil (2018: HK$630,000), the management
fee receivables from the asset management funds
managed by the Group of HK$4,478,000 (2018:
HK$1,174,000). The Group held the securities of
these cash clients of securities brokerage business
as collateral over their individual balance and has
assessed the recoverability of the management fee
receivables from the asset management funds. The
management believed that no impairment allowance
was necessary in respects of these receivables.

20. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group financed through leases of gold from banks
by selling the leased gold through the Shanghai Gold
Exchange (“SGE"). On maturity, the Group would return
gold with the same quantity and specification purchased
through SGE, and pay interests on leases of gold to
banks. The maturity periods are within one to three years.
The Group has engaged in gold forward contracts in
accordance with the quantity, specification and repayment
terms of gold to be returned to banks in the future. The
banks have granted gold leasing financing to the Group
under the same banking facilities arrangement of the
Group's bank borrowings.

19. BWHR - ERRHEMER

FIE - RERFEMNFRIE @)

(0 ERMRIBERT BUTER
MRERK (40)

REREIIR - AEERIAREH
IMARRE B AR ER T IE
WEER R EREGLS B R
EHZETBYREFEH - B
B BB SRR (B 2 FE R SR IE B
REFELEEBZREERP
EBEATEL(ZZ—N\F :
630,00087C) - REAXRKE
EETHEEEREAS ZEK
EIEEBF4,478,0008 T (=
ZT— )\ : 1,174,000/87T) °
REBREZSHFLFCLER
TZREEPHEAMERRSE
BN G 2 IR R & B G
BEERESVEREEER
MRl Bl - EIREAEEEA
BLRZ 55 FE WBR SR E R (B B
1o

20. FEBEBARBATVEIRZE

meE

AEBERRITEARS @ BRAA
tEmEERZIM(TLEESERS
HOBELMEESREES - 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

20. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The fair values of the financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") as at 31 December 2017
are determined based on a valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers with recognised
qualifications and experiences using observable inputs
including gold future price and risk free rates. These
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were
fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2018.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, fair value gain
on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
was HK$1,187,000 (note 7(a)).

The Group had no outstanding financial liabilities at FVTPL
outstanding at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total deposits of
HK$106,286,000 (2018: HK$102,519,000), including non-
current portion and current portion of HK$44,752,000
(2018: HK$45,564,000) and HK$61,534,000 (2018:
HK$56,955,000) in bank and financial institutions were
pledged as security for bank and other borrowings
facilities granted to the Group (note 30). The interest rate
of the pledged deposits ranged from 0.1% to 3.8% (2018:
0.1% to 3.8%) per annum during the year.
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20. EBREZBRLAFEIERzE

21.

MmEE @)

N-ZZE—+F+-_A=1+—HiEB
BRRATEIER((EREEEA
FEINE) z2emBERATET
BEAFRIEEREHRHNB LR
FHEWHE A B AE AR
(PRECHEERRERRKRTIX)
ETHEEMERE - 258 BEx
BRATEIEZeRABEREE
- N\F+-_A=+—HILtFE
HEARNEHEE B2 \F
+ZA=+—HILFE  FiBER
BATEIEZeRAENRTE
Wz 41,187,00078 T (MI7E7(a)) °

RZZE—hhF+—A=+—H8k=
E-NE+-A=+—0  Kx&EEF
EEBEFRATFEYEZE/REA

g -

[REGEEEEEA

RZFE—-—hLhE+=ZA=+—8"
AEEFH4EE106,286,000/5
T (ZZ— N5 102,519,000/
TL)  BIEERBH S RRBH D
44,752,0008 T (ZF—\F :
45,564,000 7T) [ 61,534,000/%
T (ZZE— N\ :56,955,000/%
TL) C ZEGFFBARITRHEE
BE CARERAEEER R
TREMEREER (M1FE30) - R
EERERZHENTFTEEF0.1%
F38%(ZZE—N\F :0.1% =%
3.8%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT

TRUST BANK BALANCES

Cash at banks
Cash in hand

Cash and bank balances
Less: Restricted deposits in
the bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents
Client trust bank balances

Restricted deposits are as follows:

Deposits applied for payment of
land reclamation

Deposits applied for payment of
environmental governance

PITFR
e

e MIRTTHS

B, EIRITAERRT Y

XREIES

Re MREEHEY
BEPERERITAR

B RA ¢ < AR 2R
RiE &

s X [V EREAHE
ReEE

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

22. BERBITHBRREFFER

IRITHEER
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
67,974 80,362
499 609
68,473 80,971
(37,186) (32,972)
31,287 47,999
2,355 2,947
33,642 50,946
ZREIESAT -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
28,042 23,695
9,144 9,277
37,186 32,972
BEEESEBEERA T
—E-NEER
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT

TRUST BANK BALANCES (continued)

The Group maintains trust and segregated accounts with
authorised financial institutions to hold clients’ deposits
arising from securities brokerage business transactions.
The Group has classified the clients’ deposits as client
trust bank balances in the current assets and recognised
the corresponding payables to the respective clients in the
current liabilities, on the grounds that the Group is liable
for any misappropriation of the respective clients’ deposits
as stipulated under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO"). The Group is not allowed to use the
clients’ monies to settle its own obligations under the SFO.
As such, these monies are not included in cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The interest rates on cash at banks ranged from 0.1% to
0.4% (2018: 0.1% to 0.4%) per annum during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$49,712,000 (2018: HK$69,976,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

22. BERBITHBRREFFER
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AEBEERAMEBREERR
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TEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Trade payables JERTRRR
Accrued charges and TEIRERAK
other payables H A R FIE
Financial liabilities measured & $ERK AT &
at amortised cost ZemAak
Receipts in advance TEWER K

Contract liabilities - receipts ERAE - TP EWERR
in advance from customers

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, receipts in advance from
customers of HK$35,458,000 as at 1 January 2018 were
restated as contract liabilities. As at 31 December 2019
and 2018, the remaining balance of receipts in advance
represents mainly government grants received in advance.

The contract liabilities amounted to HK$38,698,000
(2018: HK$29,237,000) are expected to be recognised as
revenue within the next financial year.

(a) Trade payables

Trade payables under SREFAKEBT

the Gold Mining Z FERTBRIR
Operation

Trade payables under ERIRBEB T2
the Financial JFETRREX

Services Operation

23.

Note
k=3

Notes

B aE

(b)

FEAS RRAA R EAb PR Y RROR
rRERE&E

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
129,566 173,572
779,604 541,010
909,170 714,582
36,416 37,014
945,586 751,596
38,698 29,237

RERKEEV RS ERNFE 155
® —T-\F-A-BHZEKRE
P #R3X35,458,0008 L E 5| "E A
BE -RITE-NFERZT-N\F
TZR=1+—8B - FARERFRBREE
2R 8 B Rh 2 TR R K -

AR E1E38,698,000/8 7T (- —
J\%E : 29,237,000 ) BT #E1E
T — B B B AR AU

(a) FEASERFX

2019 2018
—B-REFE —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHATT
127,214 170,570
2,352 3,002
129,566 THs),572
EEEcEBEARLA
TE-NEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND 23. ERARAREMESRE
FEREE @)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Trade payables under the Gold Mining
Operation

The ageing analysis of trade payables under the Gold
Mining Operation based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

Less than three months DR =1EA

More than three months HBim =& A
but less than one year BAOR—5F

More than one year tRim—F

(c) Trade payables under the Financial
Services Operation

Trade payables under BHSULETS
securities brokerage business: FERTBRTK :
— Cash clients -HegP
— Clearing house in Hong Kong —REBEBZEEM

The settlement terms of trade payables under
securities brokerage business are two days after the
trade date. Trade payables to cash clients also include
those payables arose from clients' cash deposits
(client trust bank balances) for securities brokerage
transactions. No ageing analysis is disclosed as the
ageing analysis does not give additional value in view

of the nature of these trade payables.
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(b)

SEARER T ENER
3

RIEIR - SEFREBLET
JERTBR TR IR 3 2= B HA 2 BRIk
DT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
12,793 16,104
18,074 27,032
96,347 127,434
127,214 170,570
() ZERUIRFEZERE T EER
=5
TA

2019 2018

=L ST A G
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,352 2,952

— 50

2,352 3,002

EFRLET C RANRRZE
RBLZHHEMA - IR
EPERFNEEREEFE
KRINEPHRESHER(BP
EFERITRERR) ZRNIR
ERLEFRARRMEE - B
RO TSR MHEIMEE -
LI B4 B Bl e D AT
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank and other

24. RITREMBERK

RZE-NFE+-A=+—H8 K
SEHEBUTRITREMER :

borrowings as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE FET FET
Secured bank and other EEPIRITR
borrowings HA & (@) 1,594,393 1,909,511
Unsecured bank and mHEAPRITR
other borrowings HibBEH (b) 1,360,029 1,238,147
Loans from related parties BEALTER 36(a)(v) 286,867 101,533
Total e 3,241,289 3,249,191
Carrying amounts repayable: JRIERFIAREE -
Within 1 year or on demand —FREER 2,063,686 2,231,387
After 1 year but within 2 years —F AL ERFUA 580,603 248,054
After 2 years but within 5 years ME L EBERFUA 597,000 769,750
3,241,289 3,249,191
Less: Current portion BN (2,063,686) (2,231,387)
Non-current portion JEENHAER 1,177,603 1,017,804
EEZLEBERAQA
—E-NEFEFR 197
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(0)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's
secured bank and other borrowings were secured
by the pledge of the Group's assets and share
charge of certain subsidiaries of the Group (note
30) and guarantees given by certain subsidiaries of
the Company, certain executive directors and one
ex-executive directors of the Company and senior
management staff of subsidiaries and related parties
(notes 36(a)(ii) to (iii)).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s unsecured
bank and other borrowings of HK$93 million
(2018: HK$106 million) were guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and the Company, certain executive
directors of the Company and a senior management
staff of a subsidiary (note 36(a)(ii) and (iii)).

The range of effective interest rates on the Group's
fixed rate and variable rate of the bank and other
borrowings are 4% to 24% (2018: 5% to 24%) and
8% t0 9% (2018: 8% to 12%) respectively.
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24. BITREMER (@)

(a)

(b)

(0)

RIZB-NFR-ZT-N\F+
“A=1t—8 XEEDER
RITMEMERD B BERA
SEEERAERETHEAR
Al A tn EC (M RE30) A K&
RRRETHBAGR - AAF
ETHITES R —RAERTT
EEULMBARGREEE
8T KRR (FfaE36(a)in =
(i) 1E 2 JERFTIEAR -

RZE-NF+ZA=+—
H - AEBEEERRITRE
tERBEEET(ZT—AN
F:106BBEL) A TH
BARINARAR - KARIET
WITEEUAR—HHBRARZ
—ZRREEABER (ME
36(a)(ii) M i) °

RNEBE M E KT ENF KRR
TREMERZ BEERFEREHE
DAEL%E24% (—ZF— N\
F:5%%FE24%) M8%EI%
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 25. ARIRES
Liability
The 2016 Convertible Bonds component Derivatives Total
ZE-AETBRRES =Ll fT£I8 st

HK$°000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
FET FET FET

At 1 January 2018 RZZT—-N\F—H—H 385,460 — 385,460
Interest expense charged to T A4RE Bk
consolidated statement 2 M SR (FHEE7())

of profit or loss (note 7(a)) 4,180 — 4,180
Interest paid BAFE (2,728) — (2,728)
Extinguishment upon - \FRHRES

completion of the 2018 BATTA & (M)
Convertible Bonds

Restructure (note (i) (386,912) — (386,912)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=1+—H — — —
CEELEEAERAD T
—E-NEFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G4 B I R R B ST
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)
25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 25. AIRRES (B
Liability
The 2018 Convertible Bonds component Derivatives Total
—E-NEURRES aEHs TETER Msr
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 2 February 2018 (note (i)) R=Z—/\FE=A =8 () 320,394 37,854 358,248
Interest expense charged to &t ALRAIBE R
consolidated statement ZFBRE (7))
of profit or loss (note 7(a)) 22,808 = 22,808
Interest paid BFE (13,256) — (13,256)
Fair value gain (note 7(a))  AF{EYE (KiFE7(a) — (37,638) (37,638)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=A=+—H 329,946 216 330,162
Interest expense charged to T A(RAEBERZFIEML
consolidated statement (M7E7(a))
of profit or loss (note 7(a)) 14,331 = 14,331
Interest paid BERFE (32,361) — (32,361)
Fair value gain (note 7(a)) N EWE (7)) = (138) (138)
Extinguishment upon KT —FHMRES
completion of the 2021 BAATHIETH
Convertible Bonds (Bt 5EGii))
Restructure (note (jii) (311,916) (78) (311,994)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NFE+=A=+—H — — —
Representing: 1
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-AF+A=1+—H o — o
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=A=+—H
Current liabilities RENEE 329,946 216 330,162

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTHIR » Br BB FTHESN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 25. IARES (&)

Liability
The 2021 Convertible Bonds component Derivatives Total
B -FAHRRES aEH fTEIA et
HKS$ 000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FAET FET
At 4 August 2019 (note (i) R=Z—AFNAMA (FFEEG) 261,892 126,673 388,565
Conversion into shares  HIRARR (7,638) (3,531) (11,169)
Interest expense charged Bt AGEERRZ
to consolidated statement  FI SR (Miz7())
of profit or loss (note 7(a)) 18,137 = 18,137
Fair value gain (note 7@@)) A EUE (F3E7()) — (67,340) (67,340)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=1+—H
Non-current liabilities FEnBaB 272,391 55,802 328,193
Notes: Pt
()  Loss on the 2018 Convertible i) =B-NE Cash paid
Bonds Restructure ARKRES  Carrying for the Loss on the
ElZER amount 2018  Fair value 2018
of the 2016 Convertible of the 2018 Convertible
Convertible Bonds Convertible Bonds
Bonds Restructure Bonds Restructure
(Note (ii)) (Note 7(a))
—E-N\f§
“E-RE ABRREF —T-N\§ ZB-N\f
ARKRES EfizE THEREF TRRES
ZEASHE DK ZAYE EfzER
GED) (7))
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FET FET TR TR
Liability components BESI K
and derivatives PTETA 386,912 83,421 358,248 (54,757)
EEELEHE A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(ii) Cash paid for the 2018
Convertible Bonds
Restructure:

Cash payment
Transaction costs

Total cash outflow included in
consolidated statement of
cash flows

(iii) Loss on the 2021
Convertible Bonds
Restructure

Liability components
and derivatives

(iv) Cash paid for the 2021
Convertible Bonds
Restructure:

Transaction costs

Total cash outflow included in
consolidated statement of
cash flows

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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TLAR + BRBEFTIESN)

25. IARES (&)

(i) =F-NFULREFEAZENRENE

HK$’000
FEx
BReE 75,251
TR 8,170
uJF)\Zﬁ/\ i//\b%?%/z
RERH B
83,421
(i) —E-—-FURREFEHER
Carrying  Cash paid  Fairvalue Loss on the
amount for the of the 2021 2021
of the 2018 2021 Convertible Convertible
Convertible Convertible Bonds Bonds
Bonds Bonds Restructure
Restructure
(Note (iv)) (Note 7(a))
“E-N\E B CZEBEI-f CZEI-F
ARRES TRRER TRREZ  TERES
ZREASE EAzEfR ZAVE EHzER
Bé
(B Giv)) (MiEE7(a))
HKS’000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$’000
FET FET FET FET
afEdI R
fTHEIER 311,994 2,077 388,565 (78,648)
(v —E-—FuaREFEAZCHIHERE
HK$’000
FHT
RBA 2,077
ﬁ)\ﬁéiﬁimbiﬁz
RE M BRE
2,077



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

On 4 February 2013, the Company issued the
convertible bonds with the principal amount of
HK$1,028 million which charged interest at 7.25%
per annum with maturity date on 4 February 2018
(the "2013 Convertible Bonds”). On 5 February
2013, the 2013 Convertible Bonds were listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited. The 2013 Convertible Bonds entitled the
bondholders to convert the 2013 Convertible Bonds
into ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$1.8125 per share at any time on or
after 17 March 2013 up to the close of business
on the date falling ten days prior to the maturity
date on 4 February 2018. The bondholders had the
right to require the Company to redeem the 2013
Convertible Bonds on 4 February 2016 at its principal
amount together with accrued unpaid interest (the
“Put Option”). In 2016, the Company made the
convertible bonds restructure (the “2016 Convertible
Bonds Restructure”) that included extinguishment
of the bondholders’ rights on the Put Option and
amendment to the existing terms and conditions of
the 2013 Convertible Bonds. On 16 March 2016, the
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure was completed
and the Company issued and allotted approximately
1,176 million new ordinary shares of the Company
and paid the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$361 million to the bondholders.

25. ITERES (&)

(a)

RZE—=F_AA » AR
RIBITAESEER1,02888
BT AR ES - ARG
FIRERRT 5B BT R
Z-NF-_ANBEH(=
T-—FABmRES]) - K=
T—=F_"AHB —E—=
FARESF R INE FEH
SHERAR LT - ZF—=
FARBREFHTESHEA
RN =_ZE—=F=A++t
Bz —_T—/\F_A
MMHRHARATE A2 & ¥
MEREAILERE -T—=
FoBREFALRETR
1.8125 B T AR RN RIEBE
K EFBBEABRERER
ARZE—R"F_ANBERHE
R FERERTARMNAEEE
ZE-=FRRES ([R4
HigE]) e RZZE—XRF - AR
ABETTAMRESEHR (=2
—NFAgRESFEE]) A
BIERHEES B ABBRE
M2 N R — T —=4F7]
WRE IR B IR R IR E
85 c RZZE—RNF=ZA+<
H —E-—XRFAgRESFE
HBETER - AREI T RELE
1,176 BBRAARFL B
BRI AEHD361BEEST
TEFFEBA °

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/& TR -

B BB FES1)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The key amendments to other existing terms and
conditions of the 2013 Convertible Bonds under
the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure (the “2016
Convertible Bonds”) include a reduction in the
conversion price to HK$0.4283 per share and a
reset to the conversion price on each of 4 August
2016 and 4 February 2017. If the volume weighted
average price during a period of 20 consecutive
trading days immediately prior to each date thereto
is less than the conversion price prevailing on the
last day of such period, the conversion price shall
be reset, subject to a minimum reset price equal to
HK$0.25 (“Conversion Price Reset”). Modification
is made to the redemption right at the option
of the Company. Save as disclosed as above, the
2016 Convertible Bonds were charged interest rate
at 7.25% per annum and would be mature on 4
February 2018 that were kept unchanged with
these terms of the 2013 Convertible Bonds. The
conversion price of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
was adjusted from HK$0.4283 to HK$0.26 and
further adjusted to HK$0.25 under the Conversion
Price Reset on 4 August 2016 and 4 February 2017
respectively. At 31 December 2017, the outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds was approximately HK$376 million.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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25. AIRRES (&)

(a)

(&)

ZE-RFARRESEHRE
TZE—=FrkESR (=
T-RFUBRRES]) Hib
REBEGRRGEHNEEETE
R H B ERRZEERR0.4283
BT MEDRIRZF—RF
NAMBER=ZZE—+F =AW
HETRIRE - WMEEZIEH
HEfRT:EE 20183 5 A HfE
K2 KRR E kg EEERZ
%ﬁ xE— R 2 IRITRIRE -
HEETES @ B
%ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%o%%ﬁ
([EETRIRE]) - AAH]
EHERIENEL SR @L
X%ﬁ%%%’&ﬁﬂz75

Eﬁglﬁ —N\F-AM
RE#Z— ——AiT#kE
HFE T — iT%kﬁ%Z

ZEGRRIFTAE « —_FT—

FABRES 2 HBRERESE
AIABMER-_ZT—XRFNAN
HE0.4283 B L#HEEE0.26
BT WR—E—+F AN
HE—FPHFHEE0.2587T - R
—E—+tF+=ZA=+—8"
ZE-RFABRESZKE
BAGBOAEIT6EEBTT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company through an independent consent
solicitation agent, Daiwa Capital Markets Hong
Kong Limited, invited bondholders to consider
amendment to the existing terms and conditions of
the 2016 Convertible Bonds (the “2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure”). The key amendments to
the existing terms and conditions of the 2016
Convertible Bonds under the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure include: (a) a cash redemption
amount of HK$131,099 per each bond with principal
amount of HK$1,000,000 to each bondholder in
addition to the HK$350,000 per HK$1,000,000
principal amount paid on 16 March 2016 under
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure (the “Principal
Paydown Amount”) plus an amount equal to 20%
of the accrued interest to be paid on the completion
date of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure; (b)
extension of the maturity of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds together with accrued and unpaid interest
thereon to 4 August 2019; (c) modification to the
redemption right at the option of the Company,
whereby: (i) the Company may at any time on or
after 4 October 2018 to, and including 4 November
2018 (the “Optional Redemption Date”), redeem
all, but not some only, of the bonds on the payment
business day specified in the optional redemption
notice as being the Optional Redemption Date at
their outstanding principal amount together with
accrued but unpaid interest to such date; (ii) if the
Company issues an optional redemption notice,
each bondholder will have the right to elect that all
or some only of such holder’s convertible bond(s)
(subject to partial redemption at the amount equal

25. ITERES (&)

(b)

BT \F+=-A=+—
BIEFE  ARRFEBEL
BRI ZERBARFE AT S
BEABERAFBFESRFSE
AEBH _ZT— A Fr[Rik
BEH IR B ER ARG P ER
Bl ([ ZE—N\FrBRRE
HEM]) - REZT—N\FA]
BRESFEEE T F
AR EH R B R R AE G
FTER £ EEE]BIE : (a)iE
—E-RF=ZAF+NERE
ZE-AFABRRESFEMR
124 1,000,000 T AN & 5857
£7350,000 T2 51+ EEHMA)
N4 %8 41,000,000 TH &
NEFHEFFBEAZMNRS
OS5 131,099 7T ([AE
B3R SMEERBR=
T \Fr R EHFEHETK
HEI S E20% 2 EEHFI &
Z2&% DEE-_T—F
AR E S E R A EFHE R
MEE=Z—NENANBE
BB : (¥ AR R EREF
IBEBREZES B ()R
NAAARZE—N\F+ AWMA
FHEBEEZZT—-\F+— AN
B(ME2ERAS]) (REZ
H) HFBEREREENSE
EREEEEL@BAER X
NEEB (ARIEBERIB )
IEEEHERNFRE - RZAE
Bl 23 (MIEREHH) &EF
(iR R E 3 & EE B
M- BEHFREARBERRE
ZEFE A EPEI D TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA/&7TI7R -

BB a5

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

to HK$362,271.85 (the “Partial Redemption
Amount”) per each bond) shall not be redeemed
(such bonds in respect of which such election is
made) (the”Retained Bonds"); (iii) on the Optional
Redemption Date, all Retained Bonds will be partially
redeemed at the Partial Redemption Amount,
whereupon the outstanding principal amount of
such Retained Bond shall be reduced by the Partial
Redemption Amount for all purposes; (iv) on the
Optional Redemption Date, all convertible bonds
other than Retained Bonds shall be redeemed in
full by the Company at their outstanding amount
together with accrued but unpaid interest to such
date; and (v) removal of the Company'’s existing right
to early redemption exercisable after 4 February 2017
under the 2016 Convertible Bonds; (d) modification
of the interest rate whereby the convertible bonds
bear interest from and including 4 February 2013
but excluding 4 February 2018 at the rate of 7.25%
per annum and thereafter at 8.5% per annum, and
in the event that the Company does not issue the
Optional Redemption Notice, the interest rate shall
increase to 11% per annum with effect from and
including 4 November 2018; (e) modification to the
conversion period so that the conversion right in
respect of a convertible bond may only be exercised
at the option of the bondholder at any time on
or after 5 November 2018; (f) reduction in the
conversion price to HK$0.0618; and (g) removal of
Conversion Price Reset provision in the existing terms
and conditions of the 2016 Convertible Bonds.
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25. AIRRES (&)

(b)

(&)

BEH (EAEREBMHES
362,271.858 7T ([ & HHER
i%ﬁiJ)Lﬂéﬁ DEEE) TEH
B (tEHERRMS R 2E
%_‘//ﬁﬁ [REEFH]) (i)
EERRE  BEREESE
1RE DR &R B
Bt Z5RBESFZKRER
Re R AR B B migsl o
BRI T ABIR : (iv)E
EED A - BRIREBESAI
Z B AR ES EIRERE
EBASHERBEZAHLLE
ﬁﬁ*HZﬂgmﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ
e RWBEBE T —RFA
%kﬁ%@%h_7 —tF=
ABR&RIITEZANARIRA
RRFEOE : (D)ETH=E -
Bt AIMRESRE T —=
FZAWABA (BEZBEETE
B-_Z—-)\F-AMA) kL
FHMET725FEFE - BET
EIIER TR EF X85
ER R OF: WNCIR I : 32 dusp <]
BERBM AFNERHEE =
Z-N\F+—ANA (B#E%
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—RNEFABRRESFRBBGRKL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(continued)

The 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure was
approved by a written resolution of the bondholders
and by the shareholders at the Company’s special
general meeting on 5 January 2018 and 31
January 2018 respectively. On 2 February 2018, the
Company completed the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure and paid the Principal Paydown Amount
of approximately HK$75 million plus 20% of the
accrued interest of approximately HK$3 million
in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$78
million to the bondholders. The total outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
of approximately HK$376 million reduced to
approximately HK$312 million at 2 February 2018
and will be repayable on 4 August 2019. Details
of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure are set
out in the Company's circular on 15 January 2018
and the Company’s announcements between 21
December 2017 and 2 February 2018.

25. ITERES (&)

(b)

(&)

- \FABMRESFEES
AR—ZE—N\F—RRAERZ
T-N\F—-A=+—HEGEH
FBEANEERERRIAERK
NAIRRERIRSHRUE - B
ZZE-NEFEZAZH ' A7
TR T - N\FABKRESE
AR HASEHERRLTS
BEEITLSMN20% 2 E&F
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T RFABRESHFKREER
TRRELI3T6EBETEIRE
—ZE-)\F-AZ-HKN%312
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The amendments to the terms and conditions of the
2016 Convertible Bonds under the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure are considered to be substantial
modification of terms and conditions of the 2016
Convertible Bonds. Accordingly, the 2016 Convertible
Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment and
the 2018 Convertible Bonds have been recognised
upon the completion of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure on 2 February 2018. The Group recognised
a loss of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure of
HK$54,757,000 during the reporting period, which
was mainly arisen from the difference between the
conversion price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds of
HK$0.0618 and the share price of the Company of
HK$0.071 at the date of completion of the 2018
Convertible Bonds Restructure. The Group recognised
the liability component and derivatives of the 2018
Convertible Bonds on 2 February 2018 which were
determined based on the valuations performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers with recognised
qualifications and experiences using average market
interest rate for bonds with similar credit rating and
industry and Binomial option pricing model, respectively.
The effective interest rate of the liability component is
8% per annum. The derivatives of the 2018 Convertible
Bonds include the option of the bondholders to convert
the 2018 Convertible Bonds into the Company’s
ordinary shares and the option of the Company to
redeem the 2018 Convertible Bonds. Both options are
interdependent.
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25. ITERES (&)

(b)

(&)

- N\FARRESFEAET
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KNIERT o At » —ZZF—RF7]
BREFEIIRAGN - M=
T-N\FAHREFER=E
—N\F_A-HEK_-Z—N
FA R ESFEHEER - R
HEHAN AEEBER=-ZT
—N\FrRImRESFEHEEIE
54,757,00087C * ZBELTE
R \FABRRKRESH K
#{E0.0618BTRN_F—
NFEABREFEHETHER
NEIRR(E0.0718 T2 Z5EFT
EE - AEER=ZZT—N\F=
AZBABR =T — \Fra#k
BEEELY RITERD - b
BEBEABRAEE KBNS
N BEGERES BT AES
(BBUEERRRITE) 2F
A ER -ZIEA HEEE
RAERL 2 HEETE - BES
PHERFENERE% - —F
—N\FrRESFITETAS
REFHEARES-_Z—N
FABREFERAARNTE
BRARANGEREED —F
—N\FJRRES - MERE
RIAE KRR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(0)

The conversion price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
was adjusted from HK$0.0618 to HK$1.236 for
the Share Consolidation with effect from 28 May
2018 (note 28(b)(iii)). The conversion price of the
2018 Convertible Bonds was further adjusted from
HK$1.236 to HK$0.8144 for the Rights Issue (as
defined and further detailed in note 28(b)(iv)) with
effect from 27 August 2018, the first date on which
the Company's shares in issue were traded on ex-
rights. Details of the adjustments of the conversion
price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds are set out in
the Company’ s announcements on 28 May 2018
and 27 August 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, none
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds and the 2018
Convertible Bonds were exercised. The 2016
Convertible Bonds and 2018 Convertible Bonds were
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited. At 31 December 2018, the outstanding
principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Bonds was
approximately HK$312 million.

25. ITERES (&)

(0)

ZE - N\FABRESFZ iR
BRRKRMEHA0.0618ETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR + B BB FTIESN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(d)

At 2 February 2018 and 31 December 2018, the fair
values of derivatives of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
were determined based on the valuation performed
by an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experiences using
Binomial option pricing model. The derivatives of
the 2018 Convertible Bonds represent the option
of the bondholders to convert the 2018 Convertible
Bonds into the Company’s ordinary shares. Fair
value gain on derivative financial instruments of the
2018 Convertible Bonds of HK$37,638,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December
2018. The following assumptions are used to
calculate the respective fair values of the derivatives:

BfE GBT)
SR(E CBTT)

Share price (HK$)
Conversion price (HK$)
Expected remaining life of

the convertible bonds (years) FH(F)
Expected volatility (%) TE B EN (%)
Risk free rate (%) 3 B 2R (%)
Expected dividend yield (%) TEEARR B (%)
Discount rate (%) BHIR K (%)

* Adjusted for the Share Consolidation and Rights Issue
with effect from 28 May 2018 and 27 August 2018,
respectively.
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25. ITERES (&)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated bA/& TSI -

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(e)

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company invited bondholders to consider
amendment to the existing terms and conditions of
the 2018 Convertible Bonds (the “2021 Convertible
Bonds Restructure”). The key amendments to the
existing terms and conditions of the 2018 Convertible
Bonds under the 2021 Convertible Bonds Restructure
include: (i) extension of the maturity of the Bonds
whereby the Company will redeem each Bond at its
outstanding principal amount together with accrued
and unpaid interest thereon on 30 September 2021;
(i) reduction of the interest rate of the Bonds to
8.0% per annum which shall be payable (I) for the
period from and including 4 August 2019 to but
excluding 31 March 2020, in arrear on 31 March
2020; and (Il) thereafter semi-annually in arrear
on 31 March and 30 September each year; (iii)
reduction in the conversion price to HK$0.088;
(iv) addition of the downward-only reset to the
conversion price, whereby on each of 31 March
2020, 30 September 2020 and 31 March 2021, if
the volume weighted average price during a period
of 20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to
such date is less than the conversion price prevailing
on the last day of such period, the conversion price
shall be reset to the average market price, subject to
a minimum reset price equal to HK$0.071 (subject
to adjustments); and (v) addition of the partial
redemption right (the “Put option”) which applies to
all bondholders whereby the Company will, at the
option of the bondholder, redeem such bondholder’s
bonds on each of 31 March 2020, 30 September
2020, and 31 March 2021 at the principal amount
which represents not more than 7.5%, 7.5% and
15%, respectively, of the then outstanding principal
amount of the Bonds held by such bondholder
(each a "Relevant Principal Amount”) together with
accrued but unpaid interest thereon, provided that
the redemption amount representing the Relevant
Principal Amount payable by the Company on each
put option date to each such bondholder must be
in an authorized denomination (i.e. HK$1,000,000
in nominal amount each of the bonds or integra
multiples thereof).
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e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA/&7TI7R -

BB a5

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(e)

(continued)

The 2021 Convertible Bonds Restructure was
approved by the bondholders at a bondholders’
meeting and by the shareholders at the Company’s
special general meeting on 1 August 2019 and
27 August 2019 respectively. Details of the 2021
Convertible Bonds Restructure are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 9 August 2019 and the
Company's announcements dated 10 July 2019, 1
August 2019 and 27 August 2019.

The amendments to the terms and conditions of the
2018 Convertible Bonds under the 2021 Convertible
Bonds Restructure are considered to be substantial
modification of terms and conditions of the 2018
Convertible Bonds. Accordingly, the 2018 Convertible
Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment and
the 2021 Convertible Bonds have been recognised
upon the completion of the 2021 Convertible Bonds
Restructure deemed on 4 August 2019. The Group
recognised a loss of the 2021 Convertible Bonds
Restructure of HK$78,648,000 during the reporting
period. The Group recognised the liability component
and derivatives of the 2021 Convertible Bonds on
4 August 2019 which were determined based on
the valuations performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers with recognised qualifications and
experiences using average market interest rate for bonds
with similar credit rating and industry and Binomial
option pricing model, respectively. The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 18% per annum.
The derivatives of the 2021 Convertible Bonds include
the option of the bondholders to convert the 2021
Convertible Bonds into the Company’s ordinary shares
and the put option of the bondholders to require the
Company to redeem the 2021 Convertible Bonds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(e)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$8,694,524 were converted into
98,801,411 new ordinary shares of the Company
of HK$0.001 each (note 28(b)(vii)). The 2021
Convertible Bonds were listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. At 31 December
2019, the outstanding principal amount of the
2021 Convertible Bonds was approximately HK$303
million.

At 4 August 2019 and 31 December 2019, the fair
values of derivatives of the 2021 Convertible Bonds
were determined based on the valuation performed
by an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experiences using
Binomial option pricing model. The derivatives of
the 2021 Convertible Bonds represent the option
of the bondholders to convert the 2021 Convertible
Bonds into the Company’s ordinary shares, and the
put option. Fair value gain on derivative financial
instruments of the 2018 and 2021 Convertible Bonds
totalled HK$67,478,000 was recognised for the year.
The following assumptions are used to calculate the
respective fair values of the derivatives:

P& (B7T)
FBME (BT)

Share price (HK$)
Conversion price (HK$)
Expected remaining life of

the convertible bonds (years) FH(5F)
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR #)(%)
Risk free rate (%) I 3 B M 2R (%)
Expected dividend yield (%) TEEAR B (%)
Discount rate (%) BEER % (%)
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e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

26. LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities payable
Within one year
Within a period of more than one year but
not more than two years
Within a period of more than two years but
not more than five years

Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12 months
shown under non-current liabilities

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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31 December
2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

27. DEFERRED TAX

(a) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

27. IEERIR
(a) CHERDELHIEER

FARGAMBHRNKERZ

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial position REHIERERS REEEN
and the movements during the year are as follows: N
Depreciation
allowance in
excess of
related
depreciation
Intangible nERK
assets BEE Others Total
BYEE  WENSE Hitr ok
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi TAT TET TET TAT
At 1 January 2018 RZE—-\&—-F—H 550,241 32,063 32,387 614,691
Exchange adjustments [} 55 (27,503) (2,233) (1,323) (31,059)
(Credited)/charged MEABRER
to consolidated (GTA)/ 1k
statement of
profit or loss 8(a) (12,905) 23,515 (14,015) (3,405)
At31December 2018 RZF—/\F
and 1 January 2019 +=A=+-AEk
“Z-hn§-A-H 509,833 53,345 17,049 580,227
Exchange adjustments [ 5 5% (8,969) (1,130) (114) (10,213)
(Credited)/charged NRRBEE
to consolidated GTA)/ 1k
statement of
profit or loss 8(a) (12,904) 19,874 (18,408) (11,438)
At31December 2019 RZZ—hF
TZA=+-A 487,960 72,089 (1,473) 558,576

BEEESEEARARA

I

TE-NEER
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e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

27. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not
recognised

As at 31 December 2019, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries of approximately HK$1,598 million
(2018: HK$1,636 million) and the related deferred
tax liabilities of approximately HK$160 million (2018:
HK$164 million) have not been recognised in these
consolidated financial statements. In the opinion
of the Company’s directors, the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute profits in the foreseeable
future.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2019, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$19 million (2018: HK$19 million)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
The tax losses of the Group do not expire under
current tax legislation.

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the reporting period are set out below:
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(@) The Company

At1 January 2019
Changes in equity for 2019;
Total comprehensive

Joss for the year
Capital reorganisation (note (o)
Shares issued upon conversion

of convertible bonds
Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2019

At1 January 2018
Changes in equity for 2018:
Total comprehensive
Joss for the year
Capital reorganisation (note (b))
Issue of new shares under
share placing (note (b))
Transaction costs for issue of
new shares under
share placing (note (b))
lssue of new shares under
Rights lsue (note (o))
Transaction costs forissue

of new shares under Righs lsue

(note (b))
Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2018
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

) ,\717}5‘$IH%I319‘%I

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABITSIR + B 5B FTIEIN)
28. BRAK e (#)
(@) &AAF
Share Share Contributed Capital Accumulated

capital premium surplus reserve losses Total
e RiaE L EE E4Ek Bkl 4
S 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HS 000 S 000
7L FEi T T 7T L

(rotelp) - (roies ¥) &0n)  fhote(@&0) (hote (o))

(e (ke

() Rieh) Ko ()
583,692 728,663 1279339 30348 (1,800515) 6,821,527
- - - - (580,308) (580,308)
(577,855) - 577,85 - - -
9 1,00 - - = 11,169
- - - (30,348) 30,348 -
5,936 139,733 7857,19 - (2.350475) 6,252,388
1,737,40 - 5,611,589 95,511 (1,667,000 5777340
- - - - (198678) (198678)
(1,667,750) = 1,667,750 - - -
13,89 144,508 - - - 158,403
- (3126) = = = (3126)
500307 600,369 = - - 1,100,676
- (13,088) - - - (13.088)
- i - (65,163) 65,163 -
583,69 128,663 1219339 30348 (1,800515) 6,821,527

The reserves of the Company, comprising share
premium, contributed surplus, capital reserve and
accumulated losses, amounted to approximately
HK$6,246,452,000 at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$6,237,835,000).

RZE—NAE+ZA=+
—B  ARANREE (2
BRHaE BEHZt - &
AEBERRFTEER) DA
6,246,452,0008 7T (=& — N\
£ : 6,237,835,0007C) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR + B BB FTIESN)
28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 28. IRAK ffh ()
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (b) BRA
Number
of shares
BEE
Notes ‘000 HK$'000
MiaE i FET
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.125 each RZE-\F-A-Bz
At 1 January 2018 BRAEE125B L BR 30,000,000 3,750,000
Capital Reorganisation BRAESR (i - (3,600,000)
Share Consolidation B4 5 (i) (28,500,000) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B NIkt PAST S|
after Share Consolidation 0.1 BT ERER 1,500,000 150,000
Increased during the year EREM () 8,500,000 850,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RIZE-\FTZA=+t-BkK
at 31 December 2018 and “T-NF-A-Bz
1 January 2019 ST BB 10,000,000 1,000,000
Capital Reorganisation A ELE (v) - (990,000)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each after RAZE44 2 BREE
Capital Reorganisation 0.001 BT Ll 10,000,000 10,000
Increased during the year FREN (vi) 40,000,000 40,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each RIE-NFE+ZA=T—RAZ
at 31 December 2019 SRAE0.001 BT L AR 50,000,000 50,000
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid: EXTRETZER :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.125 each RZZ-\F-A—-Hz
at 1 January 2018 FRABE0.125B T L AR 13,897,919 1,737,240
Capital Reorganisation WRAEAR 0] = (1,667,750)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each RAERR 2 BRAE
after Capital Reorganisation 0.00577C & @k 13,897,919 69,490
Issue of new shares under share placing B ERHEELTHRA (i) 2,779,000 13,895
16,676,919 83,385
Share Consolidation Rinadt (i) (15,843,073) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RinG G2 BREE0. BT
after the Share Consolidation LR 833,846 83,385
Issue of new shares under Rights Issue 1B ERE/THARH (iv) 5,003,075 500,307
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZZE-\FTZA=+-BK
at 31 December 2018 and “Z-NF-R-Az
1 January 2019 FREE AT @K 5,836,921 583,692
Capital Reorganisation BAER (V) - (577,855)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each after B AE414 2 BREE
Capital Reorganisation 0.001 BT LBk 5,836,921 5,837
Shares issued upon conversion EARREFRETORG (vii)
of convertible bonds 98,801 99
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each RIE-NFETZA=T—RHZ
at 31 December 2019 BRAE0.001 BT L AR 5,935,722 5,936
018 BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at
the extraordinary meeting by the Company's
shareholders on 27 November 2017, the Company

has taken the following events:

—  cancellation of the entire amount standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the
Company of approximately HK$5,611,589,000
and to transfer the credit arising from such
cancellation to an account designated as the
contributed surplus account of the Company
before the change of domicile becoming

effective on 12 December 2017;

—  change the domicile of the Company from
the Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of
de-registration in the Cayman Islands and
continuation as an exempted company under
the laws of Bermuda with effect from 12
December 2017; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(i) (continued)

implemented the capital reorganisation (the
"Capital Reorganisation”) after the change of
domicile becoming effective which comprises
the following: (a) the issued share capital
of the Company was reduced through a
cancellation of the paid-up capital of the
Company to the extent of HK$0.12 on each
of the issued existing shares such that the
nominal value of each issued existing share
was reduced from HK$0.125 to HK$0.005; (b)
immediately following the capital reduction
taking effect, all the authorised but unissued
share capital of the Company (which shall
include the authorised but unissued share
capital arising from the capital reduction) was
cancelled in its entirety and forthwith upon
such cancellation, the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased to HK$150
million by the creation of such number of
additional new shares as shall be sufficient
to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company to HK$150 million divided into
30,000 million new shares; and (c) the credit
arising in the books of the Company from
the capital reduction was credited to the
contributed surplus account of the Company.
The Capital Reorganisation was completed
on 2 January 2018, a credit of approximately
HK$1,667,750,000 arisen from the capital
reduction was transferred from the share
capital account to the contributed surplus
account of the Company.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s

circular on 2 November 2017 and the Company's

announcements on 12 October 2017, 27 November
2017, 12 December 2017 and 2 January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(i)

(iii)

On 17 January 2018, the Company entered
into a placing agreement with an independent
placing agent whereby the Company
conditionally agreed to place, through the
placing agent, on best effort basis, up to
2,779,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at the subscription price of
HK$0.057 per share. On 1 February 2018, the
Company issued and allotted 2,779,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company with net
proceeds approximately HK$155,277,000 after
deducting issuing expenses HK$3,126,000. All
new ordinary shares issued and allotted rank
pari passu in all respects with the then existing
ordinary shares of the Company in issue. Details
are set out in the Company’s announcements
on 17 January 2018 and 1 February 2018.

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the
special general meeting by the Company's
shareholders on 25 May 2018, every twenty
issued and unissued shares of the Company
of a par value HK$0.005 each in the share
capital of the Company were consolidated
into one share of the Company of a par value
HK$0.1 each (the “Share Consolidation”)
with effect from 28 May 2018. The number
of the authorised ordinary shares of the
Company was reduced from 30,000,000,000
to 1,500,000,000 and the number of
issued ordinary shares was reduced from
16,676,918,800 to 833,845,940 upon the
completion of the Share Consolidation. The
consolidated shares rank pari passu in all
respects with each other. Details are set out
in the Company’s announcements on 10 April
2018 and 25 May 2018 and the Company’s
circular on 4 May 2018.

28. AR ()
(b) BRA ()

(ii)
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e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T5!

| - B BAFHEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(iv)

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into
an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) with certain underwriters for the
proposed rights issue of not less than 5,003,075,640
rights shares and not more than 5,045,075,640 rights
shares (the "Rights Share(s)”) at the subscription
price of HK$0.22 per each rights share on the basis
of 6 rights shares for 1 existing issued share of
the Company (the “Rights Issue”). The aggregate
subscription price for the Rights Issue will be not less
than approximately HK$1,101 million and not more
than approximately HK$1,110 million. Pursuant to
the Underwriting Agreement, the underwriters have
undertaken to the Company to fully underwrite
the Rights Shares and certain underwriters will
set off the aggregate subscription price payable
by the relevant underwriters to the Company for
subscription of the Rights Shares which are not taken
up by the qualifying shareholders of the Company
(the “Untaken Shares”) pursuant to the Underwriting
Agreement against part of the underwriters’
loans, including the Loans of the Incoming
Lenders (note 36(a)(i)), owed by the Company

to the respective underwriter (the “Set-off”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(iv)

(continued)

The estimated net cash proceeds from the
Rights Issue (taking into account the effect
of the Set-Off and deducting the related
expenses for the Rights Issue) will be not less
than approximately HK$326 million and not
more than approximately HK$1,096 million.
In order for the Company to allot and issue
the Rights Shares proposed under the Rights
Issue and to provide the flexibility for future
development, the Company increased its
authorised share capital from HK$150,000,000
divided into 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each to HK$1,000,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each by the creation of an additional
8,500,000,000 new ordinary shares (the
“Increase Authorised Share Capital”), all of
which will rank pari passu with all existing
ordinary shares of the Company in all respects.
The Rights Issue and the Increase Authorised
Share Capital have been approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Company’s
special general meeting on 23 August 2018
and the Increase Authorised Share Capital
was effective from 23 August 2018. At 27
September 2018, the rights issue transaction
for 5,003,075,640 Rights Shares with net cash
proceeds of approximately HK$326 million
(taking into account the effect of the Set-off of
approximately HK$761 million and deducting
the related expenses for the Rights Issue of
approximately HK$13 million) has completed.
Details are set out in the Company’s
announcements between 21 June 2018 and 26
September 2018 and its circular and prospectus
on 3 August 2018 and 4 September 2018
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(v)  Pursuant to a special resolution passed at

the extraordinary meeting by the Company's
shareholders on 27 February 2019, the
Company has implemented the capital

reorganisation (the “Capital Reorganisation”)
which comprises the following:

(a)

(b)

the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced through a cancellation of the
paid-up capital of the Company to the
extent of HK$0.099 on each of the issued
existing shares such that the nominal
value of each issued existing share was
reduced from HK$0.1 to HK$0.001;

immediately following the capital
reduction taking effect, all the authorized
but unissued share capital of the
Company (which shall include the
authorised but unissued share capital
arising from the capital reduction) was
cancelled in its entirety and forthwith
upon such cancellation, the authorised
share capital of the Company was
increased to HK$10,000,000 by the
creation of such number of additional
new shares as shall be sufficient to
increase the authorised share capital of
the Company to HK$10,000,000 divided
into 10,000 million new shares; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(continued)

(©) the credit arising in the books of the
Company from the capital reduction
was credited to the contributed
surplus account of the Company. The
Capital Reorganisation was completed
on 28 February 2019 and a credit
of approximately HK$577,855,236
arisen from the capital reduction was
transferred from the share capital account
to the contributed surplus account of
the Company. Details of the above are
set out in the Company’s circular dated
4 February 2019 and the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2019,
27 February 2019 and 28 February 2019.

Pursuant to a ordinary resolution passed at
the special general meeting by the Company'’s
shareholders on 27 August 2019, the Company
increased its authorised share capital from
HK$10,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each to
HK$50,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each by the
creation of 40,000,000,000 additional
authorised but unissued shares. Details are set
out in the Company'’s circular dated 9 August
2019 and the Company’s announcements
dated 10 July 2019 and 27 August 2019.

28. BAK f#E (&)
(b) BRA (&)

(v)

(##)

(© ‘EARAKEHE
RABRMEEZ
EERBEAKXRAQA
LERBHRE - R
AEHER T —
REZAZ+N
A 7T A & % 2 Hl
BE & 2 ERA
577,855,236 7T
BRARAZIEA
REBRAEHER
AR o EitFFEEHRN
RAARBEAR=-E
—NLFE-_AmWMBEZ
B AN AR H Ef
BR_E—NF—H
+NA\H - ZZ—A
FZAZ+EHEK
—E-NF-AZ
FNBZRER -

BBEARRBRENR=-Z
—NWENAZ++BE
BRERFAS LRAZ
LTERBR  ADAFE
#2%40,000,000,000 A%
BINETBAREITR
- BEEERAEH
10,000,000/ T (DA
10,000,000,000 & & A%
F{E0.001 BT ER®
B%) #8012 50,000,0007
7t (% 450,000,000,000
M &R E{E0.001 7 TTHY
L@k o FEBHEREAR
AARE-_T—NEN
ANBZBEHRARNT
BA-—Z—hE+A
+ERER=ZZE—NFNA
—t+tHRZAER -

&

i

i
Ik

A A

AR
nEF

g ol

225



226

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA/&7TI7R -

BEE j/TTH/)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(vii)

(vii)

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$8,694,524 were converted
into 98,801,411 new ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.001 each (note 25(e)).

On 26 June 2019, the Group entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agents to
subscribe for a total of up to 1,167,380,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.071
per placing share (the”Placing”). On 19 July
2019, the Group and the placing agents have
entered into a supplemental agreement to the
placing agreement to extend the long stop
date from 26 July 2019 to 9 August 2019.

On 9 August 2019, as certain conditions set
out in the placing agreement have not been
fulfilled on or before the long stop date, the
placing lapsed on 9 August 2019 and the
placing will not proceed. Details of the above
are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 26 June 2019, 19 July 2019 and 9
August 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ir)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the transfer
of the credit arising from the cancellation of
share premium of the Company (note 28(b)(i)).
The contributed surplus is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments. Details of the share option schemes
of the Company are disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises the exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Group’s operations
outside Hong Kong.

Statutory reserves

Statutory surplus reserves

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer 10% of their net profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make
good previous years' losses, if any, and may
be converted into share capital by the issue of
new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of their registered capital.

Safety production fund

Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC,
the Group's subsidiaries are required to transfer
safety production fund at fixed rates based
on a specific amount of volume of gold ores
excavated to a specific reserve account. The
fund is used for improvements of safety of the
mines and is not available for distribution to the
shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying safety
expenditure, an equivalent amount would be
transferred from safety production fund to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%-'?/—\,\ﬁﬁﬁi'%llﬁ‘ﬁ

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABITSIR + B 5B FTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

v)

(vi)

Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is available for distribution
to shareholders subject to the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company which
was in effect before the change of domicile
becoming effective on 12 December 2017 and
no distribution may be paid to shareholders
out of the share premium account unless,
immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid,
the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

FVTOC] reserve

The FVTOCI reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of investments in
equity instruments at FVTOCI held at the end
of the reporting period.

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of

reserves available for distribution to owners of the

Company was approximately HK$6,246,452,000
(2018: HK$6,207,487,000), which included the
balances of contributed surplus, share premium

and accumulated losses, provided that immediately

following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position

to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 28. BMAN il (@)

(e) Capital management (e) EXRER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safequard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debts divided by total equity plus net
debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings and convertible bonds, less cash and
bank balances and pledged deposits. The Group's
total equity comprises total issued share capital and
reserves of the Group. The gearing ratio at the end
of the reporting periods is as follows:

Total debts BIEMRTE

Less: Pledged deposits B EEAER
Cash and bank balances B e MIRITH S

Net debts FEIE

Total equity AR

Total equity and net debts

Gearing ratio BERELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher returns to the owners of the
Company that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments
to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. There were no changes in the
Group's approach to capital management during the
year.

In addition to share charge of certain subsidiaries,
details of which are set out in note 30, several
subsidiaries of the Group (the “Regulated
Subsidiaries”) are registered with Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC") for the
business they operate in. The Regulated Subsidiaries
are subject to liquid capital requirements under Hong
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules (“SF(FR)R") adopted by the SFC. Under the
SF(FR)R, the Regulated Subsidiaries must maintain
their liquid capital (assets and liabilities adjusted as
determined by SF(FR)R) in excess of statutory floor
requirement or 5% of their total adjusted liabilities,
whichever is higher. The required information is filed
with the SFC on a regular basis and the Group has
complied with those requirements during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR + B BB FTIESN)
29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29. KRR T 2B #EAMRR T
THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HKS$’000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AT ZIEE 7,116,375 7,544,340
Deposit paid for fixed assets ~ FLETEEMTEE 3,162 3,162
Total non-current assets FRBEELTE 7,119,537 7,547,502
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due FEUSB B A RIFRIE 1,294,602 661,970
from subsidiaries
Other receivables, deposits HAMEWRRIE « ek
and prepayments SEUNE O 756 16,159
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHE S 342 484
Total current assets REBEEHAR 1,295,700 678,613
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEIHTE A R FIE 853,521 251,143
Other payables H A fETFRIE 110,534 73,197
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 134,679 28,359
Derivative financial PTEEmMT A
instruments — 216
Convertible bonds Al ES — 329,946
Total current liabilities REEERE 1,098,734 682,861
Net current assets/(liabilities) REIEE (&E) FE 196,966 (4,248)
Total assets less HEERRBER
current liabilities 7,316,503 7,543,254
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER
Derivative financial instruments PTEERMT A
Convertible bonds AR E S

Total non-current liabilities FRBEEHEE

NET ASSETS EERE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAR FiE
Share capital AR AR
Reserves e

TOTAL EQUITY KATHEBA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO PE L RER AR R

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2020.

Mr. Yi Shuhao
ZRERE
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
FERITEAEZ

29. RARZMBMRR &K (90

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E—N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
M FET FETT
735,922 721,727

55,802 —

272,391 —

1,064,115 721,727

6,252,388 6,821,527

28(b) 5,936 583,692
28(a) 6,246,452 6,237,835
6,252,388 6,821,527

REFEGN _E_THF=H=+H
BRI B o

Mr. Zhang Lirui

RAG £
Executive Director
HITEE
LEESEEAERALA
—E-NEFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)
30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. EEHEA
As at 31 December 2019, the Group's assets with the RZZE-AF+=ZA=+—H K&
following carrying amounts were pledged to secure bank SENTREEzEED AREKR
and other borrowings (note 24(a)): IRITREMER (FIFE24(a)) -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
PEE FET FET
Intangible assets — mining rights BV AE — GiERE 13(a) 5,592,814 5,592,650
Fixed assets &l & 7 14 721,534 761,837
Investment in equity instruments FREMEEWESIE
at FVTOCI NEEVRZ
BATEEE 16 293,964 280,166
Pledged deposits EEMFR 21 106,286 102,519
6,714,598 6,737,172
Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, all M EXHTIBEEIN  RZZE—NF
issued shares of two (2018: three), 49% issued shares of +-A=+—"8 KARIMEWHES
two (2018: one) and 51% issued shares of none (2018: AR ZE-N\F : =[) 2EE
two) subsidiaries of the Company were subject to share BITRGD -  MEKRBAG (ZF—
charge as security pledged for the Group’s bank and other NF : —[) 249% 2 FITRH K&
borrowings (note 24(a)). REWBRAR (ZZ—\F : MfHE)

Z51% 2 BTN AIEAREEIR
1T REME R (FE24(a)) 2 IR E
# o
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31. SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of the (@)
principal subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December
2019 which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would in
the opinion of the directors, results in particulars of
excessive length. The class of shares of the principal
subsidiaries which were incorporated outside the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

PRC held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of Company

kL

China Precious Metal
Resources Co., Limited

PEESEARARLT

Able Supplement Limited

Decent Connection Overseas
Limited

Wah Heen Holdings Limited
FHERERAA

Sinowise Century Limited

Hongkong Bay Asset
Management Limited
BEAEERARAT

FRRERLH
Issued and
Place of fully paid-up Group's Held
incorporation/ share capital/ effective by the
operations registered capital interest Company
L,/ BRTRAR A58 HARE
By k& /ifER BRER S
% %
BVIHong Kong Uss2 100 100
ZERRES/FR JES
BVIHong Kong US§50,000 100 -
RRAEE/BR 50,0000
BVIHong Kong US$50,000 100 -
RBRANE/ER 50,0000
BVI/Hong Kong US§10,000 100 =
RBRANE /B8 10000570
BVIHong Kong Us§1 100 =
RRAEE/BR %7
Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 90.01% 90.01%
5 (2018: HK$10,000,000)  (2018:100%)  (2018: 100%)
150000008 (ZF-N§: (CE2-NE:
(ZB-N\F: 100%) 100%)
10,000,0007&7%) (note (v) (note (v)
(Rtzt) (RtzEt)

31. B A

TREJHAEER-F—N
FH-A=t—HBZXEHE
NAZEF  EEZRRZEM
BRAIYAEEZ REREE
FEEKN EERG - fWiEH
HipM B AR 2 FI5HERH
B IR - lR=ASIAS -
PRER& S0 P BIR SN A AL

ZEEMBRARRMERNE LS
e

Proportion of ownership interest

Held
bya
subsidiary Principal
H-HE activities
LAREE IERHK
%
- Investment
holding
RERR
100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 Investment
holding
RERR
—  Asset management and
advisory service
BEEERHARS
BEEEL2EEAEARQF
TE-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

31. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED

(continued)

Name of Company

LAER

Hongkong Bay Securities Limited

BEEFBRAA

Hongkong Realking
Mining Industry Ltd.
BEREBRARLA

Hongkong T&R Mining
Investment Limited

BERRRERARRLA

Kong Chun Hong Kong
Limited
AEERERAA

Fast Trend Investment Limited

LERARRAA

Chifeng Yongfeng Kuangye

Co., Ltd. (note (i)
TEXEEFERA
DA (RsEG)

Annual Report 2019

Place of
incorporation/
operations
AL/
feny

Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong
3

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

The PRC
R

Issued and

fully paid-up/
registered capital
BRIRER/
iR

HK$100,140,000
(2018: HK$95,140,000)
100,140,000
(ZF-N%:
95,140,000/ 77)

HK$50,000
50,0007

HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$1,000
1,0007C

HK$1
17

RIMB40,820,000
AR#%40,820,0007C

31. MIELE] ()

@ (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLA
Group's Held Held
effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary Principal
Ly 4] HALH H-HE activities
BREL 2} ARRE IERR
% % %
90.01% 90.01% - Securities brokerage
(2018:100%) ~ (2018:100%)
(ZF-NF: (ZF-NF REE
100%) 100%)
(note (v)) (note (v))
(H&W) (H&W)
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 - 100 Investment
holding
REHR
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 = 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale
of gold products
LRFR - MIR
EEEMHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

31. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

31. B AR (&)

(@) (continued) (@ (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
RRERLLA

Place of Issued and Group's Held Held

incorporation/ fully paid-up/ effective by the bya
operations registered capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal
Name of Company e/ BRIRMR/ A%E HALT H-HE activities
ARER Gy fEx ERER K8 ARRE IEXH

% % %

Luanchuan County The PRC RMB372,450,000 100 - 100 Mining and
Jinxing Mining Co,, Ltd. hE (2018: processing of gold
(note (i) RMB122,450,000) ores and sale

8| ZSRREBREAS ARH372,450,0007T of gold products
2] (M) (Z5-N&: and purchase and sale

AR 122,450,0007L) of metals and minerals
SBFR - MR

BEEMBER

RENHECEREE

Luanchuan County The PRC RIMB102,050,000 100 - 100 Mining and
Luanling Gold Mine hE AEE102,050,00070 processing of gold
(o, Ltd. (note (i) ores and sale

RIERELRERLA of gold products
(RiEEG) SBFR - MR

EEEMHE

Mojiang County Mining The PRC RMB102,050,000 100 = 100 Mining and
Co., Ltd. (note () hEl ABE102,050,00070 processing of gold

BIERFERAMLA ores and sale
(REEG) of gold products

SRFER - MR
REEME

Pu'er Hengyi Mining Co., Ltd ~ The PRC RMB734,379,379 100 = 100 Mining and
(note (i) el (2018 processing of gold

EEERRFARAL RMB102,050,000) ores and sale
2] () ANEHET734,3793197C of gold products

(ZB-N\F: SBRER - MIR
ARH102,050,0007c) BEQHE
EEEL25BERAA
TE-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

31. SUBSIDI
(a)

ARIES (continued)

(continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid-up/
operations registered capital

Name of Company e/ BRIRMRE/

ARER mEny ifhEx

Kai Yuan Financial Leasing The PRC RMB150,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co, Ltd. (note () P& AE150,000,0007T

SRREARE (R BRAT
(RiEEG)

Shenzhen Munsun Asset The PRC RMB17,857,140
Management Company HE ARE17,857,1407T
Limited (note (i)

MIMERAEERARAR
(RzE()

Zhuhai Munsun Asset The PRC RMB5,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. hE AR5,000,0007T
(note (i)

HEEREEERARLA
(KizE i)

Notes:

(i) These subsidiaries established in the PRC are wholly

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

foreign-owned enterprises.

These subsidiaries established in the PRC is limited
liability company.

The English names of all above PRC subsidiaries are
for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the reporting period.

As detailed in note 13(c)(ii), 9.99% equity interests
in Hongkong Bay Asset Management Limited and
Hongkong Bay Securities Limited were held by
non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2019.
The effects of the non-controlling interests’ share
of results and net assets of these subsidiaries are
insignificant and have not been accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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31. B AR (&)

(@ (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal
activities

IERH

Provision of financing
services

RHBARS

Asset management and
advisory service
EEER AR

Investment
holding
RERR

() MAPBEKZZAEE QR
BRIEEERE -

KPR B AR AE

REMERAT] -

A EZER BB AR 2 5

NARBEHRBAZA -

RBEHR - EHEQR]

BTIAERES -

FRERRLA
Group's Held Held
effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary
ALE HARE H-HE
BREL 2} ARRE
% % %
100 - 100
100 - 100
100 - 100

BHsT

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

BB EE13() (i PRt - =

2-hE+-A=t—8

oy

BEEEHRARRE
B A AR A 19.99% KA

RERIFEBAE SR A - FFiE
[P Fl AE R ZNGIES
ANFEENTETA I
BINFA P BIHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC
whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes at a rate ranging from 16% to 20% (2018:
13% to 20%) of the eligible employees’ salaries. The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with those schemes beyond the annual
contributions described above.

The total costs charged to consolidated statement of profit
or loss of HK$8,840,000 (2018: HK$8,918,000) represent
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year.

32.

8 TRIKEF

BIER B 2 B84 TG RRA -
7N 2 [ 22 B ph R B O b A5 B b 5 IR
T #8372 SE FEAR R AR R S 3kET
(M8 B XEEZEAM
FFEMERR - UG ERES
HFEZ16%E20% (—T— \F:
13%%E20%) 518 o 7T H#EA
BEMENKNEEREENRAKE -

AREBITVRER SR MEARE
EED - BRBERRBEGIRET
ZREBRIEHIEATERAE (58
BEEtEl]) - wEEE R —ER
BIUEFRAEE 2 EREFURIRG
gl - REBREEEE - BERER
BYAYEEIERIREERBE LA
Z5%tE 2K - ME AR EH
2 HHBUY A _EBR /30,0008 7T °
A8l BF RS R o

B b BEERSN - NEERE R
SRR BRI EIAR AL

RiZEBEBRaRANTRZELER
8,840,000 L (ZE—NF :
8,918,000/ T) EARKERFNFE
Me%EaT IR 2 3K

B
]
il
Ik
A A
i)
= @t

g ol

i =
5
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33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has one share option scheme (the “2014
Share Option Scheme”). The 2014 Share Option Scheme
was adopted by a resolution passed by the Company’s
shareholders on 30 May 2014. The 2014 Share Option
Scheme provides that the board of the directors of
the Company (the "Board”) may specify the eligible
participants to whom the options shall be granted.
The eligible participants include directors, employees,
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers of
the Company and its subsidiaries and any person who, in
the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution
to the Group. The Board shall determine the exercise price
of option in accordance with the terms of the 2014 Share
Option Scheme, which cannot in any event fall below
the price stipulated in the Listing Rules. The maximum
number of the ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% (i.e. 435,127,903 shares) of the ordinary shares
of the Company in issue as at the date when the 2014
Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted. The
existing scheme mandate limit in respect of the granting
of options to subscribe for shares under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme was refreshed and renewed at the an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 19
September 2016. The maximum number of the ordinary
shares of the Company upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% (ie. 1,385,769,378 shares) of the ordinary
shares of the Company in issue as at 19 September 2016
being the date of approval of the refreshment of the
existing scheme mandate limit. The 2014 Share Option
Scheme was effective on 4 June 2014 and will remain
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from that date.
During the year ended 31 December 2016, 1,385,769,378
options were granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)

/|

33. URESEEZROERRS

RARB—EBERETE([ZZ—
FRERERTE]) - —T—NFE
IRIEFEIR AR AR BBRZESR
N_ZE—MFERA=ZTHEM -
T-FERESEHRE - AR7A
Exg([E5g]) JECERER
B2EERBHE SEARSHE
PRARTRENBARIZES
BE - HEm  BF - HRERH -
RERERARESS2RNEE
EHAREBIEL K AIEER BRI
ERALT  URAEHAEE T
Bl BEEEBRE_T—NFER
BETEl 2 G REEEREZ1TE
B @ SR EER WA
FRETRZ BH% - RIE-ZT—UFHE
AR B R AR A BME (] E A AT B 1%
B P B B AR R T T T P] RE BT
ZARNBBRRNLBBEE AHLTE
BN T — U FERERT &
HERIRME BARRG B BITERR
2 10% (BN435,127,903 8 A% (7) °
BRRE - — N FERET 2R
2 AR LA RIE AR (D 2 B A T &
REFRER-_Z—XENLA TN
ARITZAQNFBRRFINAE L&
EETRER - BB -NFER
RERT 8| R ARQ RMEM H AL ET 8118 T
BREZFEBRERTER &
AEIEBR ZESHEEHETEHE
BRZZT—XNFENATNA (AR
BitgIRELRESEREFHZA
) AR AR EBITE @A 2 10% (BD
1,385,769,378x k) - —ET—M
FERESENR-_ZT—NEAMX
BAX - WhAZ A B+ FHME
TARER - BE_E—XFE+_A
=+—HLEFE BRE-_FT—NF
BIETEIE R H1,385,769,3781%
REARHE o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The exercise price of options under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme is at least the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the date on which an offer of an option is made by
the Company to the grantee (which date must be a
business day);

(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the 2014 Share
Option Scheme, the maximum number of ordinary shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

/|

33. UREEECROERRS

(a5
(%)

—E-MFRBEREREE TR
BETEENEER ARRER
) :

() ARAAARRAREBERES
B(BBARERA) BT
B#ERMRZARERD I
& :

iy ERREZEMAEZEXREE
B R RERAR AR
AR FHETIE : K

(i) ARBRHEE -

BME — T — I F BT EIE] B E
AIEMAER - =T — R
B LA R AR R L Atb BB AR A A1 2
B TR B R AR AT 2 B AR
—BETEMA BT ARG TR
REE &REZINTABAARRRT
REBITEBEREE30% -

bl
]
il
Ik
A A
&
= @t

g ol

7
5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 33. URBEEEZRDERRS
TRANSACTIONS (continued) €=))
2014 Share Option Scheme —E-NFEREE
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed (a) FABEFBRERD 2GR R
during the year are as follows, whereby all options RS - BRI - T B IEARE
are settled by physical delivery of shares: AR 2 BEMRWAER -
Number of shares

issuable under
options granted

RESRH
BIRETTF Vesting conditions Exercise period
BITROZBE BERG GRcd
‘000
TR
Options granted
on 12 October 2016
R-T—XRE
tA+=H
B zBRE
Directors& = 612,000 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
RE L EBRES R options granted
BRI ERE
REpRET =5
Employees{E 8 283,000 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
RE L EBRES R options granted
B RRE
AR =5
Consultants & ] 490,769 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
RE L EERES R options granted
Bt RRE
REpRET =5
1,385,769
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 33. UREZEEZRHERTS
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (%)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) —E-NFERETE (@)
(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) FERRIESE LNETFHITEE
share options are as follows: m
Number of
shares
issuable
under
Weighted options
average granted
exercise RECEH
price Exercise  BBRRAET
IR g price FERTRMA
TEE TEE Z¥E
HK$ HK$ ‘000
BT BT TR
Outstanding at R_ZE—-N\F—H—H
1 January 2018 W ARITIE 0.2486 0.2486 899,269
Exercised during the & & FFRTRER
year before Share 7708 (FIEE(O))
Consolidation (note (c)(i)) - - -
Lapsed during IR & FFRTR R
the year before
Share Consolidation 0.2486 0.2486 (106,500)
Effect of Share BinadE
Consolidation (753,131)
Outstanding after A& PHE R ARTTE
Share Consolidation 4.972 4.972 39,638
Lapsed during IRID & PHEREF AR
the year after
Share Consolidation 4.972 4.972 (17,538)
Effect of Rights Issue HRTE 796
Outstanding after AR TR & R ARTTE
completion of
Rights Issue 4.799 4.799 22,896

Lapsed during the year  HAZSERCE R G AKX
after completion of

Rights Issue 4.799 4.799 (8,340)
L EELEEERLT
—E-AEEHR .



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of

share options are as follows (continued):

Outstanding and
exercisable at
31 December 2018
and 1 January 2019
Lapsed during the year

Outstanding and
exercisable at
31 December 2019

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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RZZE—N\F+=A
=+—8BkK
—T-NF—HA—H
MARITE R AT

RE KRR

NZZE—NF
+—-A=+—8H
M ARITE R AT T

33. URESEEZROERRS

(8)
—T-MEBEEE (')
(b) FRARERE KAMETHITHEME

(&) -

Number of

shares

issuable

under

Weighted options

average granted

exercise RECEH

price Exercise  BBRRAET

hnrEFE price FRITR®HG

TEE TEE Z¥E

HK$ HK$ ‘000

BT BT i

4.799 4.799 14,556
4.799 4.799 (14,556)
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eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)

(@

)

(ii)

(iii)

No options were exercised to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2019. The options
were exercised to subscribe for 19 ordinary
shares of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2018.

The share options outstanding at 31 December
2018 had an exercise price of HK$4.799 and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of
0.78 years.

The exercisable period of the share options
under 2014 Share Option Scheme expired
during the year ended 31 December 2019. The
14,556,000 outstanding share options lapsed
accordingly.

The share option reserve amounted to
HK$30,348,000 (2018: 65,163,000) included in
capital reserve was transferred to accumulated
losses following the lapse of the share options
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of options granted is measured based on
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual
life of options is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model.

33. UREEECROERRS

(&)

—T-FBRETS ()

(b)

(0)

iy #HEZZ—NLF+=A
“+—HLEFE BE
BIREEITEUREAR
RNAIEBER -HEZT
—N\F+=ZA=+—H
IHFE - BRECET
FARBAQR 9L
AR o

iy RZE—NEF+=-A=
+—BERITEZBR
ENITHEERL.7998
JT - MmN F G E
LFHA0.784F o

(iiy —T—MHFERETE
T8 T HY BB IR e AT 17150 AP
BEREBEE-Z—-A%E
+_A=+—HLEFE
fEim ° 14,556,00017 4
RITE 2 BRES AL
KR o

vy REBEE-_ZT—hE+=
B=+—BLEEE -
FABARREBEESRER
30,348,000 7T (=& —
N\ : 65,163,000 7T )
MEEREREDNER
RERBUEEANRFTEE -

BRELFEMRR

DA PR A R R B 2 FAT 1S AR 75
ZRFETDZE R HERE
ZAFEME - RO ZBKR
B2 N FEMGR RN R —
SRATHIREEELE - BB
Ptz & KF TR REY
ZBHAZE - BN — FB
HEEERL S M ATREIR

FATE 2 BEARAE o
EEESEERRAT
—E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(0)

(d)

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(continued)

Fair value of share options granted on 12 October
2016 and assumptions are as follows:

Fair value at measurement  REtEHHZ
date (HK$) NFE (BT)
Share price (HK$) IZ1E GBT)
Exercise price (HK$) TRE (Br)
Expected volatility (%) TR E)(%)
Option life (expressed as HE MM HR (2 hn e
weight average life) (years) SFHFHI) (4)

Expected dividends yield (%) FBHAR% S 2 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (based @& FI= (3L HME
on Exchange Fund E2ER) (%)

Notes) (%)

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service
condition. The condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement
of the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share options granted.

The fair value of the share options granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme of HK$144,833,000
was fully recognised in equity-settled share-based
payment expenses and the capital reserve of the
Group in 2016.
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33. URELECRHPERRS
(48)

— - MERBEEE (8
(© BIERTERERR(E)

N=B—NET AT RER
R IR 2 2 (B B 2R A

T
Directors Employees Consultants
= == B
0.106 0.092 0.110
0.245 0.245 0.245
0.2486 0.2486 0.2486
72 72 72
3 3 3
0 0 0
0.62 0.62 0.62

TEEIREN TIAE LR B R
RIBAFRIEER 2 TBEIRE
RBEF LR - FBHK
BINERE SR B RIKE - T8
BAZBRBRRZEE AL R
FEZGEABREATE -

B PG 7 98 DR 5 0 o T 45
tH o L (AT 0 A S BT
BRI B R A TE -
15 L 3 4 B 257 5 1
i o

d RZF—RE RERE_F-—N
FREEEROBREZA
F{E144,833,0008 T2 B
R R ANEE LARESEE 2
DER S HERREARHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include pledged
deposits, deposits paid for gold mining rights and
exploration rights, investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI, deposits paid for fixed assets, client trust bank
balances, cash and bank balances, trade, loans and other
receivables, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings, financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, derivative financial instruments,
lease liabilities and convertible bonds. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks.
The Group is also exposed to price risk arising from any
unexpected changes in price of gold products. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
described below.

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
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AEEZETETRTABREDEA
75K - SRR R IREE AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T5!

| - B BAFHEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. tREREEREMIAZ
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NS =RE))

(continued)

(@) Credit risk (a) EEREPB

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade, loans and other receivables, pledged deposits,
client trust bank balances and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to the credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and loan receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. Credit terms are
granted to customers, depending on the credit
worthiness of individual customers. At 31 December
2019, there is certain concentration of credit risk as
1% (2018: 36%) of the total trade debtors was due
from the Group’s five largest customers. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.

In respect of other receivables, the credit quality of
the debtors is assessed by taking into account of
their financial position, relationship with the Group,
credit history and other factors. Management
regularly reviews the recoverability about these
receivables and follows up the amounts overdue,
if any. The directors are of the opinion that the
probability of default by counterparties is low.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by appropriate credit-rating agencies.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

REBZEERBI2REME
WBR AR~ B R N E A R R
R BEAER - BRERR
TTREBRA R RTT 45 6R - BIR/E
REREEERR - MxFiE
ER 2 AR HE

.
=

REBEERRERME @ %
FEERKBRETSREEER

BEPHEITEENE - STER
BEZEEME B ER
BRERHl - W ZE—NF+—-H
=+—H AEBEKAKRE
FRFGEBURRRBE 1%
(ZZ—)\F : 36%)  HEK
ZETEESHRR - RNEE
NIyt e S S R e I eawi

[}
aR °

SEMBYKIAMNS - @&
BN ZHBENNR - BAREE
ZBRE - FEESL MEMEAR
maHEEEEL R - EEER
HitR AT % R IR 2 A )
RERREARSHE (WA) -
EERREFHEN AL
fRIK °

mBELZEERRBAR
B RERHFHRAGEN
EEFMABER TRERENR
EERTT o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(@) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group'’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2019. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial
guarantee contracts.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
DFE (&)

(a) EERR®

R-ZF—NF+—_HA=+—H
ZERe R R F R IEE

TREIR-_F-NEFE+=-A
=t ARBRAKEEEBRR
(EEERBHER (FRIFEM
BRBAILE TV ERASLIE
HENRIERR)) D 2 EEER
KEREERR - A RFRE
BOfE - 2B AT RE
EZEmAEREREEZE
R

HE-_ZT—NF+-_A=+—
BIFEE

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fE5 2ERE
EHEERR EEFR
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Simplified approach
5-K8 #KR $=k8 {90
S 000 S 000 S 000 S 000 000
FAT FAT FAT 7AT FAT
Trade and loans eceiabls BUEERES 120081 = = 35,754 155,835
Financial asets included i tade, THENES - ERREMEYGE  BER
loans and other recevables BB cRER
deposits and prepayments
-Normal -I% 124178 - - - 124178
Pldged deposts EERET
- Not yet pastdue - HxEH 106,286 = = = 106,286
Client tustbank balances EPREESAER
- Not yet pastdue - keH 235 = = = 235
Cash and bank balances ReRRIES
- Notyet past e - R8s 63473 = = = 63473
0m3n - - 35,754 457127
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B I AR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. tREREEREMIAZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DFE (&)
(continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERPRE (%)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 RZF-NF+=—H=1+—H
December 2019 ZER e AR R FRIE R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-_ZT—-\F+=ZA=+—
HIEFE
12:month ECLs Lifetime ECL
12084 2478
BHEEES EEEE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Simplified approach
5k 5k 5-K8 Btnt
8000 8000 8000 8000 #5000
AT 74T 7T T T
Trade receivables e 119381 - - 107319 226,00
Finandal assetsincluded in trade, THENES - SREMEIGE  BER
loans and other recevables B eBEE
deposis and prepayments
~Normal -I% 80,537 - - - 80,537
Pledged depasis BERER
- Notyet past due -RR88 102519 = = = 102519
Clien rust bank balances RPRESIER
- Not yet past due - A 2947 = = = 2947
Cash and bank balances BeRgAES
- Notyet past e - ke 80971 = = - 80971
386,35 - = 107,319 493674
050 BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2019 (continued)

* The credit quality of the financial assets included
in trade, loans and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

(b) Liquidity risk

At 31 December 2019, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$2,527,020,000. To
manage liquidity risk, the Group regularly monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
directors are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements.

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
DFE (&)

(a)

(b)

ZER MR (&)

R-ZF—NF+—_HA=+—H
B R R FE ARG (1B)

* HEFATENTOR - BEK
RANAEMEEZ SBMEE
W EE I A Y EE BT S
BEEZEERR B MG
RBUARERZE LT - BIEAS
EEEWBERIER] -8
Al SMEBEEZFEEERW
B [AkE] o

A XEEHFRBAEFEE
#92,527,020,000/8 7T ° & T 2
FIRBE R - AEETEH
ERERNEGFZABDESS
R ABERASERZT TN
R BHERLRITR S BEE
BEERAAHZRERE - N
ENASEEEHERRBACR
EiGpe BN ERREEE S
ROTBHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. tREREEREMIAZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE @)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) nBEZRE (&)
The following table details the remaining contractual REERBERRZIETES
maturities at the end of the reporting period of BEBEERTESREBEZHRT
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and HESE RN =21
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on WARTH AR RBeRE (B
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including BIRAHNEFEZMNEX
interest payments computed using contractual rates - EEEER - BIARRS
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of BIRIBIT 2 I EFTE 2 F B
the reporting period). ) e
) 018
Z%-0fF N
Morethan  More than Morethan ~ More than
Total Within 1 year 2years Totd Within 1year Dyears
contractual 1 year but but contractual 1year but but
undiscounted oron  lessthan  less than undiscounted oron Jessthan Jess than
Carrying ~ cash outflow demand 2years 5 years Camying  cash outflow demand 2 years 5 years

amount  AHRAR -ERE SR-F SRR anont - FERREE FRE AR-F 0 SRR
BEE RénhiE BEX  BOHCE BORER BEE Réhbes EER BONCE BIRER
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 5000 00 HKS'000 HKS'000 S 000
FAT FET Fé7T Fé 7R FAT FAT FAT AT AT

Non-derivative financial liabilties 474 $BEE

Trade and other payables EHERRAMERE 010 0910 909,170 = - U 71458 71458 - -
Bank and other borrowings BIRARER 3241280 3418400 2120487 Wi 150739 3249191 3517235 2303677 306,281 01,277
Lease liabltes EEEL 173 8,178 4,480 275 4 = =3 - - -
Convertile bonds ThRER M3 355,578 B0 34 - 1% 34,711 34,711 = =

4430586 4691326 3062236 a7 151683 4293719 4576528 3362970 306,281 w121

i

;Iétﬁﬂﬁﬂ
Derivative financil instruments fESBIA 55,802 = = = = 6 = = = =

Derivative financial iabilities

= =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA L3R BB AFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. tREREEREMIAZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEEE)
(continued)
() Interest rate risk () FIZE[EPe

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate REBEZREMEN R R
risk in relation to variable-rate bank and other PR RRITREMERRIR
borrowings and bank balances and fair value interest TR ER - TR TFENER
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and other o B [E TE M RRIT REME
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through ;o EBBEREATETIRZ

profit or loss and pledged deposits. cRIBERDEAERERE -

() Interest rate profile () FIEEE
The following table details the interest TRFFIRBEHRAE
rate profile of the Group’s bank and other SERITRAMER

BEBBERIB A FETR
ZERMEENAE R
TReERDEREFERZ

borrowings, financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, bank balances and
pledged deposits at the end of the reporting

period: RGN
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates rates
BERIZR  HK$'000 EBEFE  HKS 000
% FET %  FET
Variable rate bank and FEMERRITR
other borrowings HipER 8-9 282,166 8-12 527,910
Fixed rate bank and Bl EF = ERIT R
other borrowings HA &0 4-24 2,959,123 5-24 2,721,281
Total borrowings BERuazE 3,241,289 3,249,191
Fixed rate borrowings EEFIEER
as a percentage of HEREE
total borrowings ZAnt 91% 84%
Variable rate bank balances JZENFIRRITHH 0.1-04 67,974 0.1-04 80,362
Fixed rate pledged deposits [ € F| & B #1753 0.1-3.8 106,286 0.1-3.8 102,519

EEE25EB8ER-LA
—E-NEER

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& T3]

A
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78 j/TTH))

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

All of the bank and other borrowings, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
pledged deposits of the Group which are fixed
rate instruments are insensitive to any change
in interest rates. A change in interest rate at the
end of the reporting period would not affect
profit or loss.

At 31 December 2019,
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis

it is estimated that

points in interest rates for variable rate bank
and other borrowings and bank balances,
with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group's loss before tax
and its accumulated losses by approximately
HK$2,142,000 (2018: HK$4,475,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not
change in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for variable
rate interest bearing financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management'’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the end of
the next annual reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2018.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(d) Price risk

()

Gold product price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
the market price fluctuations on gold products.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in gold products, the management
closely monitors gold product price exposure
and will consider to use derivative contracts
should the need arises.

Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations
in gold products and for which no hedge
accounting is applied are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(d) Price risk (continued)

(i1)

Equity Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk from equity instruments held by the
Group which are classified in the consolidated
statement of financial position as investments
in equity instruments at FVTOCI. Price risk is
the risk of changes in fair value of financial
instruments from fluctuations, whether such a
change in price is caused by factors specific to
the individual instrument or factors affecting
all instruments traded in the markets. The
Group did not enter into any equity securities
forward contracts to manage this price risk. The
Group mitigates this price risk by performing
detailed analysis of investments and dedicated
professionals are assigned to oversee and
monitor the performance of investments. The
management considers the Group’s equity price
risk is low as the Group has only investments
in equity instruments at FVTOCI in relation to
investment in an unlisted company in the PRC
of approximately HK$282,623,000 (2018:
HK$268,619,000) and investment in a private
equity fund of approximately HK$11,341,000
(2018: HK$11,547,000) at 31 December 2019
(note 16).

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(e) Currency risk

()

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from the following
significant assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.

The management may consider to use forward
foreign exchange contracts to manage its
foreign currency risk arising from above
anticipated transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. During the year, the Group did
not enter into any forward foreign exchange
contracts to manage its foreign currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. tREREEREMIAZ
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NS =RE))

(continued)

(e) Currency risk (continued) (e) E¥EEPE (%)
() Exposure to currency risk (continued) () SMNEREFRAFAE(E)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT-)\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHT FET
Assets/(liabilities) BETIEZ
denominated in USD BE,/(BfF)
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTM % 7 13
Pledged deposits EHEAFER — —

Bank and other borrowings {7 R EHMEZR — —

Total assets REE 7 13
Total liabilities Y= — o
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BT

The management considers that the pegged ERERR  ELHE
rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the T2 AEMEERECTE
United States dollar would not be materially HAETHETZBERE
affected by any changes in movement in value EERERTE -
of the United States dollar against the Hong I MERRGRES
Kong dollar. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis e ZOoME_E—)N
has been prepared. The analysis is performed F2R—HAEHETT o

on the same basis for 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

()

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs.

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
DFE (&)

() AVEHE

() ‘R FEIKNE/BE
ERAE
TREJAEERHE
HARREFEEEFE
Mo TANRQFE:
DRERBEAVBMESE
AIE 1358 [ A F(EFTE]
FT R E B = A F1ERE
€ - AT EFEREN
B B 2 E A ERM T
TR A2ENA
BRUELREEMETEN
T

- B-REEME:E
BE-—BEE&HA
(AEREEXE
EREBHER
BETI5 ) R AR B
HE)FENRF
(1=

— FBEEMHE: T
BEZBER A
(BlAkpeEs 5 —
B FE O P ER B 8 A
B &EFMAEAT
AEREA) T E
BAFE - NA[ B
Rg A A EHS
HIREHA ©

— ESRERE: A
REATABES
AFHEHATE -

i
50l
i
S
A
i)
= at

# ol

7
5

295



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(1) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value (continued)

Recurring fair value

measurements KENATETE
Assets/(Liabilities): BE /(B
Derivative financial instruments THEERTIA
Investments in equity instruments BREMEER
at FvTOC! BATHESIR
ZIRAT BRE

There were no transfers between instruments in
all levels during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

An independent valuation company with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications
is engaged to value the derivative financial
instruments at each financial reporting period.
Appropriate valuation methods and assumptions
with reference to market conditions existing at
each financial reporting period to determine the
fair value of the derivative financial instruments
are adopted. The basis for determining the fair
value is disclosed in notes 16, 20 and 25.
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Annual Report 2019

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY

ANEE )
() AFEEFEE)
() R FEINENBE

EREE(E)

2019 2018

—B-NF —TN\F

Level 2 Level 2

2R Wk

HKS$000 HK$'000

FET FET

(55,802) (216)

293,964 280,166
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(ir)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 except for
the convertible bonds. As at 31 December
2019, the fair value of the convertible bonds
amounted to approximately HK$326,277,000
(2018: HK$287,041,000) which is categorised
into Level 2 (2018: Level 1) fair value
measurements.

35. COMMITMENTS

(@ Asat 31 December 2019, the Group had contracted
but not provided for capital commitments in respect

of the acquisitions of gold mining and exploration
rights of HK$13,985,000 (2018: HK$14,239,000)
and fixed assets of HK$86,792,000 (2018:
HK$88,566,000). Investment in unlisted equity
investment funds of HK$43,644,000 (31 December
2018: HK$44,436,000).

34, TRIAMEENRESMIAEY
DFE (&)

(f) QFEFTEE®

(i)

35. &iE

B FEK R %
FEELKEES N-FlE
N [ R SH PR AN B1) BR
ZemIT A REER
HRZZ-NAFk=
T-NF+ZA=+
—BZzAFELERFE
BEAER - WABMRE
EBI e RZT—NE
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BEHFZRAFENB
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— J\4F : 287,041,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

35. COMMITMENTS (continued) 35. &IE (&)

(b) At 31 December 2018, the Group's total future by RZZTE—-—NF+ZA=+—
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable B - RNEBERBE AR 2 &
operating leases are payable as follows: EHETEREENZRIERE

RIEREEAEIAT -
2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$000
TFET
Within 1 year —FR 9,805
After 1 year but within 5 years —FLAEERFNUAA 23,566
33,371

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of

properties for an initial period of three to ten years.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@  During the year, the Group had the following related party
transactions:

U]

Munsun Assets Management Ltd (“Munsun Assets”)
and Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited (“Tai Ning”)
(collectively the “Joint Lenders”) jointly granted a loan
of HK$300 million (the “Joint Loan”) to the Group
in 2016. The Joint Loan was charged at an interest
rate of 9% per annum, unsecured and repayable in
January 2019. Tai Ning is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu
Liyang (Mr. Liu) who was appointed as the executive
director and the chairman of the Company on 13
October 2015 and 6 September 2017 respectively and
resigned as the chairman and the executive director on
5 September 2018 and 24 October 2018 respectively.
The Company'’s executive director Mr. Zhang Lirui (“Mr.
Zhang”) and an ex-executive director of the Company
Mr. Li Xianghong (“Mr. Li") (who was appointed as
the executive director of the Company on 10 July 2015
and the chairman and the chief executive director
on 7 August 2015 and resigned all above posts on
31 August 2017) holds approximately 18.3% and
31.6% respectively shareholding interest in Munsun
Assets. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company entered into a loan novation agreement and
a supplemental loan novation agreement (collectively
the “Loan Novation Agreements”) with the Joint
Lenders and incoming lenders (the “Incoming Lenders”).
Pursuant to the Loan Novation Agreements, the Joint
Loan together with accrued interest in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$325 million owed by the
Company to the Joint Lenders was novated to each
of the Incoming Lenders which included an amount
of HK$11,274,000 to Tai Ning (“Tai Ning Loan”), an
amount of HK$53,018,000 to Mr. Zhang (“Mr. Zhang
Loan") and an amount of HK$10,840,000 to Mr. Li (“Mr.
Li Loan”) and an aggregate amount of HK$250,069,000
to other independent Incoming Lenders (collectively, the
“Loans”). The Loans were charged at an interest rate
of 9% per annum, unsecured and repayable in January
2019 which were kept unchanged with these terms
of the Joint Loan. The Group recognised interest on
the Joint Loan of HK$nil (2018: 11,984,000), Tai Ning
Loan of HK$nil (2018: HK$274,000), Mr. Zhang Loan of
HK$nil (2018: HK$1,290,000) and Mr. Li Loan of HK$nil
(2018: HK$264,000) respectively in the consolidated
income statement during the year. On 21 June 2018,
the Company and certain underwriters, including
all Incoming Lenders, entered into the Underwriter
Agreements to set-off the subscription price payable
by the Incoming Lenders against the Loans. The Rights
Issue and the Set-off has completed on 27 September
2018 (further details are set out in note 28(b)(iv)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, Mr. Zhang Lirui (an executive
director of the Company) and Mr. Liu Liyang
(who was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 13 October 2015 and resigned
on 24 October 2018) and their spouses, Mr. Yi
Shuhao (chairman and an executive director of
the Company) and certain senior management
staff of the subsidiaries of the Group have
provided certain joint personal guarantees for
bank and other borrowings facilities granted
to the Group with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$294 million (2018: HK$869
million) (note 24(a)&(b)).

During the year, Mr. Zhang Lirui and Mr. Li
Xianghong (an ex-executive director of the
Company) have provided personal guarantee
for bank and other borrowings facilities granted
to the Group of HK$49 million (2018: HK$72
million) and HK$nil million (2018: HK$344
million), respectively.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

(&)

(ii)

(iii)

FER - 51 F 8 5T A (R
NEITES) REI NG
Sk (RZE—HE+A
T=REZARAQA
MITEETR TN
F+HAZTmBEREE) &
BENRS - ZHE%
E(RRAREFERIITE
F)RAEEWEBE QA
ZHETEEREREES
IHAEEER ZRIT
REMERBEBELD
24F/EB T (ZE—N
F:869EEBIT) Bt
AT ERE R AR (T E
24(a)&(b)) °

RER - RFIHEEER
FRIBEE (RARIANME
WITESR) DRI ASEE
BEZRITREMER
MEAIEBBL(ZF
—N\FE:72EEET)
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F 34488 ET) BH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(iv)

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into
an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) with certain underwriters for
the proposed rights issue of not less than
5,003,075,640 rights shares and not more
than 5,045,075,640 rights shares (the “Rights
Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$0.22
per rights share on the basis of 6 rights
shares for every 1 existing issued share of the
Company (the “Rights Issue”). The aggregate
subscription price for the Rights Issue will be
not less than approximately HK$1,101 million
and not more than approximately HK$1,110
million. Details of the Rights Issue are set out
in the Company’s announcements between 21
June 2018 and 26 September 2018 and the
Company’s circular dated 3 August 2018 and
the prospectus dated 4 September 2018.

Mr. Liu Liyang (“Mr. Liu”), the former executive
Director and the chairman of the Board,
through Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited
and his personal interest, was interested in
21,482,343 Shares (representing approximately
2.58% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 23 August 2018); Mr. Zhang
Lirui (“Mr. Zhang”), an executive Director, was
interested in 2,584,169 Shares (representing
approximately 0.31% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 23 August 2018).
Under the listing rules, Mr. Liu and Mr. Zhang
are the connected persons of the Company
and they are required to abstain in favour
of from voting on the resolution in relation
to the approval of the Rights Issue and the
Underwriting Agreement. The Rights Issue and
the Increase Authorised Share Capital have
been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the Company’s special general
meeting on 23 August 2018. The Rights Issue
transaction was completed on 26 September
2018.

36. BEALTRS (&)

(@ (&)

(iv)

RZE—N\FANA=+
—B - AQRHEETE
SEERT L BERE (T8
HinEl) LEZEERE
BEIRARGEAED
BT EE e AR
B ([HERRG]) 2
EEZRABESRHERK
A7 0.22 78 T AR 1T
T4 15,003,075,640
A% A% A% 9 B 1 &8 i1
5,045,075,640 M A% i%
7 ([H#ER%]) - ik Z 48
REEFTDRE1,101
BEBTHTBBEY
1,1M0BE&EET - k2
HIBHENARR B A
—E-NFARAZ+—
A2 N\FhLA=
F+RBZAERAKRRAT
B A-—Z—N\EN\A
“BZBEAKRBEA
“E-NFALAEBZ
EREEA

BhEshE (T84
E]) o BIRITESRE
E2EF - BBRER
BEERAR AR &EE
AREZR AN 21,482,343 0%
[ G OR NN A
E—-N\ENAZ-+=H
BEITIAR 2 2.58%)
WAL R EE
(IR%&EE]D) » BEITE
= 722,584,169 % IZ (%
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FNAZ+=BE %17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTAIIR » Br BB FTIESN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. BEALTRS (&)

(@) (continued) (a) (#8)

(v) In addition to the transactions detailed above, v) B EFFIHRZSI
the Group had the following transactions and AEBREBE-_ZT—H
balances with related parties during the year FRZZFE-NF+=AH
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: —t+—HIEFEAZEHAE

M EETUTIRS
NEREE -
Related parties transactions: RS -
2019 2018
“E-NF —ZT)\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FET FHET
1. Liu Shiwei Interest expenses (1) 555 271
ML of providing
financial assistance
MM EER 2 FE
g8
2. Grace Silver Limited Interest expenses (1) 231 221
nBBRAF of providing
financial assistance
RHEMBER 2 FE
A
3. Shenzhen Fang Di Hua Revenue from financing (2) = 2,794
Technology Service and advisory services
Co., Ltd. * EEREFARBEUA
IRYIE HhEERF R AR TS
BRAT]
4. Easyhome Interest expenses (3) 8,286 2,275
Financial Holding of providing
Co., Ltd. * financial assistance
BAZREE RETBEER 2 FE
ERER AT g8
5. Shenzhen Rui Ying Interest expenses (4) 4 =
Equity Investment of providing
Fund Management financial assistance
Co., Ltd.* RMHMBER 2 FE
REBBREREEE ER
ERERAA
6. Koo Yuen Kim Interest expenses (5) 6,288 -
Dk of providing
financial assistance
REMBEB < FE
A
7. Shenzhen Rui Interest expenses (6) 12,130 -
An Jian Investment of providing
Fund Partnership financial assistance

(Limited Company)* IR ISER 2 FIE
RITEREREES EA
BB (BERAR)

966 BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019



36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(v)

(continued)

Liu Shiwei

]

Grace Silver Limited

InBARAR

Easyhome Financial

Holding
Co., Ltd.*
BAZRZ®
ERBR AR
Shenzhen Rui
Ying Equity
Investment Fund
Management
Co., Ltd.*

RAIEBBREREES

ERARATA
Koo Yuen Kim

HEE

Shenzhen Rui An

Jian Investment Fund

Partnership

(Limited Company)*

AIMELREE
BEeBBEx
(BR8]

The English name is for identification purpose

only.

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Other Borrowing
HAth &5
Interest Payable
FERTAE
Other Borrowing
HAh &%
Interest Payable
FERTALE
Other Borrowing
HitnEmR
Interest Payable

FETFILE

Other Borrowing
HEtER

Interest Payable

BRFLE

Other Borrowing
HAih &K
Interest Payable
JERTAE
Other Borrowing
HAth &5
Interest Payable

EFE

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

Notes

Pt

(%)
v) (&)

R 77 (L OREATE -

2019 2018
“EBE-AFE —ZT)\F
HKS$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
10,190 14,000
229 3,565

— 3,927

— 1,553
82,116 83,606
10,388 2,216
280 —

4 190
100,000 —
7,804 1,516
94,281 —
18,611 —

* ENEABEHRBRZ
&5

bl
]
il
Ik
A A
&
= @t

g ol

267

7
5



268

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v) (cont

Notes:

(M

BAY AREA GOLD GROU
Annual Report 2019

nued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, Mr. Liu
Shiwei (“Mr. Liu SW") holds 365,477,181
Shares by virtue of his personal interest.
Ms. Guan Yuyan, being Mr. Liu's spouse,
has interest of 1,305,038,799 Shares in the
Company via her wholly-owned controlled
corporation namely Grace Silver Limited.
Accordingly, Mr. Liu is also taken to be
interested in 1,305,038,799 Shares via his
spouse. Accordingly, as at 31 December
2019 and 2018, Mr. Liu SW is deemed to
be interested in approximately 28.14% and
28.62%, respectively of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Mr. Liu SW and Grace Silver Limited were
among the underwriters of the Rights Issue
(as defined in note 28(b) (iv)) of the Company
completed on 26 September 2018. Upon
the completion of Rights Issue, Mr. Liu SW
and Grace Silver Limited became substantial
shareholders of the Company.

P LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

(&)

(v)

(#8)

B

()

ﬁﬂ:

RZE—NEFERZ
T-N\NF+=ZA=

+—8  WETE%
E(TRE]) E
HEBEAREDFA
365,477,181 &’
B BEMLLT A
e BB BBE
TERBZZIEEE
mBERATRAR
7]1,305,038,799 /%
ROFPHEEEZ -
E it - 05k A T8
RAEBAEREBR
1,305,038,799 % &
hHHEEER - B
I RZE—NF R
- N\F+ZA=
T+T—BUEERED
RIEEE A RE B BT
fEARZ4928.14% &
28.62% °

M EMIHEERA
AE—Z—N\FNA
ZHAREARRFTEK
AR (F & R
28(b) (iv)) F A RIER
Bz — o TEHER
TR - WA KRR
BAERATKABARA
AIEERE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(v)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(M

(continued)

On 1 March 2018, Mr. Liu SW granted loans
of HK$80 million to the Group. On 24 May
2018, Grace Silver Limited granted loans
of HK$329 million to the Group. The loan
from Mr. Liu SW (“Mr. Liu SW Loans"”) was
charged at interest rate of 7.5% per annum.
The loans from Grace Silver Limited (“Grace
Silver Loans”) were charged at interest rates
12% and 15% per annum. These loans were
unsecured and have repayment terms ranged
from 3 months to 1 year.

Part of the Mr. Liu SW Loans of HK$40 million
and part of the Grace Silver Loans of HK$287
million were set off with the subscription
price payable by Mr. Liu SW and Grace Silver
Limited in Rights Issue (Further details of the
Rights Issue are set out in note 28(b) (iv) to the
consolidated financial statements) respectively
in September 2018. Further details of the
Set-off are set out in note 28(b) (iv) to the
consolidated financial statements.

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

(&)

(v)

BEEESEEARARA

(#8)

BT

()

()

(%)

RZE—NF=ZHA—
H - MkERAER
BEsoEBAETLY
B NZT—N\F
AR-+MHE  HBA
ERDRAAEERF
1329 BEEBLZE
Koo MEEMED
ZER ([MEEE
) BRFEAGF
7.5% c WBERA
AIPTEEZER ([
BER]) BRANER
BFE12%M15% ° &
B B R N8
FERAIMAEIF -

EZZE—N\FALAW
EEN—HPERK
RN —I 5 EX
PR GE— T
RARA ISR M
28(b) (iv)) Al B
SERIGRBRA A
2 e R E K 8540
BEBITAM287TEE
PETT o HIHE— P EF
BEHARGE P HHRE
Ff3E28(b) (iv) ©

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(M

@)

(continued)

Besides, on 7 December 2018, 19 December
2018, 24 September 2019 and 30 September
2019, Mr. Liu SW granted loans, of HK$13
million in aggregate to the Group. The loans,
were charged at an interest rate of 7.5% per
annum, unsecured and has a repayment term
of 1 year.

Settlements to Mr. Liu SW in HK$13 million
and HK$30 million and Grace Silver Limited in
HK$4 million and HK$38 million were made
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 respectively.

The above loans are fully exempted connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Shenzhen Fang Di Hua Technology Service
Co., Ltd. is wholly and beneficially owned by
Grace Silver Limited up to 13 December 2018.
The revenue from financing and advisory
services was charged pursuant to the terms
in the agreement signed between the Group
and Shenzhen Fang Di Hua Technology Service
Co., Ltd. on 1 August 2018.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2019

36. BEALTRG (&)

@ (&)

v) (&)

BRE - (&)

()

@)

(%)

B RZE—)\F
+=-—AtR  —ZT—
NE+=—A+AhA -
—E-NFhAZF
MERZZE—NFN
A=+8  #kEm
REBEELEGE13
BEBTCER %
EERNEREF
7.5% @ \EHLE
REB1E -

HE-_ZT—NFE=
T N\F+-_A=+
—HILFE  #ik4E
ERERImBAGER
REDREE13EE
BT R30EEB TN
k4B BEAETLKISEH
-y I

RiE ETRAE+ T
AR LRERARE
HERRBABZS -

HBAERAFTR-E
—N\F+=-A+=H
AT E RERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(v)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(€)

Easyhome Financial Holding Co., Ltd and China
Home Hong Kong Limited are wholly-owned
by Beijing Easyhome Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd. China Home Hong Kong
Limited directly holds 643,061,087 Shares of
the issued share capital of the Company as 31
December 2019 and 2018. Beijing Easyhome
Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. is deemed
to hold 643,061,087 Shares, representing
10.83% and 11.02% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.

China Home Hong Kong Limited became a
substantial shareholder of the Company in
September 2018.

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

(&)

(v)

BEEESEEARARA

(#8)

BT

(€)

()

ERAZREmER
ERAFRER (&
) BRAFIHILER
BAZREEERE
EBRAREEHE
B -NR_ZE—NFK
—E-N\F+=ZA=
+—R  EF(FEH)
ERAFEERAEAR
AAEIBEEITRAEAZ
643,061,087 %A% -
IEREBEARAZRIEEE
fREEBR QTR
A5 643,061,087 1%
& - RZZT—h4F
k=ZZT—-—NF+=A
=+—H  EEXRQF
BEITIRA 2 10.83%
F11.02% °

2E(F8)ERA
AE=E—\FAA
RAEARNEER
H o

I

—E-LEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)
Notes: (continued)
(3)  (continued)

On 15 June 2018, Easyhome Financial Holding
Co., Ltd granted a loan of HK$ 228 million
to the Group. The loan was charged at an
interest rate of 10% per annum, unsecured
and has a repayment term of 1 year or payable
on demand. A settlement of HK$144 million
was made during the year ended 31 December
2018 (no settlements made in year ended 31
December 2019).

The above loan is a fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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SERE—%2288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(v)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

Shenzhen Rui Ying Equity Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd. is wholly and
beneficially owned by Grace Sliver Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company since
September 2018.

On 13 March 2018, Shenzhen Rui Ying
Equity Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. granted a loan of HK$11 million to the
Group. The loan was charged at an interest
rate of 15% per annum, unsecured and has
a repayment term of 2 months. The loan
was fully settled during the year ended 31
December 2018 before Grace Silver Limited
become a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

On 28 November 2019, Shenzhen Rui Ying
Equity Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. granted a loan of HK$0.3 million to the
Group. The loan was charged at an interest
rate of 15% per annum, unsecured and has a
repayment term of 3 months.

The above loan is a fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

36. BEALTRG (&)

(a)

(&)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(5)

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim holds 595,258,945
Shares by virtue of his personal interest and
16,086,782 Shares through his wholly owned
corporation Golden Eagle (Asia) Investment
Limited. Mr. Koo Yuen Kim is deemed to be
interested in 10.30% and 10.47% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim was one of underwriters of
the Rights Issue of the Company completed
on 26 September 2018. Upon the completion
of Rights Issue, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim became a
substantial shareholder of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(v)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©)

(continued)

On 14 March 2018, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim
granted a loan of HK$50 million to the Group.
The loan was charged at an interest rate
of 7.5% per annum, unsecured and has a
repayment term of 7 months.

On 14 June 2018, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim as one
of incoming lenders (as defined in note 36(a)
(i) with the Company and the Joint Lenders (as
defined in note 36(a) (i)) entered into a loan
novation agreement and a supplemental loan
novation agreement (collectively the “Loan
Novation Agreements”). Pursuant to the Loan
Novation Agreements, the Joint Loan together
with accrued interest in an aggregate amount
of approximately HK$325 million owed by the
Company to the Joint Lenders was novated to
each of the Incoming Lenders which included
an amount of HK$71,780,000 to Mr. Koo
Yuen Kim. Further details of the Loan Novation
Agreements are set out in note 36(a) (i) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br B HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©)

6)

(continued)

The above principal amounts owned to
Mr. Koo Yuen Kim was fully set off by the
subscription price payable by Mr. Koo Yuen
Kim in the Rights Issue (note 28(b)(iv)).

On 1 March 2019, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim granted
loans of HK$100 million to the Group. The
loan was charged at an interest rate of 7.5%
per annum, unsecured and has a repayment
term of 1 year.

The above loan is a fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Shenzhen Rui An Jian Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership) is 50%
indirectly owned by Grace Sliver Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

On 22 February 2019, Shenzhen Rui An
Jian Investment Fund Partnership (Limited
Partnership) was novated a loan of HK$94
million in Principal, together with accrued
interest. The loan was charged at an interest
rate of 15% per annum, unsecured and has a
repayment term of approximately 1 year.

The above loan is a fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in notes 9 and 10 is as follows:

RHEEER
i

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The method, estimates and judgements the directors
use in applying the Group's accounting policies have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
operating results. Some of the accounting policies require
the Group apply estimates and judgements on matters
that are inherently uncertain. In addition to note 33 which
contains information about the assumptions and the risk
factors relating to fair value of share options granted,
certain critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group'’s accounting policies are described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T5!

| - B BAFHEIN)

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Mining rights and mining structures

Mining rights and mining structures are amortised
or depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the
mines, in accordance with the production plans of
the mines concerned, by using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proven and probable reserves
of the ore mines. Proven reserves refer to the
economically mineable part of measured resources.
Probable reserves include economically mineable part
of indicated resources. The process of estimating
guantities of reserves is inherently uncertain and
complex. It requires significant judgements and
decisions based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions
impacting mineral prices and costs change. Reserve
estimates are based on current production forecasts,
prices and economic conditions. The directors exercise
their judgement in estimating the total proven and
probable reserves of the ore mines.

Renewal of mining rights

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group will be able to renew the mining rights with
the relevant authorities in the PRC continuously at
insignificant cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9

(d)

Depreciation and amortisation

Fixed assets, other than mining structures, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account
their estimated residual values. The Group reviews
annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Interests in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the leased assets and the lease term.
Both the period and methods of amortisation are
reviewed annually. The depreciation and amortisation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value at the end of the reporting period.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate
the net realisable value for inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform
an inventory review at each year end date and assess
the need for write down of inventories.
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37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Impairments

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for the Group’s intangible assets, fixed
assets, deposits paid for gold mining and exploration
rights and fixed assets, recoverable amounts of
the assets need to be determined. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs
of disposal and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate fair value less costs of disposal
because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to items such
as level of sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount
that is reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and projections of
items such as sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. Had different parameters and
discount rates been used to determine the fair
value of the intangible assets, the Group’s results of
operations and financial position could be materially
different.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Impairments (continued)

()

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2019 was HK$7,225,000 (2018:
HK$281,118,000). Further details are given in note
13(0).

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are
assessed and provided based on the directors’
regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation
of collectibility. A considerable level of judgement
is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment
losses would affect the net profit of the Group in
future years.

Loss allowance for trade receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of reporting
period. Where the estimation is different from the
previous estimate, such difference will affect the
carrying amounts of trade receivables and thus the
impairment loss in the period in which such estimate
is changed. The Group keeps assessing the expected
credit loss of trade receivables during their expected
lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T5!

| - B BAFHEIN)

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9)

(h)

Fair value of derivative financial
instruments and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

The fair value of derivative financial instruments
and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income that are not traded in
active markets are determined by using valuation
techniques. Where valuation techniques are used
to determine fair values, they are periodically
reviewed. To the extent practical, models use only
observable data, however areas such as credit risk,
volatilities and correlations require management
to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the fair values of derivative
financial instruments and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Determining income tax provision involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The directors carefully evaluate tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax credits can be utilised, the directors’
judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. The directors’ assessment
is constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax
assets are recognised if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTIIR @ Br S HFTIEIN)

37. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(i)

()

(k)

Functional currency of the Company

The Company is carrying out its operating activities
and making management decisions in Hong Kong,
that is, raising finance in Hong Kong dollars and has
a significant degree of autonomy from its subsidiaries
in the PRC in the way its business is managed. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, its
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.

Environmental contingencies

During the year and up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not involved in any significant environmental
remediation at this initial stage of gold mining
activities and has complied with the existing
environmental legislation requirements. The PRC
government, however, may move further towards
more rigorous enforcement of applicable laws and
the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Under existing environmental legislation,
management believes that there are no probable
liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position or operating results of the
Group for the current reporting period.

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine

The Group is required to determine whether waste
removal costs (“stripping costs”) incurred during
the production phase of a property of a surface
mine provide improved access to a component of
an ore body that will be mined in a future period,
and whether the costs can be reliably measured.
The Group has to apply judgment when identifying
components of the mine over which stripping costs
are capitalised, estimate the average stripping ratio
for each component, and use judgment determining
the period over which the stripping activity assets is
amortised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR + B BB FTIESN)

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had the following significant events occurred
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up
to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements:

(@ The Group has been granted new bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$11 million.

(b) InJanuary 2020, the Group and a third party entered
into an agreement under which the third party has
agreed to acquire 100% equity interests in certain
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Hongkong
Bay Asset Management Limited and Hongkong Bay
Securities Limited for the aggregate consideration
amounting to a maximum of HK$23.1 million.
Completion of the disposal of these subsidiaries has
not been taken up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. Details of the
transactions are set out in the Company’s published
announcement dated 23 January 2020.

() Due to the transportation control implemented
and the restrictions in resuming work as a result
of the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, the
production and operation activities of the Group
have been affected since that time. The Group
will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the
financial position and operating results of the Group
based on future control measures implemented by
governments and the future economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&7T317R -

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

The major non-cash transaction is other borrowing
set off by the aggregate subscription price payable
by the relevant underwriters with an amount of
approximately HK$761 million.

(b)

from financing activities

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing cash flows
Net proceeds from new bank
and other borrowings

Repayment of bank and
other borrowings

Repayment of financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss

Decrease in pledged deposits
Payment for the 2018
Convertible Bonds Restructure
Net proceeds from issue of
new shares under share placing
and Rights Issue
Finance costs paid
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Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising
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Financial
liabilities
at fair value
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other  Convertible ~ #BBEH Accrued  financing
borrowings Bonds  BATE interest  activities**

BITR AR il fEft Eft Total
EER Ex  REf ME BERP ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
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3,645,041 385,460 988,444 53,540 (612,155) 4,460,330

2,234.903 - - = - 2,234,903
(1,756,388) o - o - (1,756,388)
- - (962,295) - = (962,295)

i - - = 491,441 491,441

- (83,421) i 3 = (83,421)

- - > £ 482,188 482,188

: (15,984) - (443,186) (61,238) (520,408)
478,515 (99,405) (962,295) (443,186) 912,391 (113,980)

EBEE R 2 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME o

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising

30. MEBREFERMET &)

(b) REMEETH2EE

from financing activities (continued) (BE) 28 (5
Financia
liabilities
at fair value
through
profit or loss
Bank and Other
other  Convertible R CEto Accrued financing
borrowings Bonds  KATE interest ~ activities**
FITR Rk v fEft Eth Total
AR B  eRAER ME  BEEE* CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAT TET TET TET TET
Effect of foreign exchange Ex2H 72
rate changes (131,219) - (24,962) (4,100) 18,195 (142,086)
Interest expenses B H 17,531 26,988 - 481,612 - 526,131
Other borrowings set off by the RARHEE
aggregate subscription price R EREER
payable by the relevant Ef eI
underwriters (760,677) - - - = (760,677)
Loss on the 2018 Convertible “E-\F#
Bonds Restructure REFELER - 54,757 - = - 54,757
Fair value gain on derivative fTEeRIA
financial instruments AP B = (37,638) = = - (37,638)
Fair value gain on financial liabilities ~ #EBERRATE
atfair value through profitor loss SRz & REE
AP B - = (1,187) i a (1,187)
At 31 December 2018 RIZ-N\F
+-A=+-H 3,249,191 330,162 - 87,866 318,431 3,985,650
* Representing amortisation of financing transaction costs. * RERBMEZSHRAZEE -
skosk

**  Other financing activities are financing assets arising from

financing activities, including cash flows and non-cash

changes in pledged deposits, Rights Issue and finance cost,

which is for illustration purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA LFIR * B BB FTHEIN)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. MERERERMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising (b) REMETB2ERE
from financing activities (continued) (BE) 28 (5
Bank and Other
other  Convertible Accrued financing
borrowings Bonds Lease interest  activities**
BTk AR liabilities fEf Eft Total

HER % HERE Mg BEEG At
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TET TET TET TET TEL TAT

At 31 December 2018 RIZ-N\F
+-A=+-H 3,249,191 330,162 - 87,866 318,431 3,985,650
Impacts of adopting HKFRS 16 RNEBHBREER
F6%FE - - 25,007 - - 25,007
At 1 January 2019 RIZ-NE
-A-A 3,249,191 330,162 25,007 87,866 318,431 4,010,657
Changes from financing HERENERY
cash flows
Net proceeds from new bank MERITRAM
and other borrowings ERZAETE
et 438,851 - - - - 438,851
Repayment of bank and BERTR
other borrowings At EH (447,243) — — - - (7283
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEAEARE = = (8,526) = - (8,526)
Increase in pledged deposits EEAETEM - - = = (5,645) (5,645)
Payment for the 2021 T F#
Convertible Bonds EEE AR
Restructure - (2,077) - - - (2,077)
Finance costs paid RAREIL 1% (48,765 (32,361) - (113,950) - (195,076)

(57,157) (34,438) (8,526)  (113,950) (5,645 (219,716)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA THIIR * B BB FTHEIN)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. MERERERMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising (b) XEMETEFHZ2EE
from financing activities (continued) (BE) 28 (5
Bank and Other
other  Convertible Lease Accrued financing
borrowings Bonds liabilities interest  activities**
HITR AR e Fef Efth Total

sER B BB e BERDT 4%
HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET  FET AT AT AT AR

Effect of foreign exchange ExgEH s 2
rate changes (43,772) - - (2,639) 1878 (44,533)
Interest expenses FEXH 93,027* 32,468 1,502 230,381 - 357,378
Conversion of Convertible bonds &2k E% - (11,169) - - - (11,169)
Termination of lease liabilities RIHEEERE - - (20,027) - - (20,027)
Recognition of lease liabilities AHEERE - - 9,780 - - 9,780
Loss on the 2021 Convertible e S
Bonds Restructure hEFEAER - 78,648 - - - 78,648
Fair value gain on derivative TEeRIA
financial instruments INEETE - (67,478) - - - (67,478)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
+-A=+-H 3,241,289 328,193 7,736 201,658 314664 4,093,540
* Representing amortisation of financing transaction costs. o REBMEZSGRAZEE -
#*  QOther financing activities are financing assets arising from o H BB ESHRERRERBMEED
financing activities, including cash flows and non-cash ZEE  BREEERER - H#KR
changes in pledged deposits, Rights Issue and finance cost, RMBRAZBe RIFRE 2
which is for illustration purpose only. &) HIRAR2E 2R -
088 BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2019



FIVE YEARS SUMMARY
hERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A TSR )

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-RE ZEE  ZEtf B \f ZE-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET TAT FET TA%

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BeE 12777902 13493195 13591807 12,683,081 12,156,016
Total liabilities BEE (7012,1200  (6252,106)  (6381927)  (4958253)  (5,124,732)
Net assets EETE 5,765,782 7,241,089 7,209,880 772488 1,031,284

Equity attributable to NGTE 2PN
the owners of the Company EfEER 5,765,782 7,241,089 7,209,880 7,724,828 7,031,284
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
21 ZE-RX —T-t5 -\ ZB-hE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET T FEx

RESULTS &

Revenue W 746,605 766,654 838,305 813,901 1,040,044
Loss before taxation BRERER (117,589) (407,139) (371,678) (456,005) (655,426)
Income tax (expense)/credit FeH (Bx)/#4 (20,071) (12,012) (18,512) (10,330) 24,094
Loss for the year rEEER (137,660) (419,151) (390,190) (466,335) (631,332)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QNAER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Y| Shuhao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
CHEN Sheng (Vice-Chairman)
ZHANG Lirui (Vice-Chairman)
YU Yong (resigned as Executive Director and

Deputy Chief Executive Officer on 20 January 2020)
WANG Baozhi
HUANG Zhiwei

(appointed on 20 January 2020)

Non-Executive Director

HSU Jing-Sheng (appointed on 2 July 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

WU Tai Cheung (resigned on 1 March 2019)
XIAO Rong Ge

ZHANG Tianyu

WONG Chi Yan (appointed on 1 March 2019)

COMPANY SECRETARY
LEUNG Lai Seung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

YI Shuhao
LEUNG Lai Seung

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Y| Shuhao (Chairman)
CHEN Sheng

ZHANG Lirui

WANG Baozhi
HUANG Zhiwei
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

WU Tai Cheung (resigned as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee on 1 March 2019)

XIAO Rong Ge

ZHANG Tianyu

WONG Chi Yan (Chairman) (appointed as the Chairman of the

Audit Committee on 1 March 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ZHANG Tianyu (Chairman)

WU Tai Cheung (resigned on 1 March 2019)
YI Shuhao

WONG Chi Yan (appointed on 1 March 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Y| Shuhao (Chairman)

WU Tai Cheung (resigned on 1 March 2019)
ZHANG Tianyu

WONG Chi Yan (appointed on 1 March 2019)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Y| Shuhao (Chairman)
WANG Baozhi

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Units 5&6, 17/F,

Convention Plaza Office Tower,
1 Harbour Road,

Wan Chai,

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QNAER

AUDITORS

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04

33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road,

North Point, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong:
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

In the PRC:
Ping An Bank
Bank of Communications

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

http:/cpm.etnet.com.hk

BAY AREA GOLD GROUP LIMITED
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